
  
 
 

James Ellis 
 Head of Legal and Democratic Services  

 

 
This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper 

 
 

 
 
 
 
MEETING : HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
VENUE : COUNCIL CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD 
DATE : WEDNESDAY 5 JUNE 2024 
TIME : 7.00 PM 
 

PLEASE NOTE TIME AND VENUE 
 
This meeting will be live streamed on the Council’s Youtube page: 
https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict  
 
MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
Councillor Rachel Carter (Chairman) 
Councillors M Butcher, M Connolly, T Deffley, D Hollebon, M Swainston 
and D Willcocks 
 
Substitutes 
 

(Note:  Substitution arrangements must be notified by the absent Member 
to Democratic Services 24 hours before the meeting) 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: MEETING CONTACT 
MICHELE AVES 

michele.aves@eastherts.gov.uk 
01279 502177 

 
 

 

Conservative Group: Councillor R Buckmaster   
Green Group: 
Labour Group: 

Councillors J Dunlop and G Hill 
Councillor D Jacobs   

Liberal Democrat Group:  
Councillor S Marlow  

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict
mailto:michele.aves@eastherts.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

 



 

 

 
 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, sub-
committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the Authority, with a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to be considered or 
being considered at a meeting:

• must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting;
• must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting;
• must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered or 

not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism Act 
2011; 

• if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending 
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 
28 days;

• must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes place.

Public Attendance

East Herts Council welcomes public attendance at its meetings and 
meetings will continue to be live streamed and
webcasted. For further information, please email
democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk or call the Council on 01279
655261 and ask to speak to Democratic Services. 

The Council operates a paperless policy in respect of agendas at 
committee meetings and the Council will no longer be providing spare 
copies of Agendas for the Public at Committee Meetings.  The mod.gov 
app is available to download for free from app stores for electronic 
devices. You can use the mod.gov app to access, annotate and keep all 
committee paperwork on your mobile device.
Visit https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/35542/Political-
Structure for details.



 

 

 
 

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees 
using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you think are suitable, which may 
include social media of any kind, such as tweeting, blogging or Facebook.  
However, oral reporting or commentary is prohibited.  If you have any 
questions about this please contact Democratic Services (members of the 
press should contact the Press Office).  Please note that the Chairman of 
the meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of 
reasons, including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of the 
business being conducted.  Anyone filming a meeting should focus only on 
those actively participating and be sensitive to the rights of minors, 
vulnerable adults and those members of the public who have not 
consented to being filmed.  



 

 

AGENDA 
  
1. Appointment of the Vice-Chair for 2024/25  
  
2. Apologies  

 
 To receive apologies for absence. 

  
3. Minutes - 6 February 2024 (Pages 7 - 13) 

 
 To receive the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2024. 

  
4. Chair's Announcements  
  
5. Declarations of Interest  

 
 To receive any Member’s Declaration of Interest. 

  
6. Health and Safety Annual Report 2023/24 (Pages 14 - 25) 
  
7. Employee Health and Wellbeing report 2023/24 (Pages 26 - 40) 
  
8. Annual Turnover Report 23 - 24 (Pages 41 - 53) 
  
9. Learning and Development Report 23 -24 (Pages 54 - 62) 
  
10. Human Resources Quarter Four Statistics 2023/24 (Pages 63 - 79) 
  
11. Flexible Working Policy Report (Pages 80 - 97) 
  
12. General Leave Policy Report (Pages 98 - 123) 
  
13. Family Friendly Policy Report (Pages 124 - 156) 
  
14. Redundancy Policy Report (Pages 157 - 178) 
  
15. Volunteering Policy Report (Pages 179 - 190) 
  



 

 

16. Urgent Business  
 

 To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration and is not 
likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information. 
 

 



HR  HR 
 
 

 

  MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE HELD 
IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD ON TUESDAY 6 
FEBRUARY 2024, AT 7.00 PM 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor Rachel Carter (Chairman) 
  Councillors M Swainston and J Dunlop 
   
   
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
  Peter Dickinson - Health and Safety 

Officer 
  Katie Mogan - Democratic 

Services Manager 
  Elly Starling - Interim Head of 

Human Resources 
and Organisational 
Development 

  Steven Linnett - Head of Strategic 
Finance and 
Property 

 
  
316   APOLOGIES  

 
 

 Apologies were received from Councillors Connolly, 
Deffley, Hollebon and Willcocks.  
 
Councillor Dunlop was substituting for Councillor 
Connolly. 
 

 

 
317   MINUTES - 13 SEPTEMBER 2023  

 
 

 It was moved by Councillor Swainston and seconded by 
Councillor Carter that the minutes of the meetings of the 
Human Resources Committee held on 13 September 
2023 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman. After being put to the meeting and a vote 
taken, the motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



HR  HR 
 
 

 

RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meetings of 
the Human Resources Committee held on 13 
September 2023 be confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman. 

  
318   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 

 There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 
 
319   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
 

 The Chairman welcomed all to the meeting and reminded 
Members and Officers to use their microphones so they 
could be heard on the webcast. 
 

 

 
320   HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR Q3  

 
 

 The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development introduced the Human Resources 
Management Report for Quarter 3 which had a different 
format from previous reports after discussions with the 
Chairman. She referred to the sickness paragraph and 
said the council did not have a big problem with sickness 
and the team dealt with sickness quickly and seriously. 
She said that the Occupational Health service was utilised 
appropriately, and the Employee Assistance Programme 
was offered to staff to help them return to work.  
 
Councillor Dunlop referred to the sickness figures for 
musculoskeletal issues and said he felt that they were 
higher than the national average. He asked if the increase 
in working from home had meant that people did not have 
the appropriate workstations at home that could be 
contributing to these health conditions. 
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development said that the Health and Safety Officer had 
done a lot of work providing support to staff working from 
home with guidance on how to set up their home working 
station. She said that now the council were offering 
blended working, staff were clear on what was and was 
not a good working environment. She said that a survey 

 

Page 8



HR  HR 
 
 

 

would be taking place later in the year to determine what 
further support staff required.  
 
The Head of Strategic Finance and Property said that an 
audit of all the chairs in the office had been carried out 
and 50% of the office chairs had been condemned and 
replacement chairs had been ordered.  
 
Councillor Swainston referred to the pie chart in the report 
and said she did not find that display useful and 
wondered if the information could be presented as a bar 
chart.  
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development said that she would be happy to amend that 
for future reports.  
 
Councillor Carter referred to the workplace injury in the 
report and asked about the health and safety procedures 
that were followed.  
 
The Health and Safety Officer said that a member of staff 
was involved in a road traffic collision in one of the 
council’s electric pool cars. He said that this was being 
managed by the council’s insurance, but the council were 
providing the officer with Occupational Health support and 
was on light duties on the advice of their GP and 
Occupational Health. He said that the incident had been 
fully documented and recorded.  
 
Councillor Dunlop referred to the challenge in recruiting 
planning staff and asked what the net effect of employing 
agency staff against the savings on vacancies.  
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development said the team were taking a proactive 
approach to reduce the reliance on agency staff.  
 
The Head of Strategic Finance and Property said the net 
cost of employing agency staff was £400k and had 
contributed to the overspend on budget. He said that the 
planning department had been successful at securing a 

Page 9



HR  HR 
 
 

 

grant from the government to assist with Urban Design. 
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development said that East Herts was no different to any 
other authority and the HR team were focussing on 
promoting the benefits of working for East Herts. She said 
there had been a market forces supplement exercise 
undertaken and looked at the wages of other posts in the 
region and the planning vacancies now had its own 
landing page on the website. The Head of Human 
Resources and Organisational Development also said the 
team were working hard at trying to encourage the good 
agency staff to work permanently for East Herts. 
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development referred to staff turnover and said the data 
in the report was real time information and would change 
continuously. She said turnover was currently 15.6% 
which was higher than last year but said this was due to 
the council’s transformation programme and fixed term 
contracts coming to an end. She also said the council had 
an aging workforce which meant more staff were retiring.  
 
Councillor Carter asked for more information about the 
impact of the transformation programme on turnover.  
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development said that the surveyor team had been 
removed and had been reconfigured, so the roles were 
not needed moving forward. She said that the team 
helped support colleagues to find jobs in other authorities 
or sectors should they be at risk of redundancy.  
 
Councillor Swainston asked if exit interviews were 
conducted.  
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development said they were conducted but they were 
voluntary. She said that approximately 100 out of 300 
staff were over 55 years old so the team were working on 
increasing the capacity of the workforce and growing our 
own managers for the future. She added that they were 

Page 10



HR  HR 
 
 

 

working with the LEP to get some student placements to 
engage them to be part of the future workforce.  
 
Councillor Carter said it was important to bring in young 
people and asked about apprenticeships.  
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development said that many apprenticeships were 
coming to an end as during the pandemic, no offers were 
given as the council could not provide the experience 
needed. She said any future offers for an apprenticeship 
would have to come at a cost of another role.  
 
Councillor Carter asked if the council’s contractors 
provided apprenticeships.  
 
The Head of Strategic Finance and Property referred to 
the retendering of the waste contract and said that 10% of 
the contract was linked to social value, specifically 
employing local people and apprentices. He said that 
throughout the competitive dialogue, the bidders were 
responding to that social value element.  
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development spoke about plans for the quarter, including 
a full review of the end-to-end recruitment process to 
make some parts quicker.  
 
The Health and Safety Officer ran through the health and 
safety updates and spoke about his work with the 
council’s contractors to ensure the right procedures were 
in place.  
 
Councillor Carter said it was important to keep a positive 
relationship with the council’s contractors to ensure that 
health and safety was adhered too. 
 
Councillor Swainston asked if the council had oversight of 
Everyone Active.  
 
The Health and Safety Officer said he attended regular 
meetings with the Contract Manager and Everyone Active 

Page 11



HR  HR 
 
 

 

staff. He also received data from their centres to ensure 
there were no abnormal trends that needed to be 
addressed.  
 
Councillor Dunlop asked if the council were responsible 
for the health and safety of Members.  
 
The Health and Safety Officer said it was a question often 
asked nationally. He said Members were not employees, 
but the council had a duty of care to provide advice and 
guidance.  
 
The Head of Strategic Finance and Property said that 
Members could be provided with lone worker devices if 
they were concerned about their safety when working in 
their wards.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Dunlop and seconded by 
Councillor Swainston that the recommendation, as 
detailed be approved. After being put to the meeting and 
a vote taken, the motion was declared CARRIED. 
  

RESOLVED - To consider the Human Resources 
Management report for Quarter 3 (October - 
December 2023) and provide any comments to the 
HR Officer/Head of HR and OD regarding the 
content or formatting of the report. 

  
321   GENDER PAY GAP REPORT 2023  

 
 

 The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development presented the Gender Pay Gap report. The 
report did not highlight any concerns regarding the 
council’s gender pay gap.  She ran through the actions 
contained in the report and explained how they would be 
addressed.  
 
Councillor Carter asked about the aging workforce and if 
the recruitment of younger people would affect the gender 
pay gap.  
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational 

 

Page 12



HR  HR 
 
 

 

Development said that one of the ambitions was to recruit 
to that younger age category and was why the council 
were engaging with local schools and colleges, but she 
didn’t think it would be an issue moving forward.  
 
Councillor Carter informed the committee that they would 
be receiving the equalities report later in the year.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Swainston and seconded by 
Councillor Dunlop that the recommendation, as detailed 
be approved. After being put to the meeting and a vote 
taken, the motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED - To consider the Gender Pay Gap 
report and provide any comments to the HR 
Officer/Head of HR and OD. 

  
322   URGENT BUSINESS  

 
 

 There was no urgent business. 
 

 

 
The meeting closed at 8.20 pm 
 
 
Chairman ............................................................ 
 
Date  ............................................................ 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

 

 1

East Herts Council Report  
Human Resources Committee  
Date of Meeting:  
Report by: Head of HR and Organisational Development 
Report title: Annual Health and Safety Report 2023/24  
April 2023 to March 2024 
Ward(s) affected:  N/A 

       

Summary 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee:   

(a) To consider the Annual Health and Safety Report 
2023/24 and provide any comments/amendments to 
the Service Manager of HR & OD and the Health and 
Safety Officer.  

 
1.0 Proposal(s) 
 

Members are invited to consider the Annual Health and Safety 
Report 2023/24 (April 2023 to March 2024).  Section 3.0 provides 
an executive summary of the report.   

 
2.0  Background  
   

The Health and Safety Officer provides a Health and Safety report 
to the Leadership Team and then HR Committee after each quarter 
and provides an annual report after year end.    This report will 
also be provided to the Safety Committee after it has been 
considered by the Leadership Team, who review the report before 
it is submitted to the HR Committee.  

 
 
 

3.0  Executive Summary (for the year) April 2023 – March 2024 
 
3.1 Non-Reportable and Reportable Accidents 

 
Accidents involving employees and members of the public on 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 2

council premises. 
 
There have been no serious non reportable accidents for the year 
2023 / 24 involving employees.  These are accidents that are not 
reportable to the Health and Safety Executive under the Reporting 
of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 
2013. 
 
There have been no accidents reportable to the Health and Safety 
Executive under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrence Regulations. 
 
There have been two accidents reported via the Insurance and 
Risk Officer in regard to members of the public. 
       

3.2 Contract compliance and monitoring  
 
Following advice and guidance from Protector, the Councils 
Insurer, Safety Committee have supported a recommendation  to 
undertake a root and branch review of contract management, 
inspection regimes and compliance monitoring for: 

• Outsourced contract management 
o Shared Waste Services 
o Leisure Management 
o Grounds Maintenance 

 

• Capital Projects 
o Large scale developments that may impact on the 

public domain e.g., land redevelopment projects. 
o New build or refurbishment projects 

 

The review would look at the following areas: 
 

• Ensuring background checks are undertaken before 
appointing contractors. 

• Inspection and compliance regimes. 
 

The Chair of Safety Committee and the Health and Safety Officer 
will be developing inspection regimes using online digital tools 
available on MS Forms on the Councils software platform. 
 

3.3 Capital Projects 
 

Page 15



 

 

 3

The Health and Safety Officer can report that there have 
been no recorded on-site accidents or incidents for this 
period in regard to the development of Hertford Theatre. 
 

3.4 Premises and Sites 
 
There have been no serious accidents requiring further 
investigation to report at the Councils Office premises, 
Wallfields, Navigation House, Buntingford Deport, Hillcrest 
and Rectory Hall Homeless Hostels.  Inspections are 
currently undertaken with the Property Team and Unison. 
 
There have been reports of increased levels of anti-social 
behaviour, vandalism, and graffiti at Northgate End, Multi 
Storey Car Park. 
 
Local Police are monitoring the area and measures have 
been taken by the Corporate Property Services Manager to 
stop vehicles racing with the installation of additional speed 
control measures. 
 
The Health and Safety Officer can report that there have been two 
off site accidents involving members of the public, requiring further 
investigation.  Details of both accidents have been submitted to 
the Councils Insurance and Risk Officer. 
 

3.5 Parks, Open Spaces and Play Areas. 
 

There have been no reported incidents or accidents in 
respect to the parks, open spaces and play areas. 

 
3.6 Display Screen Equipment  

 
The Health and Safety Officer would like to report that 
utilising tools available on Microsoft Forms, the Display 
Screen Equipment and Workstation self-assessment 
questionnaire has been updated and redesigned to reflect 
the blended working arrangements, this has allowed us the 
opportunity to provide further guidance and advice to staff 
on musculoskeletal care, good work practice and effective 
use of equipment.  A form is being developed for use by 
home workers. 

Page 16



 

 

 4

 
The new form is currently being tested by HR Colleagues  
and control group identified to trial the new form in order to 
identify and rectify any errors before being rolled out across 
the services. 
 

4.0 Safety Committee 
 

4.1 Safety Committee met on Tuesday 07 February 2024. These 
minutes will be shared with the HR Committee. The issue of safety 
on the top level has been raised in regard to Northgate End MSCP 
(Multi-Storey Car Park) The Committee have noted these concerns 
which have been referred to the Interim Heads of Operations for 
consideration and any further action. 
 

4.2 Contract Managers and Contract Project Managers are invited to 
attend Safety Committee to provide feedback on the main and 
capital projects.  

 
 

5.0 Work and Non-Work-Related Accident Statistics 
 
For the purposes of the report: 
I.P refers to Injured Person 
Non-Reportable Accidents do not need to be reported under 
RIDDOR 2013 and may include minor cuts, contact injuries etc. 
 
It was agreed at HR Committee that accident totals in regard to 
the sites managed by Sport and Leisure Management (SLM) are 
no longer to be included in the report on the basis that this is a 
report on the operational safety management of East Herts 
Council, for the purposes of this report these figures have been 
removed. 

 
5.1 Quarter 4 (January 2024 to March 2024) 
 

5.1.1 There were no reportable accidents under the Reporting of 
Incidents Diseases and Dangerous Occurrence Regulations 
(RIDDOR) for the Q4 period January 2024 to March 2024. 

 

Page 17



 

 

 5

5.1.2 One non-reportable work-related accidents was recorded 
for the period 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024; the low 
trend is due to staff working from home or away from the 
office and due to the low risk working environment and 
good practice. 

 
Q4 table of accident totals 

Parks, Open Spaces, 
Members of the 
Public 

January 2024 February 2024 March 2024 TOTAL 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 
 

EHC Employees January 2024 February 2024 March 2024 TOTAL 
TOTAL 0 1 0 1 

 
 

COMBINED TOTAL 0 1 0 1 
Q3 table for comparison 
 
Q3 Non-Reportable Accidents – Oct, Nov, Dec 2023 

Parks, Open Spaces, 
Members of the 
Public 

October 
2023 

November 
2023 

December 
2023 

TOTAL 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 
 

Q3 Non-Reportable Accidents – Oct, Nov, Dec 2023 

EHC Employees October 
2023 

November 
2023 

December 
2023 

TOTAL 

TOTAL 0 1 1 2 
 

COMBINED TOTAL 0 1 1 2 
 
5.2 Annual Accident Statistics (2022-2023 and 2023-2024) 

EHC Employees 
 

5.2.1 There were no reportable accidents under the Reporting of 
Incidents Diseases and Dangerous Occurrence Regulations 
(RIDDOR) for either annual period. 

 
5.2.2  The following table shows the total number of accidents for 

the annual periods 2022 / 2023 and 2023 / 2024.  
Factors that explain the fluctuations in figures include: 

 

Page 18



 

 

 6

• Closure and redevelopment of Hertford Theatre (accidents 
are in employee category or members of the public category 
when they are recorded). 

 
 2022/23 2023/24 
Parks, Open Spaces, 
Members of the Public / 
Contractors 

 
0 
 

 
0 

TOTAL 0 0 
 

 2022/23 2023/24 
EHC Employees 1 2 
TOTAL 1 2 

 

COMBINED ANNUAL 
TOTAL 

1 2 

 

5.2.3  An analysis of the accident numbers and types have not 
shown any abnormal trends or patterns over the course of 
the two years.   

 
6.0 Annual Contract Management and Compliance  
 

6.1 In order to fulfil its duty of care, all contracts are overseen by a 
contract manager who is responsible for ensuring the contract is 
being delivered safely and the contractor has the appropriate safety 
procedures in place.  The Health and Safety Officer works with the 
service contract managers to improve the information reporting 
processes and to ensure pertinent information is being 
monitored/reported and relevant action is being taken (when 
required) to Safety Committee, Leadership Team and Human 
Resources Committee.   

 
The following updates should be noted: 

 
6.2 Buntingford Service Centre 

 
6.2.1 The Property Team installed speed control humps and 

digital speed deterrent signs in the depot yard to enhance 

Page 19



 

 

 7

vehicle and pedestrian safety.  The Health and Safety 
Officer, Property Services Manager and Surveyor met with 
Urbaser to discuss the issues of the surface lining and 
Urbaser agreed that the enhancements would be more 
beneficial. 

 
The Health and Safety Officer can report that there has 
been a significant improvement to the site housekeeping 
and a number of repairs have been undertaken and 
completed or are scheduled including. 
 

• Replacement heating in the vehicle workshop 
• Refurbishment of external WC’s 
• New barrier installed at the front car park. 
• Installation of a new defibrillator with user training 

 
6.2.2   The Health and Safety Officer can report that the 

Buntingford User Group Meeting took place on Wednesday 
28th February 2024.  There have been no on-site incidents 
or accidents to report. 

 
6.2.3 The Health and Safety Officer and the Health and Safety 

Officer, North Herts Council have completed stage two 
evaluation and scoring of the Health and Safety Method 
Statements submitted by the bidders on the provision of 
the shared waste services and street cleansing contract.  
The Health and Safety Officer will be participating in the 
final moderation with the shared waste service contract 
moderation team and external consultant. 

 
 

7.0 Capital Projects (annual update) 
 
7.1 The Health and Safety Officer has supported the recommendations 

for the closure of the top deck of Northgate End at night due to 
lighting restrictions in the Planning Consent. 

 
7.2 The Health and Safety Officer and Property Services Manager are 

supporting the team at Hertford Theatre in preparation for the 
practical completion of phase one of the project.  Both have assisted 
in the provision of first aid and emergency evacuation arrangements, 

Page 20



 

 

 8

fire risk assessments and fire safety management plans.  In addition, 
Property Services are assisting with security arrangements once the 
main contractor has left the site.  

 
8.0 Parking Enforcement Contract (annual update) 

 
For the purposes of the report the Councils Parking Contract 
Provision is delivered by APCOA - APCOA's name originates from the 
former US parent company and is an abbreviation for Airport Parking 
Corporation of America.  The abbreviation MSCP refers to Mult-Storey 
Car Park. 

 
8.1 The Health and Safety Officer receives monthly site inspections from 

the Service Development Manager and Parking Contract Manager on 
the overall performance of the Parking Enforcement contract (with 
APCOA).  The Health and Safety Officer must report that an accident 
occurred in one of the Councils open air car parks which has been 
reported to and being processed by the Councils Insurance and Risk 
Officer in conjunction with the Councils insurer.   

 
9.0 Parks and Open Spaces Management Contract (annual update) 
 
9.1 There have been no incidents or accidents reported for this period 

and no incidents involving the Councils Grounds Maintenance 
Contractor, Glendale.    

 
10.0  Lone Worker Contract Annual Update 
 
 10.1 Devices and training have been issued to employees designated as 

lone workers and each team has a dedicated portal management 
administrator who can access and manage team details. 

 
10.7  The Health and Safety Officer has overall contract management for 

East Herts Councils service. 
 

11.0 Contract and Development Support for Leisure   
Development Projects / Capital Programmes 

 
11.1  The Health and Safety Officer continues to liaise with the Leisure 

and Parks Development Officer (Leisure) on the progress of the 
improvement programmes. 

Page 21



 

 

 9

 
11.2  The Health and Safety Officer can advise the committee that there 

have been no on-site accidents or matters of safety concern in 
relation to the Theatre development. 

 
12.0 Transformation Programme  

 
12.1  The Health and Safety Officer is now working as part of the 

transformation team to deliver the planned management and 
delivery of the transformation programme. 

 
12.2 The Health and Safety Officer ensured that an Equalities Impact   

Assessment was undertaken prior to commencement.  An Equalities 
Impact Assessment (EIA) is an evidence-based tool, which enables 
us to consider the likely impact of work on different groups of 
people. Completion of equality impact assessments is a legal 
requirement under race, disability and gender equality legislation 
and must be undertaken for any changes in the working 
environment, organisational policies, services to ensure we do not 
adversely discriminate against any person under the protected 
characteristics and promote equality of opportunity. 

 
12.3 The Health and Safety Officer is working with the Corporate 

Property Services Manager to ensure new workstations comply with 
Regulation 10 of the Workplace, (Health Safety and Welfare) 
Regulations 1992 that states the following with regards to room 
dimensions and space requirements: 

Every room where persons work shall have sufficient floor area, 
height, and unoccupied space for purposes of health, safety, and 
welfare. 

The associated Approved Code of Practice and Guidance goes on to 
state: 

Workrooms should have enough free space to allow people to get 
to and from workstations and to move within the room, with ease. 
The number of people who may work in any particular room at any 
one time will depend not only on the size of the room, but on the 
space taken up by furniture, fittings, equipment, and on the layout 
of the room. Workrooms, except those where people only work for 
short periods, should be of sufficient height (from floor to ceiling) 

Page 22



 

 

 10

over most of the room to enable safe access to workstations. In 
older buildings with obstructions such as low beams the obstruction 
should be clearly marked. 

The total volume of the room, when empty, divided by the number 
of people normally working in it should be at least 11 cubic metres. 
In making this calculation a room or part of a room which is more 
than 3.0m high should be counted as 3.0m high. The figure of 11 
cubic metres per person is a minimum and may be insufficient if, for 
example, much of the room is taken up by furniture etc. 

12.4  Staff will be issued with Display Screen Equipment self-assessment 
questionnaires once relocated to the ground floor. Further work will 
be undertaken in 24/25 as the transformation programme develops. 

 
13.0  Learning and Development – Partnership training and  

 future events 
 
13.1  The Health and Safety Officer has arranged first aid training for the 

new team at Hertford theatre. 
 
13.2 The Theatre team will also receive training on the safe use of 

evacuation chairs.  The Health and Safety Officer will be arranging 
train the trainer sessions for Wallfields. 

 
13.4  The Health and Safety Officer worked with colleagues on securing 

training for officers with enforcement accreditation, this was 
formerly managed by Hertfordshire Police, but they have devolved 
this function. 

 
13.5 The Health and Safety Officer will be discussing training and 

development options with the Service Manager, Human Resources 
and Organisational Development in conjunction with UNISON. 

 
14.0 Options 
 
N/A 
 

Page 23



 

 

 11

15.0  Risks 
 

As stated in the report where health and safety risks have been 
identified appropriate assessment has been made with relevant controls 
or mitigation put in place.  
 
16.0  Implications/Consultations 
 
Community Safety 
 
As covered by the report the measures or controls put in place will 
impact positively on community safety e.g. re parks and open spaces or 
reception re-opening to the public. 
Data Protection 
No 
Equalities 
No patterns or links in the data that accidents are related to any 
protected characteristics.  In terms of developments reasonable 
adjustments are made to support disabilities and ensure disabled access. 
Environmental Sustainability 
No 
Financial 
No 
Health and Safety 
Yes – as described in the report. 
Human Resources 
Yes – Health and Safety is part of the HR & OD Service 
Human Rights 
No 
Legal 
Yes - Health and Safety practice, reporting and monitoring is in place to 
comply with legal requirements and the report has been reviewed by LT 
which includes the Head of Legal and Democratic Services. 
Specific Wards 
No 

Page 24



 

 

 12

17.0 Background papers, appendices, and other relevant 
material 
N/A 

Contact Officer  Alex Wanless – Service Manager HR and OD 
 Contact Tel No – Ext 2230 
Alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk 

 
Report Author  Peter Dickinson – Health and Safety Officer 
    Peter.dickinson@eastherts.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 25

mailto:Alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.dickinson@eastherts.gov.uk


East Herts Council Report  

 
Human Resources Committee  

Date of Meeting:   5 June 2024 
Report by: Head of HR and Organisational Development 
Report title: Employee Health and Wellbeing report 2023/24 
 
Ward(s) affected:  N/A 

       

Summary 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee:   

(a) To consider the annual Employee Health and 
Wellbeing Report 2023/24 including the actions (in 
section 8.0) planned for 2024/25 and provide any 
comments to the HR and OD Service Manager. 

 
1.0  Proposal(s) 

1.1 HR Committee Members are invited to consider the 
Employee Health and Wellbeing Report 2023/24.  
 

2.0  Background    

2.1 Employee absence can be costly for an organisation and 
therefore it is important that the council accurately 
measures and monitors absence.  
 

3.0 Introduction 
3.1 The Employee Health and Wellbeing Report 2023/24 

considers sickness absence levels across the council and 
compares them with previous years and benchmarking 
data.  It also considers what the council can do to support 
employee health and wellbeing. 
 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



3.2 The council measures sickness absence in two ways:  the 
number of full time equivalent (FTE) days absence per FTE 
employee and the percentage time lost due to absence.   

 
3.3 The number of FTE days absence per FTE employee is 

calculated by dividing the number of FTE days sickness 
absence by the total number of FTE employees in the 
council. 

 
3.4 Percentage time lost due to absence is calculated by 

dividing the total number of FTE days sickness absence by 
the total number of available working days. 

 
3.5 This report breaks down absences into short and long 

term.  
 
3.6 Comparisons have been made with local government 

averages which are taken from the LG Inform 
Benchmarking Metrics report 2021/22 (the latest report 
available at the time of writing this report). The Chartered 
Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) ‘Health and 
Wellbeing at Work Survey April 2023’ has also been used 
to make comparisons with other organisations. 

 
4.0 Sickness Absence Levels 

 
4.1 ALL Absences 

 
4.1.1 In 2023/24, the number of sickness absence FTE days per 

FTE employee was 6.9 days which is above the council’s 
target of 6 days but lower than in 2022/23 (7.5 days).  It is 
however lower than the local government average (9.6 
days).  Please see Figure 1 below. 

 
Figure 1 – Sickness absence FTE days per FTE (ALL 

absences) 
 

Page 27



 
The council’s absence target was reduced from 6.5 days to 6 days in April 2019. The local 
authority average is the mean of all English local authorities taken from the ‘LG Inform 
Benchmarking Metrics report’. The 2021/22 report is the latest report available at the time of 
writing so this data was used for 21/22, 22/23 and 23/24. Due to COVID no data was 
recorded in 19/20 and 20/21 so we have carried over the 18/19 data for these years. 

 
4.1.2 The total number of days taken as sickness absence in 

2023/24 was 1956.71 FTE days. 48% (938.64 FTE days) of 
these were due to short term absence and 52% (1018.07 
FTE days) were due to long term absence. The total 
percentage time lost in 2023/24 due to all absences was 
2.861%.  This is lower than the local government average 
(4.2%).  

  
4.2 Short Term absence 

 
4.2.1 Absences of less than four weeks are considered to be short 

term sickness absence. 
 
4.2.2 In 2023/24, the number of short term sickness absence FTE 

days per FTE employee was 3.5 days which is below the 
council’s target of 4 days and is lower than in 2022/23 (4.7 
days).  It is the same as the local government average (3.5 
days in 2021/22).  Please see Figure 2 below. 

 
Figure 2 – Short Term Sickness absence FTE days per FTE 

 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Sickness Absence Days per FTE 5.0 4.0 6.15 7.50 6.9
EHC TARGET 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Local Authority Average 9.1 9.1 9.6 9.6 9.6

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

N
um

be
r o

f s
ic

kn
es

s F
TE

 d
ay

s p
er

 F
TE

Page 28



 
The council’s short term absence target was reduced from 4.5 days to 4 days in April 2019. 
The local authority average is the mean of all English local authorities taken from the ‘LG 
Inform Benchmarking Metrics report’. The 2021/22 report is the latest report available at the 
time of writing so this data was used for 21/22, 22/23 and 23/24. Due to COVID no data was 
recorded in 19/20 and 20/21 so we have carried over the 18/19 data for these years. 

 
4.2.3 The percentage of time lost due to short term sickness in 

2023/24 was 1.37% which is lower than the local 
government average (1.7% in 2021/22). 

 
4.2.4 Figure 3 below shows the causes of short term absence in 

2023/24. 
 
Figure 3 – Causes of Short Term absence in 2023/24 
 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Short Term Sickness Absence 
Days per FTE 3.1 2.0 3.79 4.70 3.31

EHC TARGET 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Local Authority Average 3.6 3.6 3.5 3.5 3.5

0
0.5

1
1.5

2
2.5

3
3.5

4
4.5

5

N
um

be
r o

f s
ic

kn
es

s F
TE

 d
ay

s p
er

 F
TE

Page 29



 
 

 
KEY: 
• Minor illnesses (e.g., colds/flu, stomach upsets, headaches and migraines minor 

operations) 
• Musculoskeletal injuries (e.g., neck strains and repetitive strain injury, but excluding back 

pain) 
• Recurring medical conditions (e.g., asthma, angina and allergies) 
• Mental ill health (e.g., clinical depression and anxiety) 
• Acute medical conditions (e.g., stroke, heart attack and cancer) 
 
4.2.5 The most common cause of short term absence in 2023/24 

was minor illnesses, such as colds/flu, headaches/migraines, 
stomach upsets, and minor operations, accounting for 54.1% 
(140 employees) of all short term absences. According to the 
Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) 
‘Health and Wellbeing at Work Survey April 2023’ 94% of 
organisations responding to their survey reported that minor 
illnesses were in their top three causes of short term 
absence. 

 
4.2.6 The second most common cause of short term absence was 

acute medical conditions (e.g., stroke, heart attack and 
cancer) which accounted for 8.8% of all short term absences 
(11 employees).   

 
4.2.7 Stress was the third most common cause of short term 

absence accounting for 8% of all short term absences (8 

Acute
 8.8%

Mental Health
 7.6%

Minor
 54.1%

Musculoskeletal
 2.9%

Reoccuring
 4.7%

Stress
 8.0%

Pregnancy
 1.6%

Back
 1.4%

Covid-19
 7.1%

Injury
 3.3%

Work injury
 0.4%

Page 30



employees). The CIPD Survey reported that 26% of 
organisations said that stress was in their top three causes of 
short term absence.       

4.3 Long Term Absence 
 

4.3.1 Absences in excess of 4 weeks/28 consecutive calendar days 
are considered to be long term sickness absence. 

 
4.3.2 In 2023/24, the number of long term sickness absence FTE 

days per FTE employee was 3.58 days which is above the 
council’s target of 2 days and an increase on 2022/23 (2.8 
days).  It does however remain lower than the local 
government average (5.3 days in 2021/22).  Please see 
Figure 4 below. 

 
Figure 4 – Long Term Sickness absence FTE days per FTE  
 

 
The local authority average is the mean of all English local authorities taken from the ‘LG 
Inform Benchmarking Metrics report’. The 2021/22 report is the latest report available at the 
time of writing so this data was used for 21/22, 22/23 and 23/24. Due to COVID no data was 
recorded in 19/20 and 20/21 so we have carried over the 18/19 data for these years. 
 
4.3.3  The percentage of time lost due to long term sickness in 

2023/24 was 1.49% which is lower than the local 
government average (2.5% in 2021/22). 

 
4.3.4 Although there were actually less employees off long term 

sick in 2023/24 (29 compared to 51 in 2022/23) there were 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Long Term Sickness Absence 
Days per FTE 1.9 2.0 2.36 2.80 3.58

EHC TARGET 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Local Authority Average 5.6 5.6 5.3 5.3 5.3

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

N
o.

 o
f s

ic
kn

es
s F

TE
 d

ay
s p

er
 F

TE

Page 31



more off for acute reasons such as cancer which 
understandably led to lengthy sickness absences. 

 
4.3.5 It is also worth noting that 51.5% of employees at the 

council are in the 50-64 and serious illnesses tend to become 
more frequent in later life.  

 
4.3.4 Figure 5 below shows the causes of long term absence in 

2023/24. 
 
Figure 5 – Causes of Long Term absence in 2023/24 

 

 
KEY: 
• Minor illnesses (e.g., colds/flu, stomach upsets, headaches and migraines minor 

operations) 
• Musculoskeletal injuries (e.g., neck strains and repetitive strain injury, but excluding back 

pain) 
• Recurring medical conditions (e.g., asthma, angina and allergies) 
• Mental ill health (e.g., clinical depression and anxiety) 
• Acute medical conditions (e.g., stroke, heart attack and cancer) 

 
4.3.5 The most common cause of long term absence was for most 

common cause of long term absence was for acute reasons 
(e.g. stroke, heart attack and cancer), which accounted for 
40.2% of all long term absence (5 employees). All employees 
have been supported by Line Management, HR and 
Occupational Health.  According to the CIPD Survey, 46% of 

Acute
 40.2%

Mental Ill Health
 20.9%

Minor
 16.9%

Stress
 7.4%

Pregnancy 
 2.5%

Injury
 1.9%

Musculoskeletal
 5.3%

Back
 4.8%

Page 32



organisations reported that acute reasons were in their top 
three causes of long term absence.   

 
4.3.6 The second most common cause of long term absence was 

for mental ill health, which accounted for 20.9% of all long 
term absence (7 employees). All employees have been 
supported by Line Management, HR and Occupational 
Health.  According to the CIPD Survey, 63% of organisations 
reported that mental ill health was in their top three causes 
of long term absence.   

   
4.3.7 The third most common cause of long term absence was 

minor illnesses (e.g., colds/flu, stomach upsets, headaches 
and migraines, minor operations), which accounted for 
16.9% of all long term absence (9 employees).  

 
5.0 How is the council addressing employee absence 
 
5.1 Absences due to minor illnesses are mostly unavoidable. 

Managers hold return-to-work meetings with employees after 
every absence, provide support, monitor absences against 
the council’s triggers and take the appropriate action in line 
with absence policy and procedures.  

 
5.2 Managers are supporting employees with acute and recurring 

medical conditions by e.g. allowing them time off to attend 
medical appointments/treatment, allowing flexible working 
where possible and referring them to occupational health 
where appropriate.   

 
5.3 It is important that managers recognise the signs of stress at 

an early stage so that action can be taken to support 
employees.  Employees experiencing stress are referred to 
the council’s occupational health service where appropriate 
and are supported through a stress risk assessment.  
Managers use the Health and Safety Executive’s (HSE) stress 
risk assessment tool (with HR support) which looks at the 
key causes of stress (e.g. demands of the job, control over 
their work, support from their manager and colleagues, 
relationships at work, the role, and organisational change) 

Page 33



and identifies actions to help reduce the stress. Employees 
can also seek confidential support from the council’s 
Employee Assistance Programme (EAP).   

 
5.4 Absences due to Covid-19 are carefully monitored by HR and 

a special Covid-19 reason code was set up on the HR system 
to enable this. We continue to advise employees to work 
from home if they get a positive Covid test (and are well 
enough to work) to avoid the potential spread of the virus to 
other employees. 

 
5.5 Short term absences due to mental health have increased 

from 1.9% of all short term absences in 2022/23 to 7.6% in 
2023/24. Long term absences due to mental health have also 
increased from 19.9% of all long term absences in 2022/23 
to 20.9% in 2023/24. 

 
5.6 Short term absences due to stress have decreased from 

12.4% of all short term absences in 2022/23 to 8% in 
2023/24. Long term absences have also decreased from 
22.4% of all long term absences in 2022/23 to 7.4% in 
2023/24. 

 
5.7 The council has continued to take action to support 

employee mental health in 2023/24, please see sections 6 
and 7 for details. 

 
5.8 Managers and HR are supporting all employees with health 

issues through e.g. home visits, referrals to Occupational 
Health, undertaking stress risk assessments and 
implementing action plans, making adjustments to their 
work/workplace to assist them in returning to work at the 
appropriate time, and offering flexible working. 

   
6.0 Ongoing support for employee health and wellbeing 
 
 The council has a lot in place to support the health and 

wellbeing of its employees, including: 
 

6.1 Employee wellbeing activities and campaigns  

Page 34



 
6.1.1 The council offers a variety of activities and training to 

support employees’ physical and mental health and 
wellbeing. The HR team also promotes various 
national campaigns such as Mental Health awareness 
Day/week with support from the Communications 
team.   

 
6.2 Wellbeing Hub  

 
6.2.1 The council has a wellbeing hub on its intranet which 

provides a one stop place where employees can 
access wellbeing support.  It is where employees are 
signposted to sources of support e.g. how to contact a 
Mental Health First Aider, access to support from the 
Samaritans, how to contact the employee assistance 
programme.   

 
6.3 Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) 

 
6.3.1 The council has continued to offer an Employee 

Assistance Program (EAP).  The service is 24/7, easy 
to access, confidential and free of charge. Employees 
have unlimited access to information, support and 
guidance on a wide range of topics including 
work/career, relationship/family, money 
management/debt and health/wellbeing. 

 
6.4 Mental Health Support from Able Futures 
 
6.4.1 The council actively promotes the services available 

from Able Futures which delivers the Access to Work 
Mental Health Support Service on behalf of the 
Department for Work and Pensions.   

 
6.4.2 Employees (and family members provided they are in 

employment) who wish to access the service can 
receive 9 months of mental health support from a 
qualified professional called a Vocational 
Rehabilitation Consultant (VRC). The service is 100% 

Page 35



confidential and employees can self-refer which 
means that they don’t need to go through their 
manager or HR to access it. 

 
6.4.3 A VRC will support the employee through providing 

information and advice on a range of issues; coaching 
and teaching on how to manage mental health 
difficulties; as well as help in accessing services.  Able 
Futures is not a counselling, treatment or diagnostic 
service. 

 
6.4.4 The support available via Able Futures is designed to 

help with a range of mental health issues which result 
from both inside and outside the workplace, including: 

 
• Stress 
• Anxiety 
• Depression 
• Financial Management 
• Bereavement 

 
6.5 HR Officers continue to support managers in 

consistently and proactively managing sickness 
absence. 

 
6.5.1 HR Officers meet regularly with managers to ensure 

they are consistently and proactively managing 
sickness absence in their teams.   

 
7.0 Actions taken in 2023/24 to improve employee health 

and wellbeing 
 
 In addition to the ongoing support already mentioned in 

Sections 5 and 6 above, the council has achieved the 
following in 2023/24 to improve the health and wellbeing of 
its employees: 

 
7.1 Wellbeing activities and campaigns 

 
7.1.1 A variety of campaigns were supported and events 

Page 36



held each month to support employee mental, 
physical and social wellbeing such as International 
Women’s Day (staff event in council chamber), free 
flu jabs, ‘how to adjust your chair’ sessions, and  
Menopause awareness month.  

 
7.4 Blended Working  

 
7.4.1 Following a review, it was agreed by Leadership to 

make the blended working arrangements permanent 
and a policy was developed. This is with Unison for 
their feedback and it has been decided it will now be 
grouped with a review of the flexi time scheme, 
overtime and TOIL and combined into one policy. 

 
7.5 Menopause awareness 
 
7.5.1 Menopause awareness training was run in October 

2023 by Talking Menopause. Separate sessions were 
run for Leadership Team, managers and employees 
and toolkits were provided. The aim of the sessions 
was to raise awareness and create an environment 
where everyone in the council feels comfortable 
talking about menopause. Staff feedback was 
extremely positive following the training. 

 
8.0 Actions planned in 2024/25 to improve employee 

health and wellbeing, to: 
 

• Develop a combined blended working, flexi time, 
overtime and TOIL policy. Ensure expectations of blended 
working are clear and that flexibility works effectively for 
both employees and services and communication is well 
maintained. Ensure the flexi-time scheme works 
effectively with blended working and gives consideration 
to core contact hours. 
 

• Continue to support national wellbeing campaigns with 
the support of the Communications team to promote and 
offer wellbeing activities to employees. 
 

Page 37



• Refresh Mental Health First Aiders programme by seeking 
new volunteers and arranging training for new 
volunteers/refresher training for existing volunteers. 

 
• Seek volunteers to be ‘Equalities Champions’ and set up 

an Equalities Group. Volunteers would represent different 
areas of equality and diversity as the council is too small 
to have individual staff groups for all of the different 
diversity strands. 

 
• Review the intranet Wellbeing content and update and 

develop accordingly. 
 

• Roll out Flu Jabs to staff from September as with previous 
years. 

 
• Review the council’s Occupational Health Provider to find 

a more proactive provider in helping advise on complex 
cases and supporting employees back to work. 

 
• Arrange ‘Managing Change’ training for managers as part 

of the Blueprint programme to support the delivery of the 
transformation programme. 

 
• Research whether there are any links between employees 

with protected characteristics and higher sickness 
absence rates. 

 
9.0 Reason(s) 

N/A 
 
10.0 Options 

N/A  
 

11.0 Risks 

The risks are that if wellbeing is not supported or managed that staff 
absences increase, staff resilience is weakened which affects the 

Page 38



corporate risk: Staff capacity and skills to deliver services. 
 
12.0 Implications/Consultations 
 
Community Safety 

No 
Data Protection 

No 
Equalities 

Wellbeing support is aimed at supporting employee’s health both 
physical and mental health. Mental health is potentially a disability 
depending on its impact and therefore it is important to make 
reasonable adjustments and provide support. 
Environmental Sustainability 

No 
Financial 

No 
Health and Safety 

No 
Human Resources 

As covered by the report 
Human Rights 

No 
Legal 

No 
Specific Wards 

No 

Page 39



13.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant 
material 
None 
Contact Officer   Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

Alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

Report Authors  Claire Kirby, HR Officer 
Contact Tel No 01992 531630 

Claire.kirby@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 40

mailto:Alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.kirby@eastherts.gov.uk


East Herts Council Report  
 

Human Resources Committee  
Date of Meeting:   5 June 2024 
Report by: HR Officer  
Report title: Annual Turnover Report 2023/2024 
Ward(s) affected:  N/A 

       

Summary 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee:   

(a) To consider the Annual Turnover Report 2023/2024 
including the actions (in section 11.0) planned for 
2024/25 and provide any comments to the HR and 
OD Service Manager.  

 

1.0  Proposal(s) 
1.1 Members are invited to consider the Annual Turnover 

Report 2023/2024.  
 

2.0 Background    
2.1 The council recognises that having a certain level of 

employee turnover is healthy.  It can help maintain high 
levels of motivation and ensure fresh blood is injected to 
generate new ideas and working practices which will, in 
turn, help the council to grow and develop. 

 
2.2 The council monitors and reports on turnover on a quarterly 

basis in the HR Quarterly Statistics report which is also 
considered at Leadership Team and HR Committee.   

 
2.3 The Annual Turnover report provides a more in-depth 

analysis of turnover data for the year.  This report considers 
the period April 2023 to March 2024. It explores the 
reasons employees are leaving and whether there are any 
improvements the council could make. 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



2.4 The report includes benchmarking data against previous 
years and from other local authorities across England.   

 

3.0 Summary 
 

3.1 There were a total of 44 leavers in 2023/24: Thirty-five of 
those were voluntary leavers and nine were involuntary 
leavers; four were made redundant, two fixed term 
contracts had come to an end and three to ill health 
retirement.  

 
3.2 Figure 1 below shows the council’s turnover rate (for all 

leavers) over the last 5 years compared with the local 
government average.  Global Turnover (both voluntary and 
involuntary) in the council in 2023/24 was 14.4% which is 
slightly higher than the last local government East of 
England average (14% in 2023/24*).   

 
Figure 1 – Annual Turnover trends 

 
* The Local Government Average is the mean for all English authorities and is taken from the ‘LG Inform Benchmarking -

Workforce Metrics.  

 

3.3 Figure 2 below shows the council’s voluntary turnover rate 
(for all voluntary leavers) over the last 5 years.  It is 
important to note this separately from Global turnover 
(which includes both voluntary and involuntary leavers). 
The council’s voluntary turnover rate has increased to 
11.5% in 2023/24. This increase was mainly due to people 
making lifestyle changes e.g. retirement, career changes. 

 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Employee Turnover 10.1% 8.4% 14.5% 11.9% 14.4%
Local Government Average 13.0% 9.0% 14.0% 14.0% 14.0%

0.0%
2.0%
4.0%
6.0%
8.0%

10.0%
12.0%
14.0%
16.0%

Tu
nr

ov
er

 (%
ag

e)

Page 42



Figure 2 – Voluntary Turnover rate over last 5 
years 

 
 

4.0 Reasons for Leaving 
 

4.1 The reasons employees gave for leaving the council in 
2023/24 can be found in Figure 3   

 
Figure 3 – Reasons for leaving  

 
 

4.2 The most common reason for leaving in 2023/24 was 
retirement (21%) Employees are auto-enrolled in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme which is a much-valued 
scheme.  The council has an older workforce and therefore 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Voluntary Turnover 9.3% 6.3% 12% 10.3% 11.5%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

Change in career
 7%

‘Other’
 14%

Retirement
 21%

Personal reasons
 12%

To achieve 
promotion

 19%

To relocate
 2%

Family reasons
 5%

End of Contract
 2%

Compulsory 
Redundancy

 9%
Dismissal

 9%
2023/24

Page 43



retirement is likely to continue to be a common reason for 
leaving.  The council has a flexible retirement policy which 
gives employees the potential option of reducing their hours 
whilst drawing their pension.  

 
 
4.3   The second most common reason for employees leaving in 

2023/24 was to achieve promotion (19%) The third most 
common is for personal reasons (12%) 

 

5.0 Stability Rate 
 

5.1 The council reports its stability rate to understand whether 
it is retaining employees in their first year of service.   

 
5.2 The stability rate is calculated by dividing the number of 

leavers with 1 or more years’ service by the total number of 
voluntary leavers (multiplied by 100 to express as a 
percentage).  

 
5.3 In 2023/24 the council’s stability rate was 83%. This means 

that 17% of voluntary leavers (6 employees) had less than 
1 years’ service. 2 employees left for a promotion, 2 left for 
personal reasons and the other two employees did not 
comment. 

6.0 Voluntary turnover in each service area 
 

6.1 The voluntary turnover rate in each service area for 
2023/24, including comparisons with the previous 2 years, 
can be found in Figure 4 below.   
 

Figure 4 – Turnover in each service  

Page 44



 
Average headcount in 2022/23:  Corp Supp – 2; L’Ship – 10; Comms, Strat & Pol – 33;  
Ops – 28; Strat Fin & Prop – 31; Leg & Dem – 23, HR & OD – 9: Revs & Bens – 87;  
Hsg & Health – 58; Planning – 42. 

 
6.2 Turnover in 2023/24 has increased in 3 out of the 10 

services since the previous year (Communications, Strategy 
and Policy, HR, Housing and Health)  

 
6.3 HR had the highest turnover rate of 22% (based on 2 

employees). Communication, Strategy and Policy had the 
second highest turnover rate of 18% (based on 6 
employees) 

 
7.0 Exit Questionnaire analysis 

 

7.1 All voluntary leavers are asked to complete an exit 
questionnaire to help the council identify any improvements 
it could make e.g. to its policies and practices.  The 
questionnaires are returned to HR however leavers are 
asked whether their feedback can be shared with their 
manager. 

 
7.2 More than half of voluntary leavers (51%, 18 out of 35 

leavers) completed an exit questionnaire. 
 
7.3 The key highlights from the exit questionnaires are as 

follows: 
 

• 89% (16 employees) would recommend others to join 
the council. 
 

• 77% (14 employees) said that they would rate the 

Corp 
Supp L'Ship

Comms, 
Strat & 

Pol
Ops 

Strat 
Fin & 
Prop

Leg & 
Dem

HR & 
OD

Revs & 
Bens

Hsg & 
Health Planning

2021/22 0% 0% 23% 7% 3% 8% 43% 7% 12% 31%
2022/23 40% 0% 6% 16% 6% 17% 0% 8% 12% 14%
2023/24 0% 0% 18% 11% 6% 17% 22% 6% 17% 7%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

Vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
tu

rn
ov

er

Page 45



council 7 or higher out of 10 as an employer (1 being 
poor and 10 being excellent)  

 
• 94% (17 employees) said they ‘mostly’ or ‘completely’ 

enjoyed their time at the council;  
 

• 100% (18 employees) said they ‘completely’ or ‘mostly’ 
felt their duties were clearly defined;  
 

• 94% (17 employees) said their relationship with their 
colleagues were either ‘excellent’ or ‘good’.  
 

• 94% (17 employees) said their relationships with their 
manager was either ‘excellent’ or ‘good’.  
 

• 88% (16 employees) said that flexible working options 
at the council were either ‘very good’ or ‘good’ (2 
employee, 12% did not answer the question).   
 

• 88% (16 employees) agreed ‘completely’ , ‘mostly’ or 
‘partially’  that they had received an effective induction; 
 

• 88% (16 employees) agreed ‘completely’, ‘mostly’ or 
‘partially’ that they had received adequate 
training/coaching; 
 

• 56% (10 employees) said that prospects for 
promotion/advancement were either ‘excellent’ or 
‘good’. 33% (6 employees) felt they were poor in the 
main due to size of the council and some specialist 
teams being small/limited in terms of levels at the 
council and in the sector. (2 employees, 14% did not 
answer the question).   

 
8.0 Vacancy rate 
 

8.1 The council monitors its vacancy rate as this can have an 
impact on employee turnover e.g. employees may feel 
under additional pressure to cover the work of any vacant 
posts.   

Page 46



 
8.2 The vacancy rate in 2023/24 was 14% which is higher than 

in 2022/23 (11.9%) but lower than the local government 
average (the mean for all English authorities was 17% in 
2021/22).  

 
8.3 As at 31 March 2024, there were 44 vacant posts across the 

council. Eight of these posts are in Revenue and Benefits 
and are on hold pending an external service review. There 
may be some potential savings, posts are being covered by 
agency staff or fixed term temporary staff where required.   
 
Advertising/recruitment has commenced for 4 of the 44   
vacancies, 2 are being reviewed before being advertised. 
 
11 of the vacancies are on hold pending the outcome of the 
Decision- making accountability (DMA) review. Half of which 
are within the Housing and Health Team.  
 
10 posts have now been filled i.e. an offer has been made 
and accepted, the candidates are being pre-employment 
checked or have agreed a start date following checks. 

 
The remaining 9 vacancies are in Planning which are yet to 
go out to advert. These include new posts agreed in the 
restructure.  

 
8.6 The council has focussed on upskilling employees through 

introducing career graded posts (most posts in Planning are 
career graded) and funding professional study. Career 
graded posts allow the recruitment of candidates with more 
transferable skills which can then be developed.  

 
9.0 Recruitment Costs 

 
9.1 Recruitment costs have risen in 2023/24 (£54,093 

compared to £45,376 in 2022/23).  Recruitment costs 
include external advertising costs, job boards and search 
fees.  Figure 5 below shows the councils recruitment costs 
over the last 5 years. 

Page 47



 
 Figure 5 Recruitment annual costs over last 5 years 

 
 
9.2 In 2023/24 there were 59 advertisements and 10 

readvertisements, 69 campaigns in total. The increase in 
the annual cost is partly due increased recruitment 
compared to 2021/22 (49 campaigns) and also due to a 
significant spend on recruitment campaigns for Planning in 
22/23 (£29,037) which continues to be hard to recruit area 
both locally and nationally. Market supplements have been 
introduced for some hard to fill planning roles (which has 
become common practice in sector) to increase attraction 
and retention as opposed to welcome payments. Due to the 
difficulty to recruit, the council has had to invest in more 
significant advertising in trade press, video campaigns and 
use agency searches where advertising has been 
unsuccessful.   

 
9.3 The cost per hire in 2023/24 is £917 based on 59 vacancies 

during the period.  This remains lower that the UK average 
cost per hire of £1500 (Chartered Institute of Personnel and 
Development (CIPD) Resourcing and Talent Planning Report 
2022). Figure 6 below shows East Herts average cost per 
hire compared to the CIPD UK average. 

 
 Figure 6 Average cost per hire for East Herts over 

last 5 years compared CIPD average 
 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Recruitment Costs 34,900 26,963 26,406 45,376 £54,093

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000
£s

Page 48



 
9.3 Other key findings from the 2022 CIPD report are that 77% 

of organisations experienced difficulties attracting 
candidates, up from 49% in 2021. Recruiting for senior and 
skilled roles was most challenging (58%) although 26% had 
difficulties attracting low-skilled candidates. 60% report that 
talent is more difficult to retain compared with a year ago 
and over a third (37%) undertook initiatives to improve 
retention which is up from 29% in 2021. 

  
9.4 The council has aimed to keep recruitment costs as low as 

possible, we have an arrangement with LinkedIn ‘Recruiter’ 
which enable us to target/promote five jobs at one time. 
 
A package was agreed with Web Recruit the council’s 
current Applicant Tracking System (ATS) of £245 per job (or 
£275 with copywriting support) for multi-site online 
advertising. The multi-site package advertises roles across 
range of leading generalist job boards (Totaljobs, Jobsite, 
Monster, CV Library, Fish4Jobs, Indeed and Find a 
Job(.Gov)). 

  
Where deemed appropriate additional advertising has been 
used both online and in the trade/sector press which tend 
to be more expensive. As stated, it has become more 
difficult to attract candidates as supply is not meeting 
demand.   

 
 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
EHDC Average Cost per hire 727 963 539 782 917
UK Average cost per hire (CIPD) 1000 1000 1500 1500 1500

-

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

£s

Page 49



10.0 Actions taken in 2023/24 to improve recruitment and 
retention 

 
10.1 East Herts Website – Jobs and Careers 

(Recruitment) section further developed 
  
10.1.1 A new supplicant help section has been developed to 

support the online application process. Web recruit also 
support candidates. 

  
10.1.2 The Planning section has been enhanced with multiple 

videos from staff and the leader of the council to 
encourage more applications and promote East Herts and 
the Planning service. 

 
10.1.3 The ‘Working for Us’ section has been developed further 

to make clear benefits of working at East Herts (including 
our wellbeing programme and flexible working) as well as 
the East Herts Values. 

 
 

10.2 Promotion of the council’s health and wellbeing 
programme 

 
10.2.1 The council has continued to promote its employee health 

and wellbeing programme. The programme has included 
introducing a menopause policy, Flu jab vouchers, 
blended working review. A full list of events can be found 
in the Annual Health and Wellbeing Report 2023/24. 
Positive feedback has been received from employees on 
the wellbeing programme being offered.   

 
10.3 Employee Award Scheme 
 
10.3.1 The council’s Employee Award Scheme was redeveloped 

to move away from Employee of Month to a quarterly set 
of Awards and an Annual Award ceremony. We have 
received positive feedback following our annual awards 
ceremony held in July 2023 and will continue with this 
scheme in 24/25. The scheme is connected to our core 

Page 50



behaviours and values and rewards employees 
throughout the year for excellent work or exceptional 
modelling of the council’s values and behaviours.  Details 
of the scheme will be added to the ‘work with us’ section 
so it can support recruitment as well as retention. 

 
10.4  Market Forces Supplement 
 
10.4.1 The council has introduced market forces 

supplements in hard to recruit areas such as 
Planning and Legal services. The aim is to aid both 
recruitment and retention. The supplement will 
continue to be reviewed annually taking in to 
account salary survey data and whether there is still 
a need for the supplement.  

 
11.0 Actions planned for 2023/24 to improve recruitment and 

retention  
 

11.1 A comprehensive DMA review is currently being conducted 
to enhance the capabilities of our staff and foster a 
supportive environment that inspires informed decision-
making. This initiative aims to enable our team to deliver 
services to our residents.  

 
11.2 We have implemented a management development 

programme under the Be Agile transformation scheme.  The 
program aims to provide our staff with the necessary skills 
and expertise to support individual growth and 
development. We have launched the First Steps, Blueprint, 
and Next Steps programs, which targets aspirant, in-role 
and senior leadership staff. These initiatives seek to address 
the high employee turnover rate and the need to grow and 
develop our team members.  

 
11.3 We have also re-established the East Herts Together 

staffing group, which is supported by the Transformation 
Board. Through this initiative, we aim to listen to our staff’s 
feedback and incorporate their views and opinions in 

Page 51



shaping our approach to supporting them. Our objective is 
to ensure staff feel valued, heard, and appreciated.  

 
11.4 In addition, we are currently reviewing our PDR process to 

enhance staff engagement and facilitate training needs 
analysis to allow for the delivery of impactful training 
interventions throughout the year.  

 
11.5 We are implementing an Applicant Tracking System 

(ATS) that will enable us to review our recruitment 
process, improve the candidate experience, and 
facilitate the smooth onboarding of new employees. 
Our ultimate goal is to provide a welcoming 
experience for new hires and support out managers 
in this process.  

12.0 Options 

N/A  
 

13.0 Risks 

Recruitment and retention relate to corporate risk of Staff capacity and 
skills to deliver services meaning it is an important area to ensure is 
managed and developed. The reductions in turnover demonstrate the 
risk is being managed but it remains a challenging area especially as the 
council has a number of hard to fill posts which have led to the use of 
market supplements. 
 
14.0 Implications/Consultations 

N/A 
Community Safety 

No 
Data Protection 

No 
Equalities 

The annual equalities report will be provided to the next meeting where 
equality data will be analysed including for current employees, 

Page 52



candidates/new starters and leavers with appropriate actions set out.  
Environmental Sustainability 

No 
Financial 

No 
Health and Safety 

No 
Human Resources 

As covered in the report 
Human Rights 

No 
Legal 

No 
Specific Wards 

No 
 
15.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant 
material 

None 
 
Contact Officer   

Alex Wanless, HR & OD Manager 
Alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk 

Report Author 
Emily Cordwell, HR Officer 

Emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 53

mailto:Alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk


 
East Herts Council Report  

 

HR Committee 
Date of Meeting:   5 J une 2024 
Report by:  HR Officer 
Report title: Learning and Development Review 2023/24 

Ward(s) affected:  None 
       

Summary 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR:   

(a) For the committee to consider the Learning and 
Development Review for 2023/2024 and provide any 
comments.   

 

1.0 Proposal(s) 

1.1 The committee is asked to consider the learning and 
development undertaken in 2023/24 and provide 
comments to the HR and OD Service Manager. 
 

2.0 Background    
 
2.1 The 2023/24 learning and development programme 

focussed on delivering a range of learning and 
development opportunities designed to meet corporate 
and individual needs in the most cost effective way.   
 

2.2 The development needs were identified corporately, 
through individual PDR’s and corporate projects.   

 
2.3 Development opportunities were delivered by a hybrid of 

virtual facilitated events, virtual mentoring, virtual 
coaching, webinars, e-learning and face to face training.  

 
3.0 Report 

Page 54

Agenda Item 9



 
3.1 Training budgets at the Council have been historically split 

into four main areas: 
 

• Central/Corporate training budget 
• Service training and development budget 
• Professional training budget 
• Health and Safety 

 
 Budget 

2023/24 
Central/Corporate £20,000 

Service Training & 

Development 

£22,480 

Professional Training £20,000 

Health & Safety £3,000  

Total L & D Budget £65,480 

 
 
3.2      The 2023/24 Learning and Development programme was 

delivered by external facilitators, internal presenters, 
webinars and e-learning.  These events are funded from 
the corporate training budget. 

 
Employees are informed of training opportunities via email, 
individuals are also approached directly when they have 
requested specific training in their PDR or there is training 
specific to their roles.   

 
In 2023/24 286 delegates attended or participated in some 
form of face to face corporate or health and safety training 
(detail of the Health and Safety Training is included in the 
Health and Safety Report).   

 
The table below shows the breakdown of the 22 events: 

 

Page 55



Event/Course No of 
participants 

Type/ 
Number 

of 
sessions 

held 
Corporate Induction 13 1 

Defibrillator Use 4 1 

Data Protection Policy Training 114 5 

Effective Complaints Management  11 1 

Evacuation Chair User Training  8 1 

Next Steps Management Training 22 2 

First Steps Management Training 

Cohort  

11 (per 

session) 
7 

Menopause Awareness- Managers  30 1 

Menopause Awareness - Staff 43 1 

DSE and chairs workshop  20 1 

Understanding Conflict 

Management   

10 1 

Total 286 22 
 
The mandatory training programme launched in March 
2023 and delivered through Skillgate. Employees receive 
annual reminders when renewal is due when they are no 
longer compliant. All employees, agency staff and new 
starters were asked to complete the e-learning courses.  In 
total 1410 ‘completed’ training episodes were recorded in 
March 2024. 
 

 
Course Participants 

The Importance of 276 

Page 56



Equality, Diversity, and 
Inclusion 

Data Protection: 
Compliance following 
GDPR 

274 

Office Etiquette and 
Email Management (To 

be re-registered every 3 
years.) 

312 

Fire Safety 275 

Understanding the 
Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
people, and Adults at 
risk. 

273 

 
The HR Officer works with the Leadership Team, Senior 
Officers and East Herts Together to develop the e-learning 
programme to ensure the programme continues to grow 
and is fit for purpose.  The e-learning platform is funded 
from the central training budget.  
 

3.3 Service Training and Development 
The total service training and development budget for 
2023/2024 was £22,480, which was divided amongst the 
services for additional training and development.  This 
budget is predominantly used for service specific training, 
one day conferences, seminars, training and team building 
events. 

 
The budget breaks down to £72 per employee based on 
the employee head count on 1 April 2023 (309).  The 

Page 57



training and development budgets were managed centrally 
by the HR & OD Service. This enables the training needs to 
be recorded and analysed to ensure all training needs and 
budgets costs are being met in the most appropriate way 
with sufficient spread for employees and the council.   

 

3.4 Professional Training 
 

The professional training budget was set at £20,000 for 
2023/24. All employees funded for professional 
qualifications sign training agreements in line with the 
Organisational Development Policy, which allows the 
council to reclaim a percentage of funding if an employee 
leaves the Council within two years.  The training 
agreements are held centrally in Human Resources. 

 
This budget has predominantly supported the planning 
team to upskill their staff, with 3 officers in 23/24 
committed to achieving a masters in Town and Country 
planning.  We have had an increase in demands from 
other service areas where there are qualification 
shortages,  we will ensure there is a fair process in funding 
professional development for 24/25. 
 
The professional training budget for 2024/25 remains at 
£20,000. 

 
3.5 Apprentices 

  
The Council continued to sponsor two apprenticeships in 
2023/24 from the Apprenticeship Levy:  

 
• 1 x Accountancy – Level 7 
• 1 x Chartered Town Planner Degree – Level 7 

 
The HR & OD Service will continue to work with managers 
and training providers to develop the Council’s 
Apprenticeship Programme. The Leadership Team are 
committed to make better use of our levy provision and 

Page 58



professional training budget as a critical part of workforce 
planning. 
 

4.0 Learning and Development priorities 2024/25 
 
4.1 The learning and development needs for this year are 

being collated from the PDR’s (the period has been 
extended until June to allow completion following the 
system being refreshed) The HR & OD Service Manager 
will work with members of the Leadership Team to ensure 
the learning meets the needs of the council to deliver its 
priorities. 

 
4.1 Following the outcome of the DMA review, HR will scope a 

learning and development training cycle. We will ensure 
our employees are supported through change and will 
identify where there are skill shortages as part of our 
succession planning.   

 
4.2 The HR & OD service Manager will continue to support 

corporate projects such as sustainability, safeguarding and 
transformation by designing and delivering training and 
presentations to help embed the projects throughout the 
Council, ensuring the best use of project budgets and 
resources.  

 
4.3 The courses available on the e-learning platform will 

continue to be developed ensuring they are up to date and 
further courses will be designed and developed for Officers 
and Members to help implement policies and projects. As 
part of our environmentally focused corporate priority, we 
will be launching a training course on climate change and 
how to reduce carbon emissions. 

 
4.4 HR continues to work with all our training providers to 

review the way learning is delivered in line with our 
blended working to ensure employees have a variety of 
development opportunities available to them. Training will 
be delivered on line, virtually and face to face as we 
continue to develop and engage with staff.  The range of 

Page 59



delivery will give officers more options to access different 
training events and opportunities. 

 
4.5      East Herts is committed to developing its staff and has 

adopted a grow your own approach to management and 
leadership. We have developed a new aspirant leaders and 
managers programme called First step. The first cohort 
Launched in April 2023 to successfully develop 11 
employees. 

 
 4.6      In addition, we are developing a line manager 

programme called Blueprint with a range of modules being 
developed to ensure effective and consistent management 
of both people and resources. We also have a Service 
Manager workshop called The Next Step, this is designated 
to help service managers develop the skills they need to 
work across partnerships and prepare them for 
promotional opportunities. Sessions were delivered to 
managers on a two-day workshop in September. 

 
4.7 In 2024/25 the organisational development intra-net pages 

will be reviewed to provide further information on the 
opportunities available to all employees. 

 
4.7 The HR & OD Service Manager will review and revise the 

Corporate Induction programme to ensure it reflects the 
council and the services provided. Consideration of video 
content from key areas is being made to allow new 
starters to access some core elements earlier. 

 
5.0  Risks 

5.1 None 
 

6.0  Implications/Consultations 

6.1 None 
 

Page 60



Community Safety 

No 
Data Protection 

No 
Equalities 

Yes, to ensure the development opportunities are accessible to all and 
staff receive training on equalities. 
Environmental Sustainability 

Yes, the learning and development provision supports the sustainability 
project 
Financial 

Yes, the budget data has been provided by the Finance Team 
Health and Safety 
Yes as set out in this report and the report has been produced by HR 
with includes the H&S Officer 
Human Resources 

Yes as set out in this report and the report has been produced by HR 
Human Rights 

No 
Legal 

Yes, the learning and development provision supports legal updates and 
compliance. 
Specific Wards 

No 
 
7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material 

7.1 None 

Page 61



Contact Officer   Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 
Alex.Wanless@eastherts.gov.uk 

Report Author  Emily Cordwell, HR Officer  
Emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

Page 62

mailto:Alex.Wanless@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:Emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk


East Herts Council Report 

 

Human Resources Committee  

Date of meeting: Wednesday 5 June 2024 

Report by:  

Report title: HR Quarter 4 stats 23/24 stats 

Ward(s) affected: (All Wards); 

Not applicable  

Summary – For members to consider the Human Resources 
Management Report for Quarter 4 which covers January – March 2024 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee 

a) To consider the Human Resources Management 
report for Quarter 4 (January – March 2024) and 
provide any comments to the HR Officer/Head of HR 
and OD regarding the content or formatting of the 
report. 

1.0 Proposal(s) 
1.1 Members are invited to consider the Human Resources (HR) 
Management report for Quarter 4 (January – March 2024) 

2.0 Background 
2.1 Revised format following recommendations of HRC  

3.0 Reason(s) 
3.1 For members to consider the quarterly statistics on: 
 Sickness 
 Vacancies 
 Recruitment and Retention 

Learning and Development 
Health and Safety 

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



4.0 Implications/Consultations 

Community Safety 
No 

Data Protection 
No 

Equalities 
The data shows that East Herts Council employs a diverse workforce 
with some areas of overrepresentation.  

Environmental Sustainability 
No 

Financial 
No 

Health and Safety 
No 

Human Resources 

Human Rights 
No 

Legal 
No 

Specific Wards 
No 

5.0 Background papers, appendices, and other relevant 
material 

 
Contact Member  Councillor Joseph Dumont 

          Executive Member for Corporate Services 

           Joseph.dumont@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

Page 64

mailto:Joseph.dumont@eastherts.gov.uk


Contact Officer                    Alex Wanless, HR & OD Manager,  
                                                 alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

 

Report Author         Peter Dickinson, H&S Officer  

           Emily Cordwell, HR Officer 

      emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk,  

                                             peter.dickinson@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Page 65

mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk


 

HR Committee Report for Q4 2023/24 
 

Note: As of 31 March 2024, East Herts Council employed 284.20 fte and had a 
headcount of 315. 

 

1.0 Sickness Absence 
At the end of Quarter 4, the total number of sickness days taken was 665.64 full time 
equivalent (FTE) days.  Of these, 329.14 FTE days (49%) were due to short term 
sickness and 336.5 FTE days (51%) were due to long term sickness.  The percentage 
of time lost due to short term sickness is 1.8% and the percentage of time lost due to 
long term sickness is 1.9% which equates to a total percentage lost time of 3.7%.    

At the end of Quarter 4, the number of FTE days absent per FTE was an average of 
6.9 days.  

Q4 is broken down as follows:  

 
For reference: 

Acute absence relates to cancer. 

 

 

Short term sickness 
Absences of less than four weeks are considered to be short term sickness absence. 

72 employees (22.9% of the total headcount) had short term sickness absence during 
Q4 totalling 329.14 FTE days.   

16
.9

15
.4

27
.6

4.
9 6.

8

21
.4

1.
5

1.
6 2.
6

1.
3

A CUT E

M
ENTA L  H

EA L TH

M
IN

OR

M
USCULOSKE L E TA L

R EOCCUR IN
G

STRE S S

PREGNANCY
BACK

COV ID
- 1

9

IN
JU

RY

%

Page 66



At the end of Q4, the number of short-term FTE days absent per FTE was an average 
of 3.31 days. 

Short term absences that meet out trigger points are handled through our Absence 
Management Policy processes. 

 

Long term sickness 
Absences in excess of 4 weeks / 28 consecutive calendar days are considered to be 
long term sickness absence. 

13 employees (4.1% of the total headcount) had long term sickness absence during 
Q4 totalling 336.5 FTE days.  

All long-term absence is being managed with HR staff supporting the employee and 
manager to help get the member of staff back to work. We use our Occupational 
Health Service and Employee Assistance Programme to support this process, they 
provide helpful guidance and recommendations to help us accommodate return to 
work for the member of staff. 

At the end of Q4, the number of long-term FTE days absent per FTE was 3.58 days. 

 

2.0 Recruitment and Retention 
 
Recruitment 
 
Our biggest recruitment challenge remains the recruitment of qualified Planners. 
East Herts geographical position does mean that qualified staff have a large number 
of employment options within easy reach and the new standard blended working 
offer means that their options are now even bigger. We have made some progress 
with the development of a recruitment landing page which has a video of Ben 
Crystall, the Council’s Leader, The Head of Planning and a member of staff 
explaining the benefits of working for us. We have also developed a recruitment 
identity that we use in our advertising and advertorial pieces. 

We have a Market Forces Supplement that is applied to hard to fill roles in Planning 
and this is reviewed annually to ensure it is still relevant. We also have a small 
agreement with LinkedIn to market our top 5 roles. We do rely on agency staff for 
some key roles but are actively trying to recruit to the roles permanently. 

We continually review our offer for planners against the market and adapt what we 
can given our financial constraints. 

Recruitment to posts in other service areas is generally more straightforward and 
successful first time. 

With the exception of Planners all other recruitment requests must be accompanied 
by a business case and signed off by a panel consisting of Chief Executive, Deputy 

Page 67



Chief Executive, Section 151 officer. This ensures that we challenge ourselves to 
consider if we need to replace roles like for like, should we use the opportunity to 
reshape roles, do we really need the role etc. 

 
There have been 20 new starters in quarter 4: 
 

▪ 1 in Operations- Hertford Theatre 
▪ 3 in Planning 
▪ 4 in Communications, Strategy and Policy 
▪ 1 in Revenue and Benefits 
▪ 1 in HR 
▪ 4 in Housing and Health 
▪ 3 in Strategic Finance and Property 
▪ 3 in Legal and Democratic Services 

 

Vacancies 
As of 31 March 2024, we had 44 posts unfilled for a variety of reasons. This 
represents 14% of posts.                                                                                                                                                       

These are the main reasons posts are vacant:                                                              

• Being held for budget savings 
• Being held as a service review pending 
• Being held as part of the decision- making accountability review (DMA) 
• To be deleted following service review 
• In the process of being recruited to 
• Recruitment successful, job offer out but new member of staff has not yet 

started. 
It takes almost twice as long to recruit to a post as it takes for someone to resign and 
work their notice which often account for the high vacancy number. Business critical 
posts get covered by agency / interim staff or through acting up arrangements that 
also offer staff development opportunities. 

 

Retention – Turnover 
There were 9 leavers in Q4 giving a turnover rate for the quarter of 2.9%.  The 
turnover rate for the annual period 2023/24 is 14.4%. This is slightly higher than our 
target of 14% but we have had additional turnover through ill health retirements and 
Transforming East Herts. This turnover rate is not unusual in local government, the 
national average across all sectors is about 15% with a lot of councils reporting rates 
of over 20%. Churn in Planning services is even higher in most authorities largely 
due to the lack of qualified planners at a time when the planning targets are high, 
when agency work can seem more attractive.  

Reasons for leaving in Q4 included: To achieve promotion, retirement, for personal 
reasons and end of fixed term contracts. 

Page 68



 
3 in Housing and Health 
2 in Legal and Democratic services 
1 in Communications, Strategy and Policy 
1 in Revenue and Benefits  
2 in Planning.  
 
 
Recruitment and retention related activity planned for Q1 
 
• Investigate benefits and costs of using other types of recruitment to fill hard to fill 

posts 
• Review of the end-to-end recruitment process including implementing a new 

Applicant Tracking System  
• Review how we present features and benefits of employment 
• Review / reprocure our neutral vendor contract (for agency staff) 
• Further campaigns for planning staff 
• Introduce manager recruitment workshops. 
 
 
3.0 Learning and Development 
The learning needed in our organisation is delivered by e-learning, one to one 
training or group-based learning remotely or in person. 

HR is responsible for the corporate training budget, including professional training. We 
use training identified through annual employee reviews to scope the annual training 
plan. 

Employee can request funding for training and development relevant to their role by 
completing a form outlining how the event will support their learning and individual 
objectives, all requests are considered but not all can be agreed. Where this is the 
case we will look to find an alternative solution.  
We provide evaluation forms for all corporate training to collate staff feedback and 
measure the effectiveness of the sessions.  
 
The annual mandatory e-learning training programme is has continued for employees 
to complete in line with their performance review. Thes courses include Data 
Protection, Health and Safety, Equality, Diversity & Inclusion and Safeguarding.  
 
In addition to our mandatory programmes there are many other programmes that our 
staff can access to increase their knowledge and skills. In Q4 we also saw 1410 e-
learning courses accessed by our staff. 

The first cohort for the First Step Programme for aspirant managers was successfully 
completed following 6 workshops. 

Learning and Development planned for the next quarter: 

• Complete the development of a 2-day team leader programme and roll out 
(mandatory) 

Page 69



• Plan and begin roll out of Commercial Awareness and Political Awareness training 
events 

• Develop a simple train the trainer workshop for subject matter experts to enable 
them to develop their colleagues  
 

Organisational Development activity planned for Q1 

• Review and relaunch staffing groups to support the Transformation Programme 
and minority groups 

• Working with the LEP, develop proposals for workplace events for students over 
the summer 

• Ensure all Service Manager Meetings and Staff Briefings have a developmental 
session for organisational learning 

• Further work with Unison and staff on the Anti Racism Charter 
• Further work on raising awareness of the menopause 
• Co deliver workshops for staff around Co-Design of services 
• Ongoing support to the transformation programme 
 

We will also continue to review our staffing policies to ensure they are legally 
compliant and balanced in their approach and support ER processes; this is 
business as usual 

 

4.0  Health and Safety 
 
Accidents, Incidents and Near Misses 
 
Background Information 

Accidents are classified into two categories: 

Non-Reportable Accidents 

These are minor accidents such as cuts, minor contact injuries e.g., walking into the 
corner of a desk etc, slips, trips.  Staff are encouraged to report these and can using 
the online self-service portal MyView or completing an accident report from the 
accident report pad.  These are designated form BI510 accidents. 

East Herts Council operates predominately back-office functions in a low-risk 
environment, the determination of low risk is based on the Health and Safety 
Executives definition, therefore, a high rate of accidents is not expected to occur. 
 
 
Reportable Accidents 

The Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 
2013, often known by the acronym RIDDOR, is a 2013 statutory instrument of 

Page 70



the Parliament of the United Kingdom. It regulates the statutory obligation to 
report deaths, injuries, diseases and "dangerous occurrences". 

 

Types of incidents that are reportable under RIDDOR? 

• accidents resulting in the death of any person 
• accidents resulting in an absence from work over 7 days (excluding the day of 

the accident) e.g., degloving injury 
• Any injury from work in an enclosed space leading to hypothermia or heat-

induced illness or requiring resuscitation or admittance to hospital for more 
than 24 hours 

• non-fatal accidents requiring hospital treatment to non-workers. E.g., anyone 
not employed by the council 

• dangerous occurrences e.g., collapse, overturning or failure of any load-
creating part of lifting equipment, failure of any closed vessel or associated 
pipework forming part of pressure systems, collapse of scaffold this is not a 
definitive list 

• Reportable diseases under RIDDOR are listed in regulations 8 and 9 of the 
regulations. Types of occupational diseases include occupational dermatitis, 
hand-arm vibration syndrome, occupational cancer etc 

• Carpal tunnel syndrome from using percussive or vibrating tools 
• Occupational dermatitis from exposure to unknown skin sensitisers or irritants 
• Hand arm vibration syndrome (HAVS) from regular use of percussive or 

vibrating tools or materials 
 

Any reportable accident, incident or near miss arising from construction work e.g., 
building sites, new builds, demolition work or developments fall under the purview of 
the Health and Safety Executive. 

 

 Q4 22/23 Q4 23/24 Target 
23/24 

Predicted  
23/24 

H&S Employee Work 
Related Accidents (Not 
reportable to the HSE 
under RIDDOR 2013)  
 

2 1 0 3 

H&S Employee Work 
Related Accidents 
(Reportable to the HSE 
under RIDDOR 2013)  
 

0 0 0 0 

H&S Employee Work 
Related Incidents and Near 
Misses (No.) 
 

0 0 0 0 

 

Page 71



Contract Management and Responsibility 

The Council have outsourced a number of high-level services from waste collection 
and recycling, street cleansing, grounds maintenance and leisure services and 
employs contractors for capital projects. 

However, health and safety responsibilities cannot be passed from one party to 
another by a contract. If something goes wrong the Council can and will be held 
accountable by the HSE and the Courts. 

The Council therefore ensures that contractors have appropriate health and safety 
policies in place, monitor contractor performance and safety standards. In order to 
ensure that services are delivered safely the officers with contract oversite: 

• Convene meetings to review performance. 
• Monitor complaints received and undertake investigations. 
• Undertake onsite inspections and reviews. 
 
Heads of Service with responsibility for these functions are responsible for ensuring 
that effective management controls are implemented. 

  

Page 72



 

Safety Committee Update – Related to the minutes of Safety Committee 07 
February 2023 

 

Item 2 Related to queries in respect to support for insurance related matters, 
SL advised Safety Committee that all enquiries in respect to any matter 
concerning insurance or potential claims can be referred to the Risk 
and Insurance Officer. 

Item 4 The Shared Waste Services Manager advised Safety Committee of an 
incident involving one of the waste collection crews and a member of 
the public.  The matter has been resolved and both Communications 
Teams from EHC and NHDC have published messages on respective 
media reminding customers of the correct process for reporting any 
perceived failure of service. 

Item 12 Relates to the matter of safety on the top deck after the mandatory 
lights out time of 21.00 hours. The Committee agreed this should be 
referred to the Heads of Operations as the Committee is an advisory 
body and not a decision-making body, it can however make 
recommendations for consideration on safety matters. 

  It was reported that local police have raised issues in regard to an 
increase in vandalism, anti-social behaviour and graffiti at Northgate 
End Multi-Storey Car Park.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

 
 1

Minutes of Safety Committee 
Wednesday 07th February 2024,  

Meeting Room Mimram / Microsoft Teams 
 
 

Present: Peter Dickinson (PD), Dominique Kingsbury, 
Jackie Bruce (JB), Steven Linnett (SL), Emily 
Tickridge (ET), Geoff Hayden (GH), Paul 
Thomas-Jones (P T-J), Chloe Hipwood-Norton (C 
H-N), Rowan Perrin (RP) 

 
 Apologies: Ian Sharratt (IS), Jeanette Lowden (JL), Ben 

Wood (BW) 
 

1.0 Minutes of the last meeting  
 
  The Minutes of the meeting held on 07th November 2023 were 

agreed as an accurate record. 
  
 Action: None 
 
2.0 Matters Arising from the minutes. 
 
 Insurance and Risk Support 
 

SL advised committee that all enquiries, concerns, or questions 
regarding any issue that may result in a claim must be referred to 
the Insurance and Risk Officer, extension 2055.  The Officer can 
provide advice as to insurance amounts in contracts, provide 
assistance compiling information when claims are made and 
screen and reject claims where we aren't liable, and we update all 
the property information schedules that support the policy 
renewal. 
 
Action: None 

 
3.0 Coronavirus / Office Housekeeping update  
   
 HR have revised procedures for the reporting of covid related 

absences. 
  

Page 74



 

 
 2

 PD advised Committee that there are still Lateral Flow Test kits 
available if requested. 

 
 PD recommended dropping reference to Coronavirus from the 

minutes, the Committee supported the recommendation. 
 
Action: Drop reference to Coronavirus from future minutes.   

  
4.0 Accidents, Incidents and Near Misses  
  

C H-N updated Committee on action taken following the incident 
involving one of the collection crews and an abusive customer.  
Messaging has taken place through the collective communications 
at North and East Herts.  C H-N will talk to North Herts 
communications team about joint messaging with East Herts 
communications team 
 
Action: C H-N  to follow up. 
 

 
5.0 Regulatory and Legislative changes (Verbal report) 
 
 There have been no regulatory or legislative changes. 

 
Action:  
 
- None  

 
 
 
 
 
6.0  Health and Safety Inspections and Contract Compliance  
 

6.1 Shared Waste Service – Buntingford Depot 
  

PD asked on behalf of JL if the work to repair the drainage gulley’s 
in front of the tipping hall had been approved. 
 
GH advised Committee that this was in hand. 
 
Action:   

Page 75



 

 
 3

 
GH to advise C H-N and JL when work will be undertaken. 
PD advised Committee that a new timetable of inspections will be 
planned with Facilities and Property and UNISON. 

 
6.2 Parks, Open Spaces and Play Areas 

 

RP reported that there were no issues of concern requiring 
attention across the parks and open spaces. 
 
Action: None. 
 
6.3 Parking Services 
 

DK reported no issues of concern requiring attention across the 
Parking contract for the district. 
 
Action:  
 
GH to update position at next meeting.  
 
7.0 Capital Project updates/contractor Health & Safety 
Compliance  

 
Hartham Swimming Pool and Gym 
 
ET reported that SLM have confirmed that minor issues on the 
snagging list had been addressed. 
Sport and Leisure Management confirmed that slip risk testing at 
Hartham front entrance has taken place and no further action is 
required. 
 

Vision panel on fire door has been installed. 
 

Hertford Theatre Growth and Legacy Project 
 
No update available. 
 
 Action: None 
 

8.0  Property – Premise’s Maintenance and Repairs 
 

Page 76



 

 
 4

PD reported that the serious area surface defects in the Wallfields 
staff car park had been addressed.  Further works have been 
identified and are being addressed by Property Services. 
 
Action: GH/JE to update Committee at next meeting. 
 

9.0 Facilities Management 
 

GH reported no issues in respect to Facilities Management. 
 
Action:   None 
 

10.0  List of Issues 
 

10.1  Employee side (UNISON) 
Nothing to report. 
 

 Action:  None 
 
10.2. Management side 
Nothing to report. 
 
Action: None 

11.0 Health and Safety Training 
 
PD arranging refresher first aid training and first aid training for 
new employees who will be working at the theatre. 
 

Action: 
 

PD to provide update at next committee meeting. 
 

12.0  AOB 
 

 Northgate End MSCP 
  

In response to the question of Fire Safety Management at 
Northgate End MSCP, Safety Committee have submitted the  
following options to the Interim Head of Operations and the 
Parking Services Team for consideration: 
 

• Opening the top deck during the day to allow parking.  
Arena will close the top deck and stairwells to restrict 
access prior to 11.00pm and unlocked at 07:00am 

Page 77



 

 
 5

• Refer to the Interim Head of Operations and Parking 
Service Team to convene a meeting to discuss further. 
 

subsequent meetings will be required to address some of the H & S 
concerns at Northgate End with the appropriate Head of Service and 
Service Managers and subject to the portfolio holders approval, options 
for consideration would look to close the car park fully at 11pm with 
entrance gate, exit gate and pedestrian doors closed. Which can be 
actioned as soon as appropriate signage, comms and instructions are 
given to the locking security company. 
 

Property are seeking quotes for solutions for floors D,E & F override 
switches, stairwells gates and roller shutters to be able to close off 
Floors D, E & F. This will enable those floors to be closed to reduce ASB 
and reduce the time to sweep the building for the 11pm closure. 

 
• GH advised Committee that Otis are being chased in regard 

to modifications to the lifts. 
 

 Action: GH to continue working with Parking Team to implement 
procedures and processes and to review call out arrangements 
and contacts.                                   

 

 Contract Health and Safety Monitoring and inspection 
 

 The Council receives advice and guidance on health and safety 
good practice, guidance, and information on a wide variety of 
subjects and issues from professional bodies e.g. The Health and 
Safety Executive, Institute of Occupational Health and Safety and 
the Councils insurance provider. 

 
 Following advice and guidance from Protector, the Councils 

Insurer, Safety Committee have supported a recommendation  to 
undertake a root and branch review of contract management, 
inspection regimes and compliance monitoring for: 

• Outsourced contract management 
o Shared Waste Services 
o Leisure Management 
o Grounds Maintenance 

 

• Capital Projects 
o Large scale developments that may impact on the 

public domain e.g., land redevelopment projects. 

Page 78



 

 
 6

o New build or refurbishment projects 
 

The review would look at the following areas: 
 

• Ensuring background checks are undertaken before 
appointing contractors. 

• Inspection and compliance regimes. 
 

The Chair of Safety Committee and the Health and Safety Officer 
will be developing inspection regimes using online digital tools 
available on the Councils software platform. 
 
The aim will be to replace outdated paper-based inspection 
methods with digital tools that allow tracking and allocation of 
tasks and work identified through the inspection process. 

 
Meeting ended: 15.03pm 
 

Date of Next Meeting: O8 May 2024 
 
Time:    10.00am 
 
Location:   Mimram Room, Rivers Suite 
Teams:   Microsoft Teams meeting  

Join on your computer, mobile app or room device  
Click here to join the meeting  
Meeting ID: 311 155 509 546  
Passcode: NkwhFF  

Page 79

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDNiODUxNzktYjgwZS00ZmVmLWJlMjItZjRmYzBhZWJjZGYy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22671b555f-1b74-4a87-a174-b37d2b179b24%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22bd466a1b-61c2-4e83-829c-f11f5c8df84f%22%7d


East Herts Council Report 

 

Human Resources Committee 

Date of meeting: 05 June 2024 

Report by: HR and Organisational Development Service Manager  

Report title: Flexible Working Policy 

Ward(s) affected: None 

 

Summary  

This report addresses the legalisation passed in April 2024, which 
changes flexible working rights for employees and ensures the Council’s 
policy aligns with the amendments explained in the background section 
below. The Local Joint Panel has recommended this policy for approval 
by the Human Resources Committee on 5 June 2024. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee: 

a) To approve the updated Flexible Working Policy 

1.0    Proposal(s)  

1.1 The proposals are set out in the recommendations below. 

2.0    Background 

2.1 From 6 April 2024, the Flexible Working Regulation removed the 
requirement for employees to have at least 26 weeks of 
continuous service to make a flexible working application. This is 
now a ‘day one’ right, and employees can make two statutory 
flexible working requests every 12 months. They have also 
reduced the time limit for employees to deal with statutory 

Page 80

Agenda Item 11



requests from three to two months and removed the need for 
employees to explain the effect of the proposed changes. 

3.0 Reason(s) 

3.1 Given the significant changes above, we have reviewed our 
flexible working scheme to ensure it reflects the new 
requirements. We aim to train managers to handle flexible 
working requests and plan communications to staff to reflect the 
changes.  

 

3.2    We have updated the recruitment request form to capture the 
justification for the proposed hours before going out for 
recruitment. This can, therefore, be referred to if an application 
differs from the hours. 

 

3.3    The current flexible working application process (via intranet) will 
be reviewed to remove questions relating to the impact of the 
new working pattern and the effect on the service and 
colleagues. 

3.4 The policy has been approved by the Leadership Team and 
Unison. 

4.0 Options 

4.1     N/A 

 

5.0 Risks 

5.1 None 

6.0 Implications/Consultations 

6.1 This policy was considered by the Local Joint Panel on 21 May 
2024. 

Page 81



 

Community Safety 

No 

Data Protection 

No 

Equalities 

No 

Environmental Sustainability 

No 

Financial 

No 

Health and Safety 

No 

Human Resources 

Yes – as set out in the report 

Human Rights 

No 

Legal 

No 

Specific Wards 

No 

7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material 

7.1 The updated policy can be found in Appendix 1. 

Page 82



 
Contact Officer 

Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

Report Author 

Emily Cordwell, HR Advisor  

emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 83

mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk


 

 

EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 

Flexible Working Scheme 
 

 
 

 

Policy owner: Human Resources 

Policy date of last review: April 2024 

  

Page 84



Contents 
1.0 Purpose ..................................................................................................................................3 

2.0 Eligibility .................................................................................................................................3 

3.0 Principles ................................................................................................................................4 

4.0 Legal Issues ..........................................................................................................................4 

5.0 The Business Need ...............................................................................................................5 

6.0 Flexible Working Options .....................................................................................................5 

7.0 Process ...................................................................................................................................6 

7.1 Considering the request ..................................................................................................6 

7.2 Making the Decision .........................................................................................................8 

7.3 Multiple Requests .............................................................................................................8 

7.4 Trial Periods ......................................................................................................................8 

7.5 Refusing the Request .......................................................................................................9 

8.0 Monitoring ...........................................................................................................................11 

9.0 Appeal ..................................................................................................................................11 

10.0 Policy Review and Amendment ........................................................................................12 

APPENDIX A ....................................................................................................................................13 

APPENDIX B ....................................................................................................................................17 

 

  

Page 85



1.0 Purpose 
 

1.1 This policy sets out the council’s approach to flexible working 
arrangements which is in accordance with the ACAS code of 
practice and guidance on handling requests to work flexibly in 
a reasonable manner. 
 

1.2 The council recognises that flexible working can increase staff 
motivation, promote work-life balance, enrich employee 
wellbeing, and improve performance and productivity.  
 

1.3 This policy outlines an employee’s statutory rights to request 
flexible working which the Council will seek to support where it 
is reasonable and practicable to do so. (See section 4.2)  
 

1.4 Requests for flexible working may be for any reason and are 
not restricted to employees with family care commitments. This 
policy does not include agency workers, contractors, 
consultants, or any self-employed individuals working for the 
Council.  

 
2.0 Eligibility 
 

2.1 All employees have the statutory right to request flexible 
working on day one of employment. Under the statutory 
procedure, an employee can make two requests in any 12-
month period. If you have submitted a flexible working 
request, you must wait until that one has been considered and 
any appeal has been dealt with, before submitting another.  

 
3.0 Principles 
 

3.1 An employee does not have a right to work flexibly but has a 
right to request to do so. 

 
3.2 The council will try to accommodate requests where possible 

and may also, if appropriate, explore alternative flexible 
arrangements with the employee in order to reach a mutually 
beneficial arrangement. 
 

Page 86



3.3 All requests will be considered as quickly as possible. This will 
normally be within a calendar month of the line manager 
receiving the request. The whole process, including any 
possible appeal against the decision, must be conducted within 
a maximum period of 2 calendar months. This timescale may 
be extended, if necessary, where this is mutually agreed. 

 
4.0 The Business Need 
 

4.1 Although the council is committed to encouraging flexible 
working patterns, some flexible working options will not be 
appropriate for all roles across all service areas. 
 

4.2 Where an instance of flexible working is proposed, managers 
need to consider: 
• the effect of the proposed arrangement on the service; 
• the effect of the proposed arrangement on other 

employees, customers and the council; 
• the cost of the proposed arrangement;  
• the level of supervision that the post-holder requires;  
• the structure of the service and staff resources;  
• other issues specific to the employee’s service;  
• an analysis of the tasks specific to the role, including their 

frequency and duration;  
• analysis of the workload of the role.  

 
5.0 Flexible Working Options 
 

5.1 The policy considers the following options, but the council 
recognises that there may be alternatives, and that the working 
pattern that may suit any particular individual could be a 
unique one involving a combination of options: 
 
• part time working; 
• compressed hours; 
• temporary voluntary reduced working time; 
• term-time working; 
• job share. 
 

5.2 Please see Appendix A for further details on the types of 
flexible working options. Flexi time and home working are not 

Page 87



covered by this policy. Please refer to the Blended Working 
policy on the intranet. 

 
6.0 Process 
 

6.1 Considering the request 
 

6.1.1 The employee is required to submit a request to work 
flexibly using the Flexible Working Request form on the 
intranet. The request must include the following: 

 
• the date of their application, the change to working 

conditions they are seeking and when they would like 
the change to come into effect; 

• a statement that this is a statutory request and if and 
when they have made a previous application for 
flexible working. 

• (optional) the reasons for their request, especially if the 
council’s Equality and Diversity Policy may be relevant, 
for example, if the request concerns childcare or other 
family commitments, religious or cultural requirements, 
or adjustments because of a disability. 

 
6.1.2 On receipt of the request the manager should arrange a 

meeting to discuss the request with the employee within 10 
working days of receipt of the request.  A HR Officer must 
be present at this meeting. This will provide an opportunity 
to explore the desired work pattern in depth and to discuss 
how this might be accommodated. It will also provide an 
opportunity to consider other alternative working patterns. 
 

6.1.3 The manager may determine they need more time to make 
a decision, they will discuss this with the employee and 
agree a time period which may include a timescale 
extension in line with 3.3 above. 

 
6.1.4 Employees have the right to be accompanied at the 

meeting by a work colleague or Trade Union representative. 
 

6.1.5 When considering the request the manager should view it 
as objectively and fully as possible, taking into account the 

Page 88



business needs (see 4.0) and the employee’s current role. 
The manager should take into account: 

 
• the workload (of the employee making the request, 

and the team) 
• options for re-scheduling / re-prioritising work 
• alternative options for flexible working 
• implications for conditions of service 
• financial implications to the council. 

 
6.1.6 Each request will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

Agreeing to one request will not set a precedent or create 
the right for another employee to be granted a similar 
change to their working patterns. 
 

6.2 Making the Decision 
 

6.2.1 The manager must seek approval from the Head of Service 
before informing the employee of the decision. HR will 
confirm the manager’s decision in writing and confirm any 
impact on pay and annual leave as appropriate.  

 
6.3 Trial Periods 

 
6.3.1 All approved flexible working requests should include a trial 

period (usually for 3-6 months) for both the benefit of the 
employee and the service. This is to establish whether the 
arrangements requested are sustainable in the council, the 
impact on the role, colleagues and service(s).   The trial 
period will be agreed between the employee and manager 
taking into consideration the role of the employee and 
needs of the service.  

 
6.3.2 A successful trial period should be confirmed in writing 

stating that the arrangement is now permanent (or for a 
fixed term if it is agreed the flexible arrangements are 
temporary). 
 

6.3.3 If it is considered that the trial period has been 
unsuccessful, the reasons for this decision must be 
communicated to the employee and followed up in writing. 

Page 89



Managers should use one or more of the business grounds 
outlined in point 6.4.2 when explaining their decision. 

 
6.3.4 Employees will have the right to revert back to their original 

pattern of working within the trial period subject to the 
employee giving appropriate notice to the manager. 
 

6.4 Refusing the Request 
 

6.4.1 Managers in consultation with the Head of Service should 
contact their HR Officer for advice before refusing a flexible 
working request. 
 

6.4.2 If it is considered that a post is unsuitable for the specific 
flexible working option proposed by the employee, the 
reasons for this decision must be communicated to the 
employee, ideally by discussion and followed up in writing. 
Requests for flexible working should only be refused on one 
or more of the following  business grounds: 
 
• burden of additional costs 
• detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer 

demand 
• inability to reorganise work among employees 
• inability to recruit additional employees 
• detrimental impact on quality 
• detrimental impact on performance 
• insufficiency of work during the period the employee 

proposes to work 
• planned structural changes, e.g. a pending or current 

restructure 
• other relevant business grounds 
• Working Time Regulations 1998 are not met. 

 
6.4.3 If the employee verbally withdraws the request this must be 

confirmed by the employee in writing.  
 

  

Page 90



7.0 Monitoring 
 

7.1 All flexible working arrangements should be reviewed on an 
annual basis, through the PDR process. Any changes to flexible 
working arrangements once they have been confirmed as 
permanent must be with agreement from both parties. 
 

7.2 All flexible working arrangements are subject to a proviso that 
the employee may be required to revert back to their original 
pattern of working if there are identifiable and significant 
operational problems identified at any time. Such action will 
not be taken unreasonably and will be subject to full discussion 
with the employee(s) concerned and the giving of appropriate 
notice. 

 
8.0 Appeal 
 

8.1 The employee may appeal the decision within 5 working days 
of the decision being notified to them. The grounds for the 
appeal should be put in writing to the HR and OD Manager. 
Please refer to the Appeals Policy for the process and appeals 
submission form. 
 
 

9.0 Policy Review and Amendment 
 

9.1 This Policy shall be reviewed in line with legislation and best 
practice and business needs. 

Page 91



APPENDIX A 
 
Further information on flexible working options 
 
Part-time working 
 
Part time working is where an employee is contracted to work fewer 
than 37 hours a week, the full time equivalent contractual hours per 
annum.  

 
Compressed Hours 
 
Compressed hours is a system that permits employees to work their 
total number of contractual hours over fewer working days. Usually a 5 
day week is compressed into 4 days or 4.5days, a 10-day fortnight into 
9 days or 18 day month (based on a 4 week month). 
 
Temporary voluntary reduced working time 
 
Temporary voluntary reduced working time is a system whereby it is 
agreed that the employee will work reduced hours for a certain period of 
time, with a return to their substantive working hours at the end of this 
period. Pay would be pro-rated during this time accordingly. 
 

 Term Time Working 
 
Term time working is a system of flexible working where the employee’s 
working weeks mirror schools’ term weeks and pay is adjusted 
accordingly. All requests for term time working will be considered 
subject to operational needs.  
 
Term time working will not be suitable for all roles or services and 
managers are required to ensure there is no detriment to service 
provision and the required level of service is provided at all times. 
A term time working employee will be expected to make themselves 
available for key training initiatives or service meetings even if they fall 
during school holidays. Adequate notice will be given to make alternative 
arrangements for those days and compensatory time off will be offered. 
In exceptional circumstances where alternative time off is not an option, 
other alternatives may be considered. 

Page 92



 
Job share 
 
A job share is where two employees voluntarily share the duties and 
responsibilities of one full-time position, dividing the hours between 
them. The full-time salary and leave entitlement are allocated on a pro-
rata basis to each of the job share partners. 
 
The way in which the actual hours of a job share position are divided 
between the job share partners should be decided by the 
manager/supervisor in consultation with the job share partners, taking 
into account the following: 
 
• the needs of the service, section and/or department; 
• any limitations on accommodation, equipment etc.; 
• the requirement for a handover period (the total hours worked by the 

job share partners should not exceed the normal full-time hours of 
the post); 

• if there is a requirement for job share partners to cover each other’s 
annual leave and the service budget needed to support this.  

 
Job Sharing can be introduced into a post in a number of ways:- 
 
• The manager may decide that a vacant role is best suited for job 

share in order to accommodate the needs of the service. It will then 
be advertised accordingly and two separate candidates appointed on 
a job share basis. 

• An existing employee formally applying for a job share arrangement 
to be agreed in respect of the post they occupy. 

• An application being made by one employee/external candidate to 
share a vacant post. 

• A joint application being made by two or more employees/external 
candidates to share a vacant post. 

• Two or more separate applications being made, whether internal or 
external, which can be matched together to form a job share. 

 
Some services may choose to make it a requirement that the job sharing 
partner shall make themselves available to cover their job sharing 
partner’s annual leave. If this is the case the following conditions will 
apply:- 
 

Page 93



• given three weeks’ notice, the cover for absence shall be full time. 
• given a lesser notice period, the job sharing partner shall use their 

best endeavour to attend on a full time basis. 
• only one job-sharing partner shall have annual leave in the same 

period.  
 
The extra hours worked to cover annual leave will be paid to the 
employee as Job Share Allowance (this is plain time rate).  
 
If the employee prefers they may request that some or all of their extra 
hours are used to accrue flexitime provided the flexitime policy is 
adhered to. The manager will consider this request based on the needs 
of the service. 
 
In the case of unplanned/emergency absence, the job sharing partner 
shall use their best endeavours to attend. In the case of long-term 
sickness, the remaining job share partner may be requested to consider 
increasing their hours to cover. If the job share partner does not wish to 
increase their working hours, a temporary job share partner may be 
appointed or other arrangements made as appropriate. 

Page 94



APPENDIX B 
 Flexible Working Requests – Guidance for managers 

 
Line Managers must not speculate on what the outcome will be in 
relation to any flexible working request, any decision must be 
approved by the Head of Service before the employee is informed of 
the decision. 
 
1.  Flexible working arrangements can be beneficial to both employees and 

the council. Keep an open mind and view requests positively and 
objectively as they may open up new possibilities in the way the service 
is provided. Finding the right work-life balance is important for all of us 
in terms of motivation and commitment to our work.  

 
2.  As the nature of the discussion is confidential and potentially sensitive, 

the meeting between the manager and the employee should held in 
private, at a mutually convenient time, to discuss their request. Allow 
sufficient time for the employee to arrange to bring a workplace 
colleague or Trade Union representative  with them, should they wish 
to do so. 

 
3.  Meeting with the employee provides the opportunity to ensure that the 

proposal put forward is the best solution.  
 
4.  The aim of the discussion is to explore the potential benefits of their 

request, the impact it may have on the service and the rest of the team 
and how it might be accommodated. Encourage the employee to put 
forward his or her ideas about how the working pattern sought could be 
made to work, as s/he may have some sound ideas about how the job 
might be done differently, but equally effectively. 

 
5.  Remember that if the working hours reduce, the workload will need to 

be reduced proportionately. Would you need to find a 
replacement/cover or could the work be done at a different time or in a 
different way? Are there any potential costs or savings? Does this 
present development opportunities for others in the team? Consider 
whether the probation period will be affected or need to be extended. 

 
6.  You are free to explore alternative suggestions in order to try to find a 

compromise solution (Appendix B provides examples of various flexible 
arrangements you may consider). You may agree a temporary or trial 
period if you have justifiable reservations, or agree a different start 

Page 95



date if  other measures need to be put in place, in order to make their 
request workable, such as training up a colleague to cover when they 
are not there. 

 
7.  Be careful not to discriminate inadvertently, for example, by being more 

sympathetic to requests from one particular sex. If you receive requests 
from more than one employee do not make value judgements about 
which is the most deserving case. Look at each case individually based 
on the impact on the service; consideration may also be given to 
reasons for the application e.g. if it relates to a disability. Ensure any 
decision is based on justifiable business grounds. 

 
8.  If two or more requests are made very close together it may be helpful 

to hold separate discussions with each of the employees and explain 
the situation. Through discussion you might find a compromise which 
enables you to accommodate all or more of the requests. 

 
9.  If you find you are unable to approve any further requests due to the 

impact on the service, where you already have a number of other 
employees working flexibly, you may call for volunteers from the 
existing flexible working employees to change their hours (some may 
be happy to do so if their situation has changed) thereby creating 
capacity to approve new requests.  

 
10.  Having weighed up the situation, you are under no legal obligation to 

grant the request if it cannot be accommodated. You can turn down a 
request as long as the reason for turning it down is one of the business 
reasons set out in the policy. 

 
11.  Once a decision has been made by the Head of Service: 
 
i.  If you are agreeing to some form of flexible working arrangements, 

inform the employee verbally and send the employee’s request and a 
contract amendment form to HR who will write officially to the 
employee to confirm the contractual changes.  

 
ii.  If you are rejecting the request you may wish to meet with the 

employee to explain your reasons but you do not have to do so. Please 
contact your HR Officer who will help you draft a letter confirming your 
decision in writing to the employee. The written confirmation should 
specify which of the statutory grounds for refusing a request applies 
and should also explain why that reason applies in the individual case. 

 
Page 96



12.  Informal short-term temporary arrangements to deal with personal 
issues, such as reduced hours for a couple of months to care for a sick 
relative, may be dealt with outside of this policy where appropriate.  
Contact your HR Officer for further advice and guidance. 

 

Page 97



East Herts Council Report 

 

Human Resources Committee 

Date of meeting: 05 June 2024 

Report by: HR and Organisational Development Service Manager  

Report title: General Leave Policy 

Ward(s) affected: None 

 

Summary  

A new legislation passed in April 2024 added a statutory requirement 
that entitles employees to carer’s leave. This report proposes updating 
the general leave to establish this entitlement and explain how to take 
paid and unpaid leave to attend to caring duties. The Local Joint Panel 
has recommended this policy for approval by the Human Resources 
Committee on 5 June 2024. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee: 

a) To approve the updated General Leave Policy 

1.0 Proposal(s) 

1.1 The proposals are set out in the recommendations below. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 Carer's leave is a new right for employees that was passed into 
law in April 2024. This gives employees the right to request 
unpaid leave of up to five days FTE per year to care for 
dependents. 

2.2 For more information on the new leave, please see ACAS. 

Page 98

Agenda Item 12



https://www.acas.org.uk/carers-leave 

https://www.acas.org.uk/time-off-for-dependants   

3.0 Reason(s) 

3.1 We propose to add the carer's leave to the General Leave Policy 
connected to our current Dependents Leave (5 days paid leave 
per year to give emergency leave to dependants) and split the 
current pot of five paid days between both types of leave. This 
will allow employees to take leave to support their caring duties 
for planned or unplanned situations.  

 

2.2 The policy changes are in section 7 in Appendix 1. We have to 
add statutory carer's leave, describe the leave in line with the 
legalisation, and explain how to access paid and unpaid leave to 
care for dependents via carer’s leave, dependants leave, 
flexitime, unpaid leave, and annual leave as required. 

3.3 The policy has been approved by the Leadership Team and 
Unison. 

4.0 Options 

4.1     N/A 

5.0 Risks 

5.1 None 

 

6.0 Implications/Consultations 

6.1 This policy was considered by the Local Joint Panel on 21 May   
2024. 

Community Safety 

No 

Page 99



Data Protection 

No 

Equalities 

No 

Environmental Sustainability 

No 

Financial 

No 

Health and Safety 

No 

Human Resources 

Yes – as set out in the report. 

Human Rights 

No 

Legal 

No 

Specific Wards 

No 

7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material 

7.1 The updated policy can be found in Appendix 1. 

 
Contact Officer 

Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

Page 100

mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk


Report Author 

Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 101

mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk


 

 

                                                                                                                           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

East Herts Council 
 
 
General Leave 
 
Policy Statement 

 
 
 
Policy Statement No 7 (Issue No 2) 
December 2019 (updated April 2024, April 2019, 
December 2019, March 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

1. April 2019 - Minor updates made to reflect pay and terms and conditions changes agreed through 
collective bargaining in March 2019.  This policy applies to situations which arise from 1 April 2019 
onwards. 

2. December 2019 - Updated to ensure dependency leave is clear and no longer relies on a separate 
Carer’s policy to provide clarity.  Carer’s Policy has been incorporated and deleted with General Leave 
updated to ensure consistency, changes were not material but have been agreed with Unison and will 
be reported to LJP/HRC. 

Page 102



 

2 
 

3. March 2020 - Updated to ensure a change in legislation on statutory parental bereavement leave from 
1 April 2020 is included.  

4. April 2024 - Carer's leave is a new right for employees that was passed into law in April. This gives 
employees the right to request unpaid leave of up to five days FTE per year to care for dependents. 
Adding the carer's leave to the General Leave Policy connected to our current Dependants Leave (5 
days paid leave per year to give emergency leave to dependants). To open the current pot of five paid 
days to be split between both types of leave. This will allow employees to take leave for planned or 
unplanned situations to support their caring duties. 

 
Contents                   Page 

1. Introduction 3 

2. Contractual Relationship during Absence 3 

3. Granting and Recording Leave 3 

4. Public Holidays 3 

5. Annual Leave 4 

6. Bereavement 5 

7. Dependency Leave and Carer's Leave 8 

8. Career Breaks 11 

9. Citizenship Duties 14 

10. Union Duties 16 

11. Training Courses and Day Release 17 

12. Examination and Study Leave 17 

13. Interviews in Other Authorities 17 

14. Leave for Medical Reasons 18 

15. Time of for Religious Observance 19 

16. Review 19 
 

Page 103



 

3 
 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The General Leave Policy provides employees and managers with 

information on the various types of leave entitlement. 
 
1.2 This policy applies to all employees including Chief Officer level that 

are employed by East Herts Council. 
 
 
2.0 Contractual Relationship during Absence 
 
2.1 Having granted a period of paid or unpaid leave, the contract of 

employment between both parties remains in existence (except in 
the case of a Career Break) and therefore a commitment to maintain 
confidence, trust and act in good faith during the period of leave. 

 
2.2 Employees on periods of extended leave will be required to maintain 

regular contact with their manager and, if appropriate, inform them 
of any changes in circumstance which may affect their intention to 
return to work. 

 
2.3 Employees suspected of abusing the provisions of these procedures 

or fraudulently applying for leave will be subject to disciplinary 
investigation as detailed in the Disciplinary Policy. 

 
 
3.0 Granting and Recording Leave 
 
3.1 It is the Line Manager’s responsibility to consider applications for 

special leave or approving and logging dependency leave and use 
the following information as guidelines (please contact HR for further 
guidance where appropriate and to ensure consistency). 

 
 
4.0 Public Holidays 
 
4.1 Employees are entitled to public holidays, irrespective of length of 

service.  Part time employees are entitled to a pro rata entitlement to 
these holidays.  This is calculated as a fifth of the employee’s 
working week, for each bank holiday, regardless whether this is a 
working day or not.  For example, an employee working 20 hours 
per week would be entitled to receive 4 hours for each bank holiday. 

 

Page 104



 

4 
 

5.0 Annual Leave 
 
5.1 Leave Year 
 
5.1.1 The Council operates an anniversary leave period commencing on 

the date an employee commenced working for the Council.  Those 
employees starting or leaving employment during the year are 
entitled to leave proportionate to the number of completed weeks of 
service during the year. 

 
5.2 Part Time Staff 
 
5.2.1 Annual Leave entitlement and any other leave allowances will be 

applied pro-rata for part time employees based on 37 hours full time 
working week.   For example an employee with full time equivalent 
25 days annual leave (7.4 hours x 25 days = 185 hours) entitlement 
working 20 hours per week will be entitled to 13.5 days/100 hours 
annual leave. 

 
5.3 Approval for Taking Leave/Carrying Forward Leave 
 
5.3.1 All leave is taken at the discretion of your Line Manager and 

requests will need to be looked at in the context of the cover 
available within the team to ensure that the service provided is not 
disrupted. 

 
5.3.2 Managers should try and plan staffing arrangements well in advance 

so that peak holiday periods are adequately covered so that holiday 
requests can be treated equitably.  

 
5.3.3 Where a late request is received, the employee should not expect or 

assume that it will be granted and managers should treat such 
requests, due to unexpected events, sympathetically.  As a general 
rule, however, employees should give at least twice the amount of 
notice that they wish to take as leave.  Therefore, if 5 days’ holiday 
is being requested, at least 10 working days’ notice is required. 

 
5.3.4 As far as possible all employees should take their annual leave 

before the end of their leave year.  Where this is not possible up to 
five days annual leave may be carried forward into the next leave 
year with the prior written consent of their Line Manager. 

 
 
 

Page 105



 

5 
 

5.4 Cancelling Leave due to sickness 
 
5.4.1 If an employee is due to go on annual leave or during their leave 

becomes unwell, any absence will be counted as sickness absence 
rather than annual leave if a fit note is provided.  Employees must 
notify their manager as soon as possible to inform them that they 
are unwell.  Details of the nature of the illness and an indication of 
the expected return to work should be provided. 

 
5.5 Continuous Service 
 
5.5.1 Employees who have 5 years’ continuous local authority service with 

East Herts or another local authority are entitled to an extra 5 days 
annual leave.  

 
5.6 Basic Leave Entitlement 
 
5.6.1 The basic leave entitlement is dependent upon the scale point an 

employee l has reached.  It is banded as follows:- 
 

SCP 4 - 22   26 days 
SCP 23 - 25   27 days 
SCP 26 - 28   28 days 
SCP 29 and above  29 days 

 
 
6.0 Bereavement 
 
6.1 Bereavement of Immediate Family Members  

(Please also see 6.3 Statutory Parental Bereavement Leave in 
relation to a child under the age of 18) 

 
6.1.1 When an employee suffers the loss of an immediate family member, 

for example, partner, child, parent or sibling, the employee will be 
entitled to 5 paid days leave.  Leave may be taken at/or around the 
time of bereavement at the employees request. 

 
6.1.2 If the employee has the same relationship with the deceased as 

described above, for example, having been brought up by the 
person, then the same provision of leave will apply. 

 
 
6.1.3 Managers should endeavour to facilitate any requests for leave in 

these circumstances.  However, if the Manager has any query 

Page 106



 

6 
 

regarding leave arrangements these should be discussed with the 
appropriate Head of Service and Human Resources before any 
action is taken. 

 
6.1.4 There may be circumstances where an employee requires more 

than the 5 days leave when an immediate family member has died.  
In this event the employee should make their Line Manager aware of 
the situation in order to arrange that annual leave or accrued flexi 
time can be added on. 

 
6.2 Bereavement of Relatives / Friends 
 
6.2.1 When an employee suffers the loss of a relative or friend, for 

example, grandparent, aunt/uncle or neighbour, the employee will 
be entitled to 1 day’s paid leave to attend the funeral. 

 
6.2.2 Line Managers should endeavour to facilitate any requests for leave 

in these circumstances.  However, if the Line Manager has any 
query regarding leave arrangements these should be discussed with 
the appropriate Head of Service and Human Resources before any 
action is taken. 

 
6.2.3 There may be circumstances where an employee requires more 

than 1 day’s leave when a relative or friend has died.  In this event 
the employee should make their Line Manager aware of the situation 
in order to arrange that annual leave or accrued flexi time can be 
added on. 

 
6.3 Bereavement of a Child under the age of 18 (Statutory Parental 

Bereavement Leave) 
 
6.3.1 When an employee suffers the loss of a child under the age of 18 

(including parents who suffer a still birth after 24 weeks of 
pregnancy), the employee will be entitled to two weeks parental 
bereavement leave.  The leave must be taken as a single block of 
two weeks or two separate blocks of one week at different times.  
Leave cannot be taken as single days. 

 
6.3.2 Employees can take the leave at the time(s) they choose within the 

56 weeks from the date of the death. They might choose, for 
example, to take it at a particularly difficult time such as their child's 
birthday. 

 

Page 107



 

7 
 

6.3.3 If the employee has lost more than one child, they have a separate 
entitlement to bereavement leave for each child who has passed 
away. 

 
6.3.4 The scope of who qualifies as a bereaved parent for the right to 

statutory parental bereavement leave and pay includes the 
following: 

 
• Biological and adoptive parents; 
• Natural parents of adopted children who have been granted some 

court-ordered contact; 
• Intended parents in a surrogacy arrangement (who must either 

have applied or intend to apply (within six months of a child's birth) 
for a parental order under ss.54 or 54A of the Human Fertilisation 
and Embryology Act 2008 in relation to the child); 

• Local authority foster parents who are also prospective adopters 
under a fostering for adoption scheme; and 

• "Parents in fact" who, for a continuous period of at least four 
weeks before the child died, lived with the child and had "day-to-
day responsibility" for them (but who are not being paid to look 
after the child). 

 
6.3.5 The partner of qualifying parents, who lives with the child and the 

parent in an enduring family relationship, also qualifies for statutory 
parental bereavement leave and pay. 

 
6.3.6 Employees do not need to have a continuous period of service to be 

entitled to take statutory parental bereavement leave or to receive 
statutory parental bereavement pay.  

 
6.3.7 The council will pay statutory parental bereavement pay.  An 

enhanced contractual provision will be made for the first week of 
parental bereavement leave where the 5 day paid provision set out 
in 6.1.1 above will be used to enhance to full pay for the first week.  
The second week will be paid at the statutory rate (e.g. £151.20 for 
2020/21). 

 
6.3.8 If the employee needs to take parental bereavement leave within the 

first 56 days after their bereavement, they can take the leave 
straight away. They do not have to provide any notice however they 
must let their manager and HR know no later than when they are 
due to start work on the first day on which they wish to take leave or, 
if that is not feasible, as soon as they can. 

 

Page 108



 

8 
 

6.3.9 To take leave more than 56 days after their bereavement, 
employees must give their manager at least one week's notice. 

 
7.0 Dependency Leave and Carer's Leave 
 
7.1 Pay entitlement for Carers’ and Dependency Leave. 

 
7.1.1 The Council has historically offered up to 5 days (pro rata for part-

time staff) of paid leave for dependency leave. Starting in April 2024, 
you can use this same paid entitlement for Carer's leave and 
Dependency leave. However, you can only claim up to 5 days (pro 
rata) of paid leave in a rolling year for both types of leave combined. 
Once you've used up the 5-day (pro rata for part-time staff) 
entitlement, any additional leave for either carer's or dependency 
leave will be unpaid. Alternatively, you can take annual leave or use 
the flexible time scheme. Unpaid dependency leave is a reasonable 
amount as described in 7.2.4. Combined total of paid and unpaid 
carer’s leave is defined as a statutory entitlement in 7.10 

 
 
7.2 Dependency Leave 
 
7.2.1 Eligibility to dependency leave: 
 
7.2.2 Employees have the right to take dependency leave during working 

hours to deal with unforeseen/unplanned or emergency events. 
 
7.2.3 The right applies to all employees regardless of length of service, 

hours worked, permanent or fixed term.  
 
7.2.4 Employees are entitled to take reasonable time off in order to take 

action necessary in relation to the types of unplanned circumstances 
set out in 7.3 below. 

 
7.3 What is a dependant? 
 
7.3.1 A dependant is someone who relies on the employee for care. A 

dependant is defined for the purposes of this procedure as an 
employee's spouse, partner, child, parent, dependant relative or 
someone who lives in the same household as the employee but who 
is not his or her employee, tenant, lodger or boarder or someone 
else who is dependent on the employee. If a manager or employee 
requires further clarity on what a dependant is please contact HR. 

 

Page 109



 

9 
 

7.4 When dependency leave may be taken 
 
7.4.1 Employees may take reasonable time off during working hours in 

order to take action necessary to deal with the following types of 
unforeseen/unplanned or emergency events: 

  
• To provide assistance on an occasion when a dependant falls ill, 

gives birth or is injured or assaulted; 
 

• To make arrangements for the provision of care for a dependant 
who is ill or injured; 
 

• Because of the unexpected disruption or termination of 
arrangements for the care of a dependant;  or 
 

• To deal with an incident that involves a child of the employee and 
which occurs unexpectedly in a period during which an 
educational establishment that the child attends is responsible for 
him or her. 

 
7.4.2 These are examples of instances which may require dependency 

leave; however, the council will give consideration to requests for 
dependency leave which are not included above but may require the 
support of the council, manager should consult with HR to 
ensure consistency.   Illness and injury do not necessarily have to 
be serious or life-threatening and may be linked to a dependant with 
a deteriorating condition requiring occasional support.   The council 
will consider sympathetically each individual request for dependency 
leave considering the merits and circumstances of the specific case. 

 
7.5 Procedure for taking dependency leave 
 
7.5.1 The council will allow employees reasonable time to do what is 

necessary in any particular given situation. Employees will need to 
notify their line manager who can approve dependency leave by 
logging it into MyView (the council’s HR & Payroll system) which will 
ensure the paid allowance is managed. Agreement should be 
reached regarding what time is required and for what purposes, 
though it is accepted that the employee may need to alter the initial 
agreement depending on the circumstances.   Each request will be 
considered individually in the context of the particular 
circumstances. 

 

Page 110



 

10 
 

7.5.2 There is no limit to the number of occasions on which an employee 
can exercise the right to take time off; however, such leave should 
normally be for genuine emergencies and unforeseen matters or in 
the case of paid provision for providing care.   Employees should, 
therefore, utilise annual leave, carer’s leave or parental leave for any 
planned absence, as dependency leave is not intended for such 
purposes. 

 
7.5.3 Permission for dependency leave should not be unreasonably 

refused.   Employees who feel they have not been treated 
reasonably in relation to such leave should discuss the matter with 
HR and if it cannot be resolved they should access the council’s 
grievance procedure. 

 
7.5.4 Paid dependency leave should be used to take the appropriate 

action necessary to resolve or deal with an emergency/unplanned 
event which has arisen because of a dependant.  Once the 
employee has had reasonable time to make alternative 
arrangements for care provision, any further planned time off for that 
particular event should be taken as annual leave, carer’s leave, flexi 
leave or unpaid if appropriate. 

 
7.6 Carer’s Leave 
 
7.6.1 This section sets out the statutory right of employees 

to carer's leave to provide or arrange care for a dependant with a 
long-term care need, and other support that we offer to combine work 
with care. We recognise the challenges that carers face while trying 
to balance the demands of caring, work, and looking after their own 
health. As an organisation, we are committed to doing what we can to 
help to ensure that the health and wellbeing of employees 
with caring responsibilities is looked after. The right to carers 
leave does not form part of your contract of employment and we 
reserve the right to amend it at any time. 
 

7.7 Being a Carer 
 
7.7.1  A carer is anyone with caring responsibilities who provides care, 

assistance and support to any other individual who may be seriously 
ill or unable to care for themselves. 

 
7.7.2 Carers might find it difficult to distinguish their caring role from the 

personal relationship they have with the individual they are caring for, 
be it a relationship with a spouse, civil partner, child, parent, or friend. 

Page 111



 

11 
 

Therefore, some employees may not immediately identify themselves 
as a carer. 

 
7.7.3 The activities that carers undertake are wide-ranging, including but 

not limited to: 
• help with personal care; 
• help with mobility; 
• managing medication; 
• practical household tasks; 
• emotional support; and 
• help with financial matters or administration. 

 

7.8  Requesting support 
 
7.8.1 We recognise that caring can be unpredictable and emotionally               

upsetting. An employee may acquire caring responsibilities overnight         
or caring responsibilities may develop over time. We realise 
that caring is a subject that not everyone finds it easy to talk about. 
However, we urge you to be as open as possible about any particular 
issues that you are experiencing to ensure that you are provided with 
the right level of support. In particular, you are encouraged to speak 
to your line manager about your caring responsibilities to explore how 
we can help you with any challenges you are facing. If, for any 
reason, you are unable to approach your line manager, you can 
speak to the HR department. Any information disclosed by you during 
discussions with your line manager or the HR team will be treated 
sensitively and in strict confidence. 

 
7.9 Entitlement to carer's leave 

 
7.9.1 Whatever your length of service, you have a statutory right to 

take carer's leave to provide or arrange care for a dependant if they 
have a long-term care need.  

 
7.9.2 In the context of statutory carer's leave, a dependant means: 

• your spouse, civil partner, child or parent; 
• any person who lives in the same household as you (other than as 

a lodger, tenant, boarder or employee); or 
• any other person who would reasonably rely on you to provide or 

arrange care. 
 

7.9.3 A dependant has a long-term care need if they: 

Page 112



 

12 
 

• have an illness or injury (whether physical or mental) that requires, 
or is likely to require, care for more than three months; 

• have a condition that amounts to a disability under the Equality Act 
2010; 

• require care for a reason connected to their old age. 
 
7.9.4 This statutory right to carer's leave applies to a wide range 

of caring situations, but excludes general childcare, except where 
your child meets the definition of a dependant with a long-
term care need. 
 

7.10 Amount of carer's leave you can take 
 

7.10.1 The amount of carer's leave that you can take is up to 1 week in any 
12-month rolling period. A week of carer's leave is the same duration 
as your normal working week, meaning that a full-time employee is 
entitled to five days' carer's leave in any 12-month rolling period. If 
you are contracted to work four days per week, you will be entitled to 
four days of carer's leave in any 12-month rolling period, and so on. 
You can take the leave in one continuous block, as individual days, or 
as half days. If you are caring for more than one dependant, you do 
not have a separate entitlement to carer's leave for each dependant. 
 

7.11 Notice to take carer's leave 
 

7.11.1 The council will allow employees reasonable time to do what is 
necessary in any particular given situation. Employees will need to 
notify their line manager who can approve carer’s leave by logging it 
into MyView (the council’s HR & Payroll system) which will ensure the 
paid allowance is managed. Agreement should be reached regarding 
what time is required and for what purposes, though it is accepted 
that the employee may need to alter the initial agreement depending 
on the circumstances.   Each request will be considered individually 
in the context of the particular circumstances. We ask that you give 
as much notice as possible when requesting carer's leave so that we 
can plan for your absence. In any event, you must give notice in 
advance that is either twice the number of working days that you wish 
to take as carer's leave, or three days, whichever is earlier.  

 
7.12 Postponing your carer's leave 

 
7.12.1 While every effort will be made to meet your request, we may 

postpone a period of carer's leave if we consider that your absence 
will disrupt the operation of our business. If a decision is taken to 

Page 113



 

13 
 

postpone your leave, your line manager will consult with you to find 
an alternative leave period within one month of 
the carer's leave period original requested. 

 
7.13 Cancelling your carer's leave 

 
7.13.1 You can cancel your carer's leave and take it at a different time 

as long as you let your line manager know before your leave has 
started. You cannot cancel any carer's leave that has already begun. 

 
7.14 Our commitment to you 

 
7.14. You have the right not to be subjected to any detrimental treatment 

(including being unfairly penalised, disciplined or dismissed) because 
you have taken, sought to take, or made use of the benefits 
of carer's leave. 

 
7.15 Other types of leave 

 
7.15.1 The statutory right to carer's leave is intended to be for planned and 

foreseen caring commitments. If you need to take time off to manage 
an unexpected or sudden problems relating to a dependant this is 
Dependency Leave. We recognise that you may need a longer period 
of time off work that goes beyond your statutory entitlement 
to carer's leave under this policy. In such cases, we may agree for 
you to take the time off work as annual leave or flexi leave. 

 
7.15.2 Requesting flexible working 

We realise that flexible working can help navigate the challenges 
of caring while also working. We enable a wide range of flexible 
working practices within the workplace. If you feel that you would 
benefit from a permanent change to your working arrangements to 
help balance your work and caring responsibilities, we encourage you 
to look at our Flexible Working Scheme. 

 
 
 7.16 Further support for Carers/Staff with dependents 
 
7.16.1 East Herts Carers Group is self-organised staff group which meets 

on a monthly basis in staff own time (usually at lunch time) to 
provide support to fellow carers by sharing best practice and 
experiences. The group is open to any staff member to join and as 
well as supporting each other it also works with human resources to 

Page 114



 

14 
 

ensure staff feel supported by the council in line with the provisions 
made. 

 
7.16.2 Other provisions  

As set out in this General Leave Policy and the Family Friendly 
Policy in addition to providing an enhanced provision of paid 
dependency leave and operating a flexi-leave scheme for most staff: 

 
The council also provides enhanced occupational paid leave in the 
following areas: 
• Antenatal care 
• Maternity 
• Adoption 
• Paternity 
• Fostering 
• Bereavement 

 
The council also provides the opportunity to take unpaid leave in the 
following areas: 
• Parental Leave 
• Career Breaks which can be used to support a longer term caring 

arrangement 
 
7.16.3 Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) The council provides 

employees with an external EAP which provides proactive, practical 
information and emotional support to help you to manage and 
reduce the impact of all of life’s events, both at home and at work. 
The service is available 24/7 and is completely free and confidential. 
The service provides a specially trained, legal and information team 
which can help to resolve issues around: debt, legal concerns, 
consumer and care etc. In addition to a helpline/ telephone service 
and online support where appropriate employees will have access to 
up to 6 sessions of structured counselling. 

 
7.16.4 Useful Links: 

• Carers UK: https://www.carersuk.org/  
• Herts Carers: https://www.carersinherts.org.uk/ this site also 

provides links to many other useful sites 
• Hertfordshire County Council: 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/home.aspx   
• Unison (Trade Union) Carers support/news:  

https://www.unison.org.uk/search/carers/  
 

Page 115

https://www.carersuk.org/
https://www.carersinherts.org.uk/
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/home.aspx
https://www.unison.org.uk/search/carers/


 

15 
 

8.0 Career Breaks 
 
8.1 What is a Career Break? 
 
8.1.1 A career break enables an employee with 2 years continuous 

service with the Council to take an unpaid break from work for 
personal reasons and maintain continuity of service with the Council. 
The employee is required to give a minimum of 3 months’ notice to 
commence a career break. With the exception of continuity of 
service, all other terms of the employment contract with the Council 
will be suspended. On return, at an agreed date following the career 
break, the employee will be able to return to the same or similar post 
within the Council without competitive selection. 

 
8.1.2 It is recognised that during an employee’s working life there will be 

times when personal commitments may take priority over work for 
example, bringing up children, longer term care for sick or elderly 
relatives, or pursuing a course of further education. The Council can 
accommodate such personal commitments, where operationally 
practicable, through career breaks.  

 
8.2 What is the purpose of a career break? 
 
8.2.1 The purpose of a career break could be: 
 

• To extend the maternity/ paternity leave period 
• To extend a period of adoption leave 
• To care for dependent relatives 
• To enter full time education 
• Extended foreign travel 
• To convalesce after a period of illness or major life crisis such as 

bereavement or divorce 
 
8.2.3 These reasons are not all inclusive and others may be considered, 

with the major exception of taking up other paid employment. 
 
8.3 How long is a career break? 
 
8.3.1 The minimum break is 3 months and the maximum break is 1 year. 
 
8.3.2 There is no limit to the number of career breaks an employee can 

take providing that they return to work for the Council for a minimum 
of 2 years between each career break. 

 

Page 116



 

16 
 

8.4 Who can apply for a career break? 
 
8.4.1  All permanent employees, with at least two years continuous service 

with the Council, regardless of the number of hours worked, are 
eligible to apply for a career break. 

 
8.4.2  An employee must submit their request to their manager, with a 

copy to Human Resources stating when they would like their career 
break to commence, the reason for their career break and the 
durations of the requested break. 

 
8.5 What happens to the employee’s job?  
 
8.5.1 After a career break the employee will have the right to return to 

their same or equivalent position (in terms of service area and pay) 
where this is available.  However, where this is not available the 
Council will offer an alternative which can include work elsewhere in 
the Council at a different level and pay   The new job would need to 
be a suitable alternative, within the definition used when employees 
are facing redundancy and would be in line with the Redeployment 
Policy regarding salary protection. (see Redundancy policy and 
Redeployment policy for more details)  

 
8.6 Extending or cutting short the career break 
 
8.6.1 If the employee wishes to extend the career break, they must do so 

in writing giving a minimum of three months’ notice.  The Line 
Manager will give consideration to the extension along the same 
lines as the original request and may grant up to one year in total. 

 
8.6.2 There will be no automatic right to cut short a career break but Line 

Managers will consider such requests from an employee as they can 
accommodate, without impacting on service level. 

 
8.7 Contract of employment 
 
8.7.1 The employee will be required to sign an agreement suspending all 

terms of their contract of employment, with the exception of 
continuity of service with the Council.  The contract of employment 
will remain suspended for the duration of the career break.  This will 
not constitute a break in service and general conditions of service 
will apply as at the start of the career break when the employee 
returns to work. 

 

Page 117



 

17 
 

8.8 Rate of Pay/Pension 
 
8.8.1 At the end of the career break the employee will return to the same 

incremental point they were on at the start of the career break which 
may result in salary protection if the post has been downgraded in a 
restructure or an alternative post has been agreed by all in lieu of 
the original post. 

 
8.8.2 Employees considering career breaks should contact LPFA 

pensions for more information. 
 
8.9 Disciplinary warnings 
 
8.9.1 Any live disciplinary warnings will be suspended for the duration of 

the career break and will be carried forward upon the employee’s 
return to work. 

 
8.9.2 Please also view the Flexible Working Policy for more information. 
 
9.0 Citizenship duties 
 
9.1 Elected Members of other Council Authorities 
 
9.1.1 Employees who undertake duties as an Elected Member in another 

authority will be allowed to take up to a maximum of 10 days paid 
leave per annum.  Leave must be used to attend official functions or 
meetings.  Requests for leave must be accompanied by proof that 
attendance is required. 

 
9.1.2 All employees paid on or above SCP 44 are politically restricted and 

therefore, unable to undertake these duties.  Other employees may 
also be restricted from undertaking these duties.  Guidance should 
be sought from their line manager or Human resources.  In both 
circumstances the restriction will be detailed in the employee’s 
contract. 

 
9.1.3 It is the Line Manager’s responsibility to approve and monitor 

requests for time off to undertake Civic Duties.  However, if the 
Manager has any query regarding leave arrangements these should 
be discussed with the appropriate Head of Service and Human 
Resources before any action is taken. 

 
9.2 Magistrates 
 

Page 118



 

18 
 

9.2.1 Employees who are Magistrates will be allowed to take up to a 
maximum of 10 days paid leave per annum.  Leave must be used to 
attend court sessions.  Requests for leave must be accompanied by 
proof that attendance is required. 

 
9.2.2 It is the Line Manager’s responsibility to approve and monitor 

requests for time off to undertake Civic Duties.  However, if the Line 
Manager has any query regarding leave arrangements these should 
be discussed with the appropriate Head of Service and Human 
Resources before any action is taken. 

 
9.3 Court Attendance as a Witness/Jury Member 
 
9.3.1 Employees summoned as a witness or jury member will be allowed 

the necessary time off to attend court.  The employee should inform 
their Line Manager at the earliest convenience and pass on the 
summons document to Payroll for completion. 

 
9.3.2 Any monies received by an employee to compensate for loss of pay 

must be declared to Payroll. 
 
9.4 Court Attendance as the accused or to pursue a Personal Claim 
 
9.4.1 Employees who are attending court as the accused or to pursue a 

personal claim will be required to take annual or flexi leave. 
 
9.5 Active Citizen Duties  
 
9.5.1 Employees who volunteer their expertise for public service may take 

up to 3 days paid leave per annum to attend formal meetings or 
functions. 

 
9.5.2 Applications for leave must be accompanied by proof that 

attendance is required.  Leave will be granted at the discretion of the 
manager. 

 
9.5.3 The definition of active citizenship duties would include School 

Governors, Trustees of Charitable Trusts, Management Committee 
members of charitable trusts, members of publicly constituted 
watchdog organizations.  N.B. This list is not exhaustive and other 
bodies may fall into this category.  

 
9.6 Service in Reserve Forces 
 

Page 119



 

19 
 

9.6.1 Employees who are members of the Reserve Forces may be 
required to attend summer camp on an annual basis.  Two weeks’ 
paid leave will be allowed in these circumstances. 

 
9.6.2 Employees are required to give as much notice as possible for 

annual camp in order for the Line Manager to arrange appropriate 
cover.  Leave may be refused if it would have a detrimental impact 
on service delivery. 

 
9.6.3 In circumstances where a reservist employee is mobilised they will 

not be paid by East Herts Council and should be placed on a Career 
break for payroll purposes to ensure their continuous service is not 
broken. 

 
10.0 Union duties 
 
10.1 Time off to Undertake Trade Union Duties 
 
10.1.1 Unison stewards and officers are entitled to reasonable time off for 

Unison activities in accordance with the Recognition and Procedural 
Agreement 2004.  As much notice as possible must be given to their 
line manager of absence due to union duties. 

 
10.1.2 When the Employer request Unison to attend meetings, the 

employees concerned will be allowed paid time off from their normal 
duties to attend.  Any additional expenses incurred by attendance 
will be reimbursed under the normal Council guidelines subject to 
approval by the Employer before they are incurred. 

 
10.2 Unison Annual General Meeting 
 
10.2.1 The annual general meeting will be arranged in consultation with the 

Chief Executive who should be given at least one month’s notice of 
the date of the meeting. 

 
10.2.2 The meeting will generally be held at lunchtime and Unison 

members attending may credit flexi time up to the end of the 
meeting. 

 
10.3 Executive and Safety Committee Meetings 
 
10.3.1 Unison will hold monthly executive meetings at Wallfields, Hertford 

and occasionally other EHDC venues.  
 

Page 120



 

20 
 

10.3.2 The meeting may commence any time after 16.00 hours and 
employees attending may credit the flexi system until the end of their 
attendance or until 17.30 hours whichever is first.   

 
10.4 Other Trade Union Activities 
 
10.4.1 Managers may allow reasonable time off for Unison Officers to 

attend training courses, regional meetings and the annual 
conference in accordance with the Recognition and Procedural 
Agreement 2004. 

 
11.0 Training Courses and Day Release 
 
11.1 Employees who are required by the Council to participate in training 

events and/or day release courses will be allowed paid time off. 
 
11.2 Employees will not be required to work extra hours to compensate 

for time off to attend Council run training events or courses.  If an 
employee attends a course the time should be recorded in flexi time 
in accordance with the Flexitime Policy and guideline. 

 
12.0 Examination & Study Leave 
 
12.1 Employees who are required by the Council to undertake training 

course examinations will be allowed paid time off to do so.  The time 
should be recorded in accordance with the Flexitime Policy and 
guide line. 

 
12.2 Employees may apply to take one day’s study leave per exam at the 

discretion of their manager. 
 
12.3 Time off to resit exams should be taken as annual leave or flexi 

leave. 
 
12.4 Employees should inform their manager of dates and times of 

examinations in order that cover arrangements can be made. 
 
13.0 Interviews in other Local Authorities 
 
13.1 Employees will be able to take up to 5 days’ paid leave per annum in 

order to attend interviews at other Local Authorities. 
 
13.2 It is the Line Manager’s responsibility to approve and monitor 

requests for time off to attend Local Authority Interviews.  However, 

Page 121



 

21 
 

if the Manager has any query regarding leave arrangements these 
should be discussed with the appropriate Head of Service and 
Human Resources before any action is taken. 

 
14.0 Leave for Medical Reasons 
 
14.1 Medical Screening 
 
14.1.1Employees will be entitled to paid time off for the purpose of medical 

screening as deemed necessary by their GP or any relevant medical 
body. 

 
14.1.2 Employees should inform their Line Manager of date and times of 

the appointment and provide details of appointments as soon as 
practicable in order that cover arrangements can be made. 

 
14.2 Hospital Appointments 
 
14.2.1 Employees are entitled to paid time off to attend hospital 

appointments following referral by their GP or any relevant medical 
body. 

 
14.2.2 Disability leave should be considered where a person needs time off 

every week, every few weeks, every few months or every year for 
medical appointments, treatments or rehabilitation relating to 
disability.  Disability leave should not be counted towards trigger 
points.  Please refer to the Absence Policy for detail. 

 
14.2.3 Employees should inform their Line Manager of date and times of 

the appointment and provide details of appointments as soon as 
practicable in order that cover arrangements can be made 

 
 
14.3 Fertility Treatment 
 
14.3.1 An employee will be given reasonable time off to undertake fertility 

treatment. 
 
14.3.2 Employees must agree their time off arrangements with their 

manager in advance of the appointments and produce their 
appointment card where appropriate. 

 

Page 122



 

22 
 

14.3.3 Employees on flexi-time should record time to attend appointments 
as described in the Flexitime Policy in the section relating to hospital 
appointments. 

 
 
 
14.4 GP and Dental Appointments 
 
14.4.1 Normally employees should use flexi time to visit their GP or Dentist 

or arrange appointments outside work time. 
 
15.0 Time off for Religious observance 
 
15.1 Many religions or beliefs have special festival or spiritual observance 

days.  Employees may request holiday in order to celebrate festivals 
or attend ceremonies. Line Managers should sympathetically 
consider such requests and grant leave out of holiday entitlement, 
flexitime or unpaid leave. 

 
16.0 Review 
 
16.1 This procedure will be reviewed every three years or sooner if there 

are any changes in legislation requiring amendments to be made. 

Page 123



East Herts Council Report 

 

Human Resources Committee 

Date of meeting: 05 June 2024 

Report by: HR and Organisational Development Service Manager  

Report title: Family Friendly Policy 

Ward(s) affected: None 

 

Summary  

New legislation passed in April 2024 has initiated the requirement to 
review our Family-friendly policy, the details of which are shared below. 
We have taken the opportunity to consolidate shared parental leave and 
fertility treatment within this version as they sit better under the ‘family-
friendly’ policy rather than stand-alone. 

The Local Joint Panel has recommended this policy for approval by the 
Human Resources Committee on 5 June 2024. 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee: 

a) To approve the updated Family Friendly Policy 

1.0 Proposal(s) 

1.1 The proposals are set out in the recommendations below. 

2.0 Background 

2.1  The legislation changed regarding paternity leave from 6/4/2024. 
The changes are:  

2.1.1 Instead of taking the entire two-week entitlement in consecutive 
weeks, employees can now separate their leave into separate 
one-week blocks. 

Page 124

Agenda Item 13



2.1.2 Employees can take paternity leave at any time during the 52 
weeks after the birth or adoption of their child. 

2.1.3 Rather than the current 15-week notice period before the 
expected week of childbirth or adoption, employees only need to 
give 28 days’ notice (4 weeks). 

2.1.4 Any dates specified for leave to be taken can be changed as long 
as an employer is given at least 28 days’ notice. This is instead 
of just changing the start date to reflect the other changes. 

3.0 Reason(s) 

3.1 We have updated this policy to reflect the statutory changes 
above. We have combined shared parental leave and fertility 
treatment within this version as they sit better under the ‘family 
friendly’ policy rather than stand-alone. This policy has been 
informed by best practices from Brightmine (previously 
XpertHR) and should be more user-friendly and clearer.  

3.2    The revised forms for this policy will follow.  

3.3 The policy has been approved by the Leadership Team and 
Unison. 

4.0 Options 

4.1 N/A 

5.0 Risks 

5.1 None 

6.0 Implications/Consultations 

6.1 This policy was considered by the Local Joint Panel on 21 May 
2024. 

Community Safety 

No 

Data Protection 

Page 125



No 

Equalities 

No 

Environmental Sustainability 

No 

Financial 

No 

Health and Safety 

No 

Human Resources 

Yes – as set out in the report 

Human Rights 

No 

Legal 

No 

Specific Wards 

No 

7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material 

7.1 The updated policy can be found at Appendix 1. 

 
Contact Officer 

Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

Page 126

mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk


Report Author 

Emily Cordwell, HR Advisor 

emily.cordwell@eastherts.gov.uk   

  

 

 

Page 127



 

 

EAST HERTS COUNCIL 
 

Family Friendly Policy 
 

Policy Statement 
 

 

March 2024 

 

Policy owner: Human Resources 

  

Page 128



Contents 
Family Friendly policy ......................................................................................................................1 

1.0 Introduction ...........................................................................................................................4 

2.0 Who the policy applies to ....................................................................................................4 

3.0 Responsibilities  ....................................................................................................................5 

3.1 Employer Responsibilities  ...............................................................................................5 

3.2 Manager Responsibiltiies  ................................................................................................5 

3.3 Employee Responsibilities ...............................................................................................5 

4.0 Maternity ................................................................................................................................6 

4.1 Maternity Leave ................................................................................................................6 

4.2 Conditions applying to maternity leave .........................................................................7 

4.3 Maternity Pay ....................................................................................................................8 

4.4 Risk assessments ............................................................................................................11 

4.5 Sickness Absence ...........................................................................................................11 

4.6 Keeping in touch days ...................................................................................................12 

4.7 Returning to work after maternity leave .....................................................................12 

4.8 Premature birth ...............................................................................................................13 

4.9 Neonatal care leave and pay ........................................................................................13 

4.10 Stillbirth or miscarriage ..................................................................................................14 

4.11 Breastfeeding ..................................................................................................................15 

5.0 Paternity ..............................................................................................................................16 

5.1 Paternity Leave ...............................................................................................................17 

5.2 Calculation of and claiming paternity pay ...................................................................17 

6.0 Adoption ..............................................................................................................................18 

6.1 Adoption Leave ...............................................................................................................18 

6.2 Statutory Adoption Pay  .................................................................................................19 

6.3 Occupational Adoption pay  ..........................................................................................20 

6.4 Claiming Adoption pay  and leave ................................................................................20 

6.5 Placement disrupted  .....................................................................................................21 

6.6 Returning to work after adoption leave ......................................................................21 

6.7 Multiple adoptions  .........................................................................................................22 

6.8 Surrogacy .........................................................................................................................22 

6.9 Fostering to adopt ..........................................................................................................23 

Page 129



7.0 Shared Parental Leave .......................................................................................................24 

7.1 Shared Parental Leave eligibility ..................................................................................24 

7.2 Notifications and requests for shared parental leave ................................................26 

7.3 Change in circumstances  .............................................................................................27 

7.4 Statutory Shared Parental Pay ......................................................................................28 

7.5 Occupational shared parental pay ...............................................................................29 

7.6 Shared Parental leave in touch (SPLIT) days .............................................................29 

7.7 Returning to work ...........................................................................................................30 

8.0 Fertility Treatment ..............................................................................................................30 

9.0 Antenatal and Postnatal care ............................................................................................30 

9.1 Antenatal care .................................................................................................................30 

9.2 Postnatal care .................................................................................................................31 

9.3 Parental leave .................................................................................................................32 

10.0 General .................................................................................................................................33 

10.1 Entitlements ....................................................................................................................33 

10.2 Annual leave ....................................................................................................................34 

10.3 Pension .............................................................................................................................34 

10.4 Council vehicles  .............................................................................................................34 

10.5 Student loans ..................................................................................................................34 

10.6 Council property .............................................................................................................35 

10.0 Rights upon return to work ...............................................................................................35 

 

APPENDIX 1 ........................................................................................................................................ 

APPENDIX 2 ........................................................................................................................................ 

 

  

Page 130



1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 The Council is committed to treating you with compassion and inclusion. The 
Council seeks to be a great place to work by providing a work environment 
which accommodates family requirements where possible, thereby improving 
the quality of working life. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this policy is to detail statutory and contractual obligations for 

Family Leave and pay including Maternity, Paternity, Adoption and Parental 
Leave and pay. This Policy also covers arrangements for employees 
undertaking IVF. 

 

2.0 Who this policy applies to  
 

2.1 For Maternity/adoption leave and pay: 
• any employee of the Council who has become pregnant, who is fostering to 

adopt or who has been matched with a child for adoption.  
• Any employee of the Council that has recently given birth to a child. 

 

2.2 For paternity leave and pay: 
• any employee of the Council, whose partner has become pregnant, is 

fostering to adopt or been matched with a child for adoption.  
 

2.3 For Shared Parental leave:  
• employees who have elected to bring their maternity/adoption leave to an 

early end and opt-In to a period of shared parental leave and pay instead;  
• any employee whose partner has become pregnant or been matched with 

a child for adoption (subject to certain qualifying and earnings criteria); 
 

2.4 For unpaid parental leave:  
• any employee with at least one years’ service who has a child under 18 

years old.  

3.0 Responsibilities  
 

3.1 Employer Responsibilities  
 

3.1.1 The Council will take all reasonable steps to safeguard the health, safety and 
welfare of new, expectant or nursing mothers, and of their unborn children. 
 

Page 131



3.1.2 An assessment will be conducted on all risks to new or expectant mothers 
arising from their work activities and appropriate preventative or control 
measures will be implemented.  This will be regularly reviewed to monitor 
the individual’s ability to work safely and without risk.  All problems 
identified will be addressed, so far as is reasonably practicable, and all risks 
will be adequately controlled and safe systems of work established. An 
assessment of the employees display screen equipment and workstation will 
be carried out and reviewed as required. 

3.2 Manager Responsibility  

3.2.1 All managers will be responsible for familiarising themselves with the 
contents of this policy so that they can provide guidance and support to 
their staff on maternity, paternity, adoption and parental leave and pay as 
their initial and main point of contact. 

3.2.2 All managers must view all applications with an open mind and follow a fair 
and justifiable decision-making process for all types of Family Leave 
including Maternity, Paternity, Adoption and Parental Leave without any 
undue delay. 

3.2.3 All managers must consider what training or support the employee may 
require to integrate them back into the workplace after a period of leave.  

 

3.3 Employee Responsibility  
 

3.3.1 Employees are responsible for co-operating in the Family, Maternity, 
Paternity, Adoption and Parental Leave procedures and must make every 
effort to attend meetings arranged by management  
 

3.3.2 Employees are responsible for informing their manager soon as possible that 
they intend to take leave/pay in accordance with the requirements in the 
policy. 
 

3.3.3 Employees will be asked to help with the relevant risk assessment(s); it is 
important that any advice an employee has received from their doctor or 
midwife which could impact on the assessment is passed on to the line 
manager or person carrying out the risk assessment(s) 

Page 132



4.0 Maternity  

4.1 Maternity Leave  

4.1.1 Employees are encouraged to tell their manager about their pregnancy as 
soon as they feel able to, especially if they are feeling unwell or work in an 
area that may put them at risk.  

 

4.1.2 Employees need to notify HR of their pregnancy, the expected week of 
childbirth and the date they intend to start their maternity leave at least 28 
days before their maternity leave begins, or as soon as reasonably 
practicable, by completing the maternity leave form (appendix 1). This should 
be signed by the employee, their manager and returned to Human Resources.   
Human Resources will reply within 28 days of notification stating the expected 
date of return from maternity leave.   

 

4.1.3 The original MATB1 should also be forwarded to Human Resources.  The 
MATB1 gives confirmation of the expected date of childbirth.  This is usually 
available from the midwife from 21 weeks of pregnancy.  The council are 
unable to process maternity pay without the MATB1 form.  
 

4.1.4 An employee is automatically entitled to a period of 26 weeks Ordinary 
Maternity Leave (OML) and 26 weeks Additional Maternity Leave (AML), 
regardless of hours of work or length of service, where the appropriate notice 
has been given.  This means an employee can remain on maternity leave for 
a total period of up to 52 weeks. Employees may receive Statutory Maternity 
Allowance, Statutory Maternity Pay and/or Occupational Maternity Pay during 
this period; depending on their eligibility. Women are required by law to take 
a minimum of two weeks leave after the birth of the child.  

4.2 Condition applying to Maternity Leave 
 

4.2.1 Maternity leave may start on any day of the week and can commence no 
earlier than 11 weeks and any time up to the day before the expected date of 
childbirth (EDC). If the baby is born early (before the planned leave date) the 
maternity leave will begin from the day after the birth. 
 

4.2.2 An employee who is absent from work due to a pregnancy related reason 
after the beginning of the fourth week before the expected week of childbirth 
(EWC) but before the date notified for maternity leave, the maternity leave 
begins automatically on the day after her first day of absence. 
 

Page 133



4.2.3 Employees have to be advised that if the baby dies or is stillborn after 24 
weeks pregnancy, the maternity scheme applies.  Where this occurs before 24 
weeks (miscarriage) or there is a termination, the needs of the employee and 
medical opinion will be considered in deciding the appropriate leave (be it sick 
leave or bereavement leave), according to the circumstances. 

4.3 Maternity Pay  

4.3.1 The council operates two maternity pay schemes: 

Statutory Maternity Pay, which is a legal entitlement to a set weekly payment 
(providing employees meet the eligibility criteria set out below) 

Occupational Maternity Pay, which is an enhanced payment made by the 
council in accordance with their terms and conditions (eligibility for this 
payment depends on the criteria set out below).   Depending on the 
employee’s length of service, they may have entitlement under one or both of 
these schemes. 
 

Statutory Maternity Pay (SMP) 
 

4.3.2  Statutory maternity pay is payable for up to 39 weeks during maternity leave. 
To qualify for SMP, employees must have been continuously employed in local 
government for at least 26 weeks, at the start of the 15th week before the 
EDC.  This 15th week is known as the qualifying week (QW).   
 

4.3.3  If an employee is not entitled to SMP, Payroll will issue them with a form 
SMP1, explaining why they are not entitled to SMP and how they can claim 
State Maternity Allowance (SMA). SMA is the same as lower rate SMP or 90% 
of average weekly earnings, whichever is less.  
 
Rates of SMP 
 

4.3.4 For the first six weeks, SMP is paid at the higher rate, which is equivalent to 
90% of average weekly earnings calculated over the period of eight weeks up 
to and including the qualifying week.  
 

4.3.5 The standard rate of SMP is paid for the remaining 33 weeks (or less if they 
return to work sooner).  This is paid at the lower of either the standard rate 
set by the Government or 90% of average gross weekly earnings.  
 

Page 134



4.3.6 Payment of SMP cannot start prior to the 11th week before the EWC.  SMP can 
start from any day of the week in accordance with the date the employee 
starts their maternity leave. 
 

4.3.7 SMP is treated as earnings and is, therefore, subject to PAYE and national 
insurance deductions. SMP is payable whether or not the employee intends to 
return to work after maternity leave.  
 

Occupational Maternity Pay (OMP) 
4.3.8 To qualify for OMP, employees must have completed at least one year’s 

continuous local government service at the 11th week before the EWC.  If an 
employee has less than one year’s continuous local government service at the 
15th week before the expected week of childbirth, they will not qualify for 
OMP, but will still get SMP or SMA as appropriate. 
 

4.3.9 If an employee is eligible for OMP, they will receive 12 weeks half pay after 
the six weeks at 90%, on top of the standard rate SMP (unless half pay plus 
standard rate SMP exceeds normal pay) The 12 weeks half pay is calculated 
using the employee’s pay at the point of going on maternity leave. OMP can 
be paid in two ways:  
 
• Paid as it falls due (i.e. in their regular pay)  
• As a lump sum on their return to work 
 
 

4.3.10 The qualifying week for SMP is the 15th week before the week the baby is due 
but the qualifying week for OMP is the 11th week before the week the baby is 
due. If the baby is born early, before or during the qualifying week and the 
employee would have completed 26 weeks employment but for the early 
birth, the continuous service rule for OMP is satisfied. 
 

4.3.11 If an employee does not return to work following their maternity leave or 
leaves within 13 weeks of returning to work, they will need to repay their 
OMP. 
 

4.3.12 If half pay plus standard rate SMP would exceed normal pay, the 12 weeks of 
50% enhanced pay will be spread over 20 weeks to ensure that the employee 
is not paid over and above their normal salary whilst on maternity leave. SMP 
will be paid as normal. 
 
Casual workers 
SMP 

Page 135



 
4.3.13 Casual workers are eligible for SMP as long as they meet the continuous 

service and earnings conditions. Employees are considered to have 
continuous service as long as they work for at least one day in every week, a 
week beginning on a Sunday and ending on a Saturday. 
 

4.3.14 If there are weeks where a casual worker did not work, this will not break 
their continuous service if the reason they did not work was one of the 
following: 
 

• They were unavailable to work because they were off sick 
• They were taking annual leave 
• The council did not require them to work 

 
4.3.15 If they did not work for the council in the 15th week before the week the 

baby is due for one of these reasons, they will still be able to claim SMP as 
long as they did further work for the council after that week. 
 

4.3.16 Casual workers who are paid irregularly must find their last pay date before or 
in the 15th week before the week the baby is due,  and count back eight 
weeks.  This is their calculation period. If casual workers do not qualify for 
SMP, they may be able to claim SMA. Casual workers should seek advice from 
HR and Payroll if they think they are entitled to SMP. 
 

4.3.17 Casual workers may also be eligible for OMP if they have at least one year’s 
continuous local government service at the 11th week before the EWC.  
 

4.3.18 If you carry out paid work for the Council or an alternative employer whilst in 
receipt of OMP or SMP you should discuss this with your line manager as this 
may affect your entitlement to maternity pay and may be considered as 
fraud.  

4.4 Risk Assessment  
 

4.4.1 Once you have made your manager aware that you are pregnant, your line 
manager will complete a risk assessment for new and expectant mothers to 
ensure your continue health and safety.  This will help to identify whether any 
temporary adjustments to the working environment or role are required. Your 
line manager will regularly review the risk assessments throughout your 
pregnancy and upon your return to work as a new mother. 

 

Page 136



4.4.2 Where a risk is identified Occupational Health and/or the Health and Safety 
department will be contacted by the line manager. If the risk assessment 
identifies: 
- An unavoidable risk to the health and safety of a pregnant employee, or 
- An adverse effect on the pregnancy of the employee, or 
- An adverse effect on breastfeeding  

4.4.3 The Council will act to avoid harm to the employee and their child. For 
example, by considering altering the employee’s working conditions and hours 
(where operationally possible), offering suitable alternative employment (on 
existing salary) or placing the employee on special leave with full pay. 

 

4.5 Sickness Absence  

4.5.1 During pregnancy you will be entitled to sick pay in accordance with your 
terms and conditions of employment and the Council’s absence management 
policy.  

 

4.5.2 Occasional days of pregnancy related illness during this period may be 
disregarded for this purpose if they wish to continue working until the 
maternity leave date previously notified to their Manager. 

4.5.3  Sickness absence prior to the last 4 weeks before the expected week of 
childbirth, supported by a medical certificate of incapacity for work as 
pregnancy related shall be treated in accordance with the relevant section(s) 
of the Council’s Absence Management Policy. Pregnancy related absences will 
not be considered or contribute towards any triggers. Line managers will 
ensure the absence is clearly recorded as pregnancy related on My View.  

4.5.4 If you are unwell following your maternity leave, you will be entitled to sick 
pay in accordance with your terms and conditions of employment and the 
Council’s Absence Management Policy. 

 

4.6 Keeping in Touch (KIT) days  
 

4.6.1 Keeping in Touch (KIT) Days, allow you the right to go into work, undertake 
training or other events and keep in touch with the Council, for up to a 
maximum of 10 days without losing the right to maternity pay.  

 
4.6.2 To facilitate the process of keeping in touch days (KIT days), it is important 

that you and your manager have early discussion to plan and make 
arrangements for KIT days before your maternity leave takes place. Work on 

Page 137



KIT days can be consecutive or not. Any work must be by agreement and 
neither the Council nor the employee can insist upon it.  
 

4.6.3 Your manager should notify Payroll of any KIT days taken. This should include 
the dates and times worked. The time will be paid at your usual salary. Any 
amount of work done on one day counts as one KIT day, regardless of the 
number of hours worked 

 

4.7 Returning to work after maternity leave  
 

4.7.1 If you intend to return at the end of your agreed period maternity leave, you 
will not be required to give any further notification to your Manager, although 
if you wish to return early you must give at least 8 weeks’ notice. Pay during 
maternity leave (SMP and/or OMP) will cease immediately at the point that 
you return to work. 

 
4.7.2 If at the end of maternity leave you wish to return to work on different hours 

your manager will consider this wherever possible. You should refer to the 
Council’s Flexible Working Policy and follow the guidance on applying for 
flexible working arrangements. The request should be made at least 12 weeks 
before the anticipated return to work.  If the request cannot be granted, your 
manager must provide written, objectively justifiable reasons for this and you 
should return to the same grade and work of a similar nature and status to 
that which you held prior to your maternity leave absence.  
 

4.7.3 If it is agreed that you will return to work on a flexible basis, including 
changed or reduced hours, for an agreed temporary period this will not affect 
your right to return to your job under your original contract at the end of the 
agreed period. 

 

Page 138



4.8 Premature Birth  

4.8.1 Where your baby is born alive prematurely, you will be entitled to the same 
amount of maternity leave and pay as if your baby was born at full term.  

4.8.2 Where your baby is born before the 11th week before the expected week of 
childbirth and you have worked during the actual week of childbirth, 
maternity leave will start on the first day of your absence. 

4.8.3 Where your baby is born before the 11th week before the expected week of 
childbirth, and you have been absent from work on certified sickness absence 
during the actual week of childbirth, maternity leave will start the day after 
the day of birth. 

4.8.4 Where your baby is born before the 11th week before the expected week of 
childbirth and the baby is in hospital you may split your maternity leave 
entitlement, taking a minimum period of 2 weeks leave immediately after 
childbirth and the rest of your leave following your baby’s discharge from 
hospital. 
 

4.9 Stillbirth or Miscarriage  
 

4.9.1 Where a stillbirth occurs at or after the 24th week of pregnancy, you will be 
entitled to the same amount of maternity leave and pay as if the baby had 
been born alive. 
 

4.9.2 Where you have a miscarriage before the 24th week of pregnancy normal sick 
leave and pay provisions will apply as necessary in accordance with the 
Council’s Absence Management Policy. Any absences of this nature would be 
classed as pregnancy related and not contribute or be considered for 
indicators or any expectations set.  
 

4.9.3 If you have had a miscarriage or stillbirth, you and perhaps your partner, may 
need time off in the future to attend appointments related to your loss. You 
will be entitled up to 5 days paid to attend these appointments will be 
granted.  
 

 
4.10 Breast Feeding  

 
4.10.1 You should notify your manager that you wish to breastfeed or express in the 

workplace prior to your return to work. You manager will then ensure that the 
new and expectant mother’s risk assessment is reviewed. 
 

Page 139



4.10.2 Arrangements will be made to provide a private, healthy and secure 
environment for nursing mothers to express and store milk (a toilet would not 
be deemed appropriate). Along with easy access to hand washing facilities. 
You will also agree with your manager to take suitable breaks to enable milk 
to be expressed. 

 
4.10.3 Adjustments to work may be required, for example allowing where feasible 

some flexibility in working patterns such as start, and finish times. This could 
include allowing time to travel home to breast feed or express milk, or 
arrangements agreed where practicable to enable the new mother’s baby to 
be brought to work by the baby’s carer during working hours. 

5 Paternity  

5.1 Paternity Leave  

5.1.1 Paternity leave is provided to enable employees to support a partner who has 
had a baby. This applies to the to the father of the child (including adoptive 
fathers), the mother’s spouse or partner (whether opposite or same sex) or 
nominated carer. It also applies to employees who: 
 
- Are the secondary carer for an adopted child, at the time of adoption 
- Are fostering to adopt 
- Are adopting from abroad  

5.1.2 You may take a maximum of 2 weeks leave. To be eligible you must have 
continuous employment for 26 weeks ending with the 15th week prior to the 
EWC or the matching week (either the end of the week they are matched 
with the child for UK adoptions or the date the child enters the UK or when 
the employee wants their pay to start for overseas adoptions) 

5.1.3 You may commence your Paternity leave: 
 
- in a block of either one or two weeks 
- within 52 weeks of the birth / adoption placement  

Statutory Paternity Pay (SSP) 

5.1.4 To qualify for SPP you must: 

• Have continuous employment for 26 weeks ending with the 15th week 
prior to the EWC 

• Be employed by the Council up to the date of birth 
• Have average weekly earnings above the lower earnings limit for the 

payment of National Insurance contributions.  

Page 140



Occupational Paternity Pay (OPP) 

5.1.5 To qualify for OPP you must have 12 months continuous service at the 
beginning of the EWC. 
 

5.1.6 The amount of OPP paid is 2 weeks full pay. If you have been in receipt of 
OPP and do not return to work in the Council you will not be liable to repay 
the OPP you have received.  
 

5.2 Calculation of and claiming Paternity Pay. 
 

5.2.1 Paternity pay is calculated by your average earnings. This is calculated from 
the last 2 monthly pay slips which precede the 15th week prior to the EWC.  
As with maternity pay, if you are a member of a salary sacrifice scheme, this 
may have an impact on your paternity pay. 

 
5.2.2  To claim Paternity leave you must submit the submit a paternity leave/pay 

notification form. In cases of adoption, submit a Paternity leave/pay 
notification form no later than 7 days after the employee’s co-adopter or 
partner is matched with a child. 

 
5.2.3 To claim pay you must submit the Paternity leave/pay notification form at 

least 28 days before you want your pay to start. You must ask your line 
manager to complete their relevant section and then pass the form onto HR. 
At the point that you submit a completed maternity leave/pay notification, 
your line manager will arrange to meet with you to discuss: 

 
• The date the leave will start and end; 
• Whether you intend to take Shared Parental Leave (SPL); 
• Arrangements for maintaining contact during leave; 
• Considerations to the Flexible Working Policy for when you return to 

work; 
• Arrangements for returning to work  

 
5.2.4 When you return to work after new parent support leave you will return to 

the job to which you are employed on the same terms and conditions.   
 

6 Adoption  
 

6.1 Adoption Leave 
 

Page 141



6.1.1 This leave will be granted subject to you providing written confirmation that 
you have been newly matched with a child for adoption by an adoption 
agency as soon as this is given. This should be in the form of a letter or 
'matching certificate' from a recognised adoption agency.  
 

6.1.2 In circumstances where a colleague gains parental responsibility for a child as 
a result of a surrogacy agreement then adoption leave will be granted for one 
parent. If there are two adoptive parents, the other may be eligible for 
paternity leave and the couple must elect which of them will take adoption 
leave as the ‘primary’ adopter.  
 

6.1.3 Eligible employees who are the ‘primary’ adopter may take a maximum of 52 
weeks leave. There is no qualifying period of continuous employment to gain 
entitlement to adoption leave and it is considered a “day one” right. 
 

6.1.4 It is considered best practice to let your line manager know within 7 days. 
However, if this is not practicable, then as soon as reasonably possible, so 
that they are made aware. You must give written notification to your line 
manager of being matched to include 
 
- the expected date of adoption placement 
- the date on which the adoption leave is expected to commence. 
- a copy of the matching certificate  
 

6.1.5 Requests for leave prior to adoption must be made in writing to the line 
manager. Requests at short notice will not be unreasonably refused.  
 

6.1.6 Adoption leave can start: 
- Up to 14 days before the date the child starts living with the employee 

(UK adoptions) 
- When the child arrives in the UK or within 28 days of this date 

(overseas adoptions) 
- The day the child is born or the day after (where a surrogate has been 

used to have a child) 
 

6.1.7 In addition, applicants may apply for paid time off work to attend up to 5 
adoption appointments after they have been matched with a child and prior to 
the adoption for the purpose of making necessary preliminary arrangements 
e.g. attending legal proceedings. 
 

Page 142



6.2   Statutory Adoption Pay (SAP) 
 
6.2.1 To qualify for SAP you must:  
Have worked for the Council continuously for at least 26 weeks up to the week you 
were matched with the child;  

• Give written notification to your line manager 28 days before you intend to 
stop work and take adoption pay;  

• Produce proof of adoption, which must show:  
o Your name and address and that of the agency;  
o the match date - e.g. the matching certificate;  
o the date of placement - e.g. a letter from the agency;  
o the relevant UK authority’s ‘official notification’ confirming the 

employee is allowed to adopt (overseas adoptions only);  
o The date the child arrived in the UK - e.g. plane ticket (overseas 

adoptions only).  
There is no requirement to intend on returning to work. 

6.2.2 You do not qualify for SAP if you: 

• Arrange a private adoption 
• Become a special guardian or kinship carer  
• Adopt a step-child 
• Adopt a family member or step-child 
• Are taken into custody 

 

6.2.3  You will be paid SAP for up to 39 weeks. This will be: 
90% of your average weekly earnings for the first 6 weeks 
Flat rate SAP (Flat rate SAP varies each year. Please visit 
https://www.gov.uk/adoption-pay-leave to find out the current rate of SMP) or 
90% of your weekly earnings (whichever is lower) for the next 33 weeks. 

 

6.3 Occupational Adoption Pay (OAP) 
 

6.3.1 Adoption pay mirrors maternity pay, please see section 4.3 for more details.   
 

6.4 Claiming Adoption Pay and Leave  
 

6.4.1 To claim adoption, pay and leave you must inform your line manager using 
the adoption leave/pay notification form. It is considered best practice to let 
your line manager know within 7 days of being matched with a child.  
However, if this is not practicable then as soon as reasonably possible, so that 
they are made aware.     

• how much leave they intend to take  

Page 143



• the start date of their leave  
• the date the child is placed with them (date of placement)  
• for an overseas adoption:  
• the date of your ‘official notification’ (permission from a UK authority that you 

can adopt from abroad)  
• the estimated date the child arrives in the UK – within 28 days of getting the 

notification  
• the actual date the child arrives in the UK – within 28 days of this date  
• how much leave you want and the start date – giving 28 days’ notice  

 

6.4.2 You must submit an adoption leave/pay notification form at least 28 days 
before you want your adoption pay to start with proof of the adoption as set 
out above. 
 

6.4.3 The line manager will then meet with you to discuss your adoption leave 
as set out within Claiming Maternity Pay & leave section. 
 

6.5 Placement Disrupted 
 

6.5.1 Where after starting the leave, an employee is notified that the 
child will not be placed, or after the child is placed, the child dies or is 
returned to the adoption agency, the employee will not be entitled to the full 
adoption leave period.  In this situation the adoption leave will end eight 
weeks after the end of the week in which the disruption occurred. Additional 
discretionary or unpaid leave may also be granted in such instances, 
managers should contact HR for advice. 

6.6 Returning to work after adoption leave 
 

6.6.1 The Council will assume that the employee will return to work on the date 
specified on their adoption leave form. No written confirmation is required to 
return to work on that day, although they will receive a letter from Human 
Resources to remind them of their return to work date. 
 

6.6.2 If the employee wants to return to work from adoption leave earlier than 
previously planned or later than the previously agreed date they must give 
eight weeks’ notice. If the employee fails to provide sufficient notice the 
employer may postpone the return so eight weeks’ notice is given, but may 
not postpone beyond. 
 

6.6.3 If disruption on the placement occurs during AAL, the employee should give 
eight weeks’ notice, as soon as the disruption occurs. Employees who fail to 

Page 144



return to work after a period of adoption leave or resign before completing 
three months service on return from adoption leave will be required to repay 
their Occupational Adoption Pay (OAP). 
 

6.7 Multiple Adoptions  
 

6.7.1 You will not be entitled to extra adoption leave or pay if adopting more than 
one child at the same time.  
 

6.7.2 If two or more siblings are adopted from the same family within 39 weeks of 
entitlement to SAP for the first child, this will be considered as a separate 
arrangement if a separate matching certificate is issued. Entitlement of up to 
39 weeks of SAP will commence from the date the second child is placed with 
the adopter.  

6.8 Surrogacy  

6.8.1 Surrogacy is when someone else carries and gives birth to a baby for the 
intended parents. If you use a surrogate, the surrogate will be the child’s 
legal parent at birth. You must apply to become the legal parent within 6 
months of the child’s birth to get surrogacy rights, leave and pay. You must 
apply for: 

• a parental order – if one intended parent is genetically related to the child 
• an adoption order – if the intended parents are not genetically related to the 

child 
 

6.8.2 In circumstances where you and another parent gain parental responsibility for 
a child as a result of a surrogacy agreement then adoption leave will be granted 
for one parent. If there are two adoptive parents, the other may be eligible for 
new parent support (paternity leave) and you must decide which of you will 
take adoption leave. Documentation to support such an arrangement should be 
provided as soon as it is available e.g., written surrogacy agreement or solicitors 
correspondence.  
 

6.8.3 If you become pregnant as part of a surrogacy agreement you may be entitled 
to maternity leave and pay dependent on meeting the qualifying factors set out 
within the Maternity section. What you, as a surrogate, do after the child is 
born does not affect your right to maternity leave. 

 

6.9 Fostering to Adopt  
 

6.9.1 Is where a child in care is placed with registered foster carers who have also 
been approved as adopters. The foster carers care for the child, whilst the 

Page 145



child's social worker works with and assesses their birth family and makes a 
recommendation to the Court about the child's future care. 

7.0 Shared Parental Leave & Pay 

7.1 Shared Parental Leave Eligibility  

7.1.1 Shared Parental Leave (SPL) enables eligible mothers, fathers, partners and 
adopters to choose how to share time off work after their child is born or 
placed for adoption. This could involve returning to work for part of the time 
and then resuming leave at a later date. Shared parental leave is designed to 
give parents / adopters more flexibility in how to share the care of their child 
in the first year following birth or adoption. An eligible employee can share up 
to 50 weeks leave, and can decide to be off work at the same time and/or 
take it in turns to have periods of leave to look after the child. 

7.1.2 If you are eligible for statutory maternity leave and pay you may choose to 
switch part of your entitlement into shared parental leave (SPL) and pay 
(ShPP). The following section sets out the requirements for eligibility of both 
of the parents. This applies where both or only one parent is an employee of 
the Council. 

7.1.3 If you have given birth, you are required to take two-weeks compulsory 
maternity leave following the birth of your child regardless of if you would like 
to use Shared parental leave. If you are eligible, you can share the remaining 
leave and pay. The two-week period of new parent support leave will 
continue to be available to partners. 

7.1.4 You can choose to opt into shared parental leave at any time so long as there 
is some untaken maternity leave to share. Both SPL and shared parental pay 
must be taken before the child’s first birthday or within a year of adoption.  

7.1.5 To be eligible for SPL as the mother you must: 
• Be entitled to:  

o Statutory Maternity leave or pay;  
o Statutory adoption leave or pay; or  
o Maternity allowance.  

• Have, or expect to have the main responsibility for the care of the child;  
• Curtail or give notice to reduce your maternity / adoption leave or pay / 

allowance (complete a curtailment of maternity/adoption leave notification 
form);  

• Notify the Council (or your employer) of your intention to take shared 
parental leave giving at least 8 weeks’ notice of each block;  

 

Page 146



7.1.6 Additionally, if you are seeking to take SPL you must satisfy each of the 
following criteria: 

• You must still be working for the organisation at the start of each period of SPL.  
• You must have a minimum of 26 weeks' service at the end of the 15th week 

before the child’s expected due date/matching date;  
• You must have a partner who meets the ‘employment and earnings test’ – they 

have worked for the Council (or their respective employer) for at least 26 weeks 
during the 66 weeks before the baby is due/matching date. This does not need 
to be for a continuous period and may include agency or self-employed work. 
They must also have earned at least £30 a week on average in any 13 of the 
66 weeks.  

• To check eligibility, you can use the online calculator at www.gov.uk/pay-leave-
for-parents .  

• The Council’s application forms for SPL are available in the appendix. 

7.1.7 If you are eligible, you may be entitled to take up to 50 weeks (52 weeks 
total minus 2 weeks compulsory leave for the mother) SPL during the child’s 
first year in your family. The number of weeks available is calculated using 
the mother’s/adopter’s entitlement to maternity/adoption leave, which allows 
them to take up to 52 weeks’ leave. You may choose how you want to take 
the leave. This could be taking it in turns or taking time off together, however 
you must not take more than 50 weeks in total. 

7.1.8 Shared parental leave only becomes available once the mother has given 
notice to end her entitlement to maternity /adoption leave. Once a mother 
has ended her right to maternity leave she cannot reinstate that right and will 
be bound by the decision to take shared parental leave. 

7.1.9 The leave can be taken separately or at the same time, subject to the 
following requirements:  

• The minimum period of leave must be one week  
• The leave must be taken in multiples of complete weeks, and the leave may 

be taken as one continuous period or can be broken down into a maximum of 
three separate periods per parent (  

• Only three periods of leave notices in total can be given by each parent  
 

7.1.10 This means that the mother can return to work after maternity leave and take 
shared parental leave at a later date or dates (subject to the notice periods). 
Similarly, the father/partner can take shared parental leave at any time; it 
does not need to start as soon as the mother has given notice to curtail her 
entitlement to maternity leave or after she has returned to work.  
 

7.1.11 Shared parental leave can also be taken when the other partner is on another 
type of leave, such as new parent support or unpaid parental leave. A 
father/partner could start a period of shared parental leave while the mother 

Page 147

http://www.gov.uk/pay-leave-for-parents
http://www.gov.uk/pay-leave-for-parents


is still on maternity leave provided she has given a binding notice to end her 
entitlement to maternity leave. 
 

7.2 Notification and requests for shared parental leave 
 

7.2.1 The process starts with the mother giving notice to end her maternity leave 
early. The parent or parents wishing to take shared parental leave must then 
give notice of this intention to their employer. Separately, they must also give 
notice of the period of leave requested. 
 

7.2.2 If you or your partner wish to take shared parental leave you must submit a 
written “notice of entitlement” to your own employer at least eight weeks 
(please note that this is best practice and there may be exceptional 
circumstances where this is not possible.  In these situations, a reasonable 
discussion can take place with your line manager) before the start of the first 
period of shared parental leave. The notice should include certain information 
including:  

• Both parents’ names and National Insurance numbers  
• The start and end date of any period of statutory maternity leave taken/to 

be taken by the mother  
• The start and end date of any statutory maternity pay or maternity 

allowance received or to be received by the mother  
• The expected week of childbirth and/or actual date of birth of the child or 

the date of matching for adoption or adoption following fostering to adopt.  
• The total amount of shared parental leave available  
• Confirmation that the mother/father/partner is sharing child care 

responsibilities with their partner  
• A non-binding indication of how much shared parental leave both parties 

are entitled to take, how much you both intend to take and the proposed 
start and end dates of such leave  

• A declaration from you and your partner to confirm that:  
• The mother satisfies the eligibility criteria  
• The father/partner satisfies the eligibility criteria  
• That the information given is accurate  
• That if either parent ceases to meet the conditions of entitlement to 

shared parental leave then they will immediately notify the employer  
 

Page 148



7.2.3 The parents may vary the amount of shared parental leave they intend to 
take by giving written notice to their employers. There is no limit on the 
number of times the parents may make a variation to a notice of entitlement 
to shared parental leave, so long as this is done before the 8 weeks notice 
has been given. If you request one period of continuous shared parental 
leave, you are entitled to take that period of leave. If you are considering 
taking your shared parental leave in multiple blocks, a conversation needs to 
take place with your line manager to agree how this will work.   
 

7.2.4 Once the period of leave has been agreed, written notice must be provided If 
you would like to vary the leave. This may vary the start and end dates, vary 
the amount of leave or change if the leave is discontinuous or not. This notice 
must be given at least 8 weeks before the variation date. 
 

7.3 Change in circumstances  
 

7.3.1 The Council recognises that your circumstances may change after periods of 
shared parental leave have been arranged.  In these exceptional 
circumstances a discussion with your line manager is encouraged at least 
eight weeks’ notice of a change in your planned arrangements.  If this is not 
practicable, then best practice is to let your manager know as soon as 
reasonably possible.  
 

7.3.2 If less than eight weeks before either parent is due to take a period of shared 
parental leave, you inform your manager that you no longer meet the 
conditions of entitlement, and due to any difficulties the Council may face at 
that time, it may not be possible to accommodate this change in 
circumstances.  The Council may still require that parent to take the period of 
leave.  
 

7.3.3 The leave must be treated as shared parental leave and will start on the same 
date that the next period of shared parental leave was due to start. It will 
either end on the same end date, or eight weeks from the date the Council is 
informed of the change in circumstances, whichever is earlier. 
 

7.4 Statutory Shared Parental Pay  
 

7.4.1 You may be entitled to statutory maternity pay/adoption pay/maternity 
allowance for up to 39 weeks subject to the criteria set out within the 
maternity section. If you give notice to reduce your entitlement before you 
will have received it for 39 weeks then any remaining weeks could become 

Page 149



available as shared parental pay. 
 

7.4.2 Up to 37 weeks of shared parental pay will be available to be shared between 
the parents as the mother must take her two compulsory weeks of 
maternity/adoption leave. 
 

7.4.3 To qualify for shared parental pay you must meet the ‘continuity of 
employment test’ and your partner must meet the ‘employment and earnings 
test’ as set out above. In addition, you must also have earned above the 
‘Lower Earnings Limit’ in the eight weeks leading up to and including the 15th 
week before the child’s due date/matching date and still be employed with 
the same employer at the start of the first period of shared parental pay. 
 

7.4.4 If your employment comes to an end while you are still entitled to some 
shared parental pay then any remaining weeks will usually remain payable 
unless you start working for someone else. 
 

7.4.5 Statutory shared parental pay is for up to 37 weeks at the lower of the 
statutory prescribed rate of maternity/paternity pay or 90% of the relevant 
parent’s normal weekly earnings (subject to the lower earnings limit). The 
remaining 13 weeks of shared parental leave are unpaid. 
 

7.5 Occupational Shared Parental Pay  
 

7.5.1 Where you intend to return to work after a period of shared parental leave, 
the maximum joint entitlement of an eligible couple to occupational shared 
parental pay will be as set out below.  
 

7.5.2 The maximum entitlement will only apply where either parent has not already 
received statutory or occupational maternity pay, maternity allowance or 
statutory or occupational adoption pay in respect of the child.  
 

• Where such pay (excluding pay during the compulsory two-week 
maternity/adoption leave period) has been received by either parent, the 
maximum joint entitlement set out below will reduce proportionate to the 
amount of maternity or adoption pay which has either been taken and paid to 
either parent, or notified as intending to be taken by either parent for the first 
six weeks you will receive full pay. Full pay is inclusive of any statutory shared 
parental leave (ShPP). The total amount you receive cannot exceed full pay; 

 

Page 150



• for the next 18 weeks you will receive half of full pay plus any ShPP. The total 
receivable cannot exceed full pay; 

 

• for the next 13 weeks, you will receive any ShPP that you are entitled to under 
the statutory scheme. 

 

• for the final 13 weeks, you will receive no pay. 
 

7.6 Shared Parental Leave in Touch (SPLIT) Days 
 

7.6.1 You and your partner can each work up to 20 days while you’re taking SPL. 
These are called ‘Shared Parental Leave in touch’ (or SPLIT) days. 
 

7.6.2 These days are in addition to the 10 ‘keeping in touch’ (or KIT) days available 
to those on maternity or adoption leave. 
 

7.7 Returning to work  
 

7.7.1 You have the right to return to the same job if you have taken up to 26 
weeks leave (when all periods of leave, maternity/new parent leave/adoption 
and SPL, are added together).   
 

7.7.2 If you use additional maternity leave, you will normally still have the right to 
return to your job on the same terms as before you commenced maternity 
leave. If it is not possible for you to return to the same job because there 
have been significant changes to the organisation, you could be offered a 
similar job on the same terms as the role held prior to commencing maternity 
leave. 

8.0 Fertility Treatment  
 

8.1 Provision for time off during IVF treatment will be in accordance with the 
General Leave Policy.   
 

8.2 If you are sick due to undergoing IVF or fertility treatment you will be 
supported in accordance with the Absence Management Policy in line with the 
additional provisions provided to those who are pregnant. 

Page 151



9.0 Antenatal and Postnatal Care 

9.1 Antenatal Care 
 

9.1.1 Any pregnant employee is entitled to take reasonable paid time off to attend 
antenatal care appointments.  Antenatal appointments are those 
recommended by a registered medical practitioner, midwife or health visitor.  
These can include relaxation or parent craft classes as well as medical 
examinations, if recommended by a medical professional. 
 

9.1.2 Employees must agree their time off arrangements with their manager in 
advance of the appointments and produce their appointment card where 
appropriate.  
 

9.1.3 Employees on flexi-time should record time to attend appointments as 
described in the  
Flexi-Time Guidance in the section relating to hospital appointments.  
 

9.1.4 Fathers/partners have a legal right to unpaid time off to attend up to two 
antenatal appointments.  This also applies to agency workers after twelve 
(12) weeks on the same assignment.  The council encourages managers to 
allow employees to take time off to attend antenatal appointments with their 
partners by taking flexi or annual leave.  All requests are subject to line 
manager approval and will need to be considered in the context of cover 
available within the team during that period to ensure that the service 
provided is not disrupted. 

9.2 Postnatal Care 
 

9.2.1 Following your period of maternity leave if further postnatal care 
appointments are required, paid time off may be given for attendance. 

Page 152



9.3 Parental Leave  

9.3.1 There is a right for both parents to take up to 18 weeks unpaid parental 
leave per parent per child, up until your child’s 18th birthday.  This leave is 
also available to parents who adopt a baby/child. 

9.3.2 Employees must have more than one year’s continuous service in local 
government and must either be the parent of the child, named on the child's 
birth/adoption certificate or have legal parental responsibility for the child. 

9.3.3 The council will endeavour to make parental leave available to those with 
parental responsibilities but who do not fall under the legal definition.  This 
might include foster parents, adoptive parents prior to placement, 
grandparents with a significant parenting role and stepparents. Cases will be 
considered on an individual basis, employees should contact HR for more 
information. 

9.3.4 Employees can take parental leave at the end of maternity/adoption/shared 
parental leave providing they give 21 days’ notice.   

9.3.5 To apply for parental leave employees should write to their Head of Service 
who will forward the request to Human Resources and take advice.  
Employees must give 21 days’ notice before their intended start date. 

9.3.6 The limit on how much parental leave can be taken a year is 4 weeks. Unless 
the child is disabled, leave should be taken in blocks of one week. A ‘week’ 
equals the length of time an employee normally works in a week.  

9.3.7 Managers cannot turn down a request for parental leave, but can ask 
employees to postpone it if it would cause significant disruption to the 
business, e.g. if leave was requested: 

 

• over a peak period of work  
• at the same time as other employees have requested leave  
• when the employee's absence would unduly harm the business 

 
9.3.8 If a manager needs to postpone a request for parental leave, they must 

consult with the employee about a new date and must write to the employee 
within seven days of receiving the employee's notification explaining why the 
leave needs to be postponed and confirming the new start and end date. 
Managers must allow the employee to take the same amount of parental 
leave as they originally applied for. If the postponement goes past the end of 
the entitlement period (e.g. after the child's eighteenth birthday), they must 
still be allowed to take the leave. 
 

Page 153



9.3.9 Any parental leave taken in previous employment is deducted from an 
employee’s parental leave entitlement. 

 

10.0 General  

10.1 Entitlements 

10.1.1 An employee returning to local government following a break for maternity, 
paternity or adoption reasons will be entitled to have previous service 
recognised for the purpose of calculating: 

• Annual Leave  
• Periods of Notice 
• Sickness Payments 
• Redundancy Payments 
• Maternity Leave  

There may be implications on other conditions of service. These have been 
detailed below. 

10.2 Annual leave 

10.2.1 The entitlement to annual leave continues to accrue whilst on maternity 
/adoption / paternity leave.  Where the leave period straddles two annual 
leave years, annual leave accrued up to the end of the first leave year should 
be taken before the commencement of the leave period in order that it is not 
lost. 

10.2.2 An employee requesting to return to work on a part-time contract will 
normally take all annual leave accrued on the full-time contract before the 
new working arrangements commence. 

10.2.3 Employees are entitled to paid leave for each of the bank holidays that fall 
during their maternity / adoption leave and these should be taken upon their 
return to work. 

 

Page 154



10.3 Pension 

10.3.1 An employee who is a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) will continue to pay contributions; however, this will be based on the 
employee’s individual contribution rate of their actual earnings during 
maternity / adoption leave. 

10.3.2 An employee wishing to maintain their contributions or make contribution 
during the unpaid period of maternity / adoption leave must contact Payroll 
before their leave commences. 

10.3.3 For further guidance contact Payroll or the London Pensions Fund Authority 
(LPFA).  An employee with a private pension should contact their pension 
provider for guidance. 

10.4 Council Vehicles 
 

10.4.1 An employee in possession of a council vehicle must ensure that it is left with 
the council before they take maternity / adoption leave.  The vehicle will be 
returned to the employee on their return to work.   
 

10.5 Student Loans  
 

10.5.1 Student loan repayments will continue throughout paid maternity /adoption 
leave until such point that monthly salary does not meet the income threshold 
set by the Student Loans Company.  At this point, repayments will stop until 
the employee is earning above the income threshold.  Employees should 
contact the Student Loans Company for more information. 

10.6 Council Property  

10.6.1 An employee will not be required to return items such as a mobile phone, 
laptop, security cards or uniforms throughout maternity /adoption/ parental 
leave. 
 

10.6.2 An employee not returning to the council’s employ must ensure that all 
council property is returned with their notice of resignation. 

Page 155



11.0 Rights upon return to work 

11.1 An employee has the right to return to the job in which they were employed 
under their original contract of employment and terms and conditions not less 
favourable than those, which would have been applicable to them if they had 
not been absent.  Where this is not practicable by reason of redundancy, an 
employee will be entitled to be offered suitable alternative employment where 
one exists.   

11.2 Suitable alternative employment may also be offered in exceptional 
circumstances other than redundancy (e.g. a general re-organisation), which 
would have occurred if the employee were not absent. 

11.3 The work to be done should be suitable to the employee and appropriate to 
the circumstances.  The capacity and place in which the employee is to be 
employed and the terms and conditions of employment should not be less 
favourable to the employee if the employee had been able to return to the 
job in which they were originally employed. 

 

 

 

Page 156



East Herts Council Report 

 

Human Resources Committee 

Date of meeting: 05 June 2024 

Report by: HR and Organisational Development Service Manager  

Report title: Redundancy Policy 

Ward(s) affected: None 

 

Summary: 

This report concerns the Redundancy policy. It proposes an update to 
reinstate a clause that is not in the current policy but is required to 
protect the Council and public money. This policy was approved by the 
local joint panel on 21 May 2024 and added in the waiver clause via 
Chief Executive to address the request of a Unison representative to 
enable us to cover niche cases. 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee: 

a) To approve the updated Redundancy Policy 

1.0 Proposal(s) 

1.1 The proposals are set out in the recommendations below. 

2.0 Background 

2.1   This policy used to have a clause that prevented employees from 
taking redundancy money and then being rehired. At some point, 
this clause fell off the policy, but neither HR nor the union have 
a record of this change, nor do we have a record of a policy 
before 2009. 

3.0 Reason(s) 

Page 157

Agenda Item 14



3.1    We propose adding the clause back in, as allowing someone to 
take public money and rejoin so quickly is not good practice. We 
spoke to Unison, and the Union Branch Sectretary supports the 
additional clause: Previous policies included the reference, but 
there is no record of it being removed and not included in the 
latest version.  It is common practice in other Local Authorities 
and keeps us in step with public and private sector processes and 
procedures. 

 

3.2 Added into 10.9: 

Employees who take redundancy will be ineligible to apply for or 
be appointed to any roles within East Herts District Council for a 
minimum of six months from the date of their departure. In 
extenuating circumstances, the Chief Executive/Deputy Chief 
Executive may waver this clause at the request of the Head of 
Service.   

3.3 The policy has been approved by the Leadership Team and 
Unison. 

4.0 Options 

4.1    N/A 

5.0 Risks 

5.1 None 

6.0 Implications/Consultations 

6.1 This policy was approved by the local joint panel on 21 May 2024. 
Adding in the waiver clause via Chief Executive to address the 
request of Unison representative to enable us to cover niche 
cases.  

 

Community Safety 

Page 158



No 

Data Protection 

No 

Equalities 

No 

Environmental Sustainability 

No 

Financial 

No 

Health and Safety 

No 

Human Resources 

Yes – as set out in the report. 

Human Rights 

No 

Legal 

No 

Specific Wards 

No 

7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material 

7.1 The updated policy can be found in Appendix 1. 

 
Contact Officer 

Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

Page 159



alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

Report Author 

Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 160

mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk


 

Page 1 of 18   

                                                                                                                          
 
 
 
 
 
 

East Herts Council 
 
 
Redundancy Policy 
 
Policy Statement 

 
 
 
Policy Statement 6 (Issue No 3)  
July 2012 (updated April 20241 2) 
 
 
 

 
1 Minor updates made to reflect pay and terms and conditions changes agreed through 
collective bargaining in March 2019, this policy applies to situations which arise from 1 April 
2019 onwards. 
2 Updated in April 2024 to reintroduce 10.9 

 
 

Page 161



 

Page 2 of 18  

Contents 

1.0 PURPOSE ..............................................................................................3 

2.0 PRINCIPLES ..........................................................................................3 

3.0 AN OVERVIEW ......................................................................................4 

4.0  MEASURES TO REDUCE COMPULSORY REDUNDANCIES ...........5 

5.0 EXPLORING OPTIONS .........................................................................6 

6.0 COMMUNICATION AND CONSULTATION .........................................6 

7.0 OBTAINING FORMAL APPROVAL FOR PROPOSALS .....................8 

8.0 VOLUNTARY REDUNDANCY ..............................................................9 

9.0 APPOINTING EMPLOYEES TO THE NEW STRUCTURE AND 
SELECTION FOR REDUNDANCY .....................................................10 

10.0 REDUNDANCY PAYMENT CALCULATION ......................................10 

11.0 APPEALS ............................................................................................12 

12.0     SUITABLE ALTERNATIVE ................................................................12 

13.0 NOTICE PERIODS ..............................................................................13 

14.0 REDEPLOYMENT ...............................................................................13 

15.0 COUNTER NOTICE .............................................................................13 

16.0 TRIAL PERIOD ....................................................................................13 

17.0 TIME OFF TO LOOK FOR NEW WORK OR FOR TRAINING ...........14 

18.0 POLICY REVIEW AND AMENDMENT ...............................................15 

 

Page 162



 

Page 3 of 18  

1.0 Purpose 
 
1.1 The Council, in consultation with the Trade Unions, will 

seek to avoid and minimise the effect of staff changes by 
endeavouring to find suitable alternative employment using 
the Council’s Redeployment Procedures. Where ever 
possible reduction in the number of employees will be 
achieved through natural wastage. 

 
1.2 Where compulsory redundancy is unavoidable the Council 

will handle the redundancy process in a fair, consistent and 
sympathetic manner in accordance with the Council’s 
policy, under the requirements of the law. 

 
1.3 This policy applies to all employees of the Council (except 

Chief Officer level and above) and takes into account 
relevant employment legislation, ACAS guidance and best 
practice.   

 
1.4 The policy will not apply where an employee’s services are 

terminated in the following situations: 
 

• At the end of a pre-determined limited or fixed term 
contract where the employee has less than two years 
continuous employment. 

• Retirement. 
• Contravention of an enactment (e.g. where an 

employee who requires a work permit does not have 
one). 

 
 
2.0 Principles 
 
2.1 The following principles underpin how organisational 

change will be implemented.  The Council will:  
 
2.1.1 Strive to avoid redundancies where possible and will 

always consider alternative options to achieve its 
objectives.  

 
2.1.2 Seek to retain employees in accordance with the 

Redeployment Policy. 
 

Page 163



 

Page 4 of 18  

2.1.3 Seek to develop our employees to the maximum of their 
potential and to retain their skills within the Council 
wherever possible. 

 
2.1.4 Provide a framework for the process of organisational 

change within which the Council’s changing requirements 
of the workforce can be managed fairly and equitably.  

 
2.1.5 Communicate and consult with employees and Trade 

Unions, keeping them informed about the changes and the 
implications of the changes for the Council and its 
employees. 

 
 
3.0 An Overview 
 
3.1 The following flowchart shows the key stages of the 

redundancy process: 
 

Need to reorganise identified.  

Alternative options considered. 

  

HR notified/consulted. 

  

Formal consultation period with employees and Trade 
Union commences.  

  

Business case to Leadership Team made. 

  

Proposals, new structure and job descriptions finalised.  

Selection process commences.  

  
Page 164



 

Page 5 of 18  

Appointments made / redundancy confirmed. 

  

Right of Appeal. 

  

New structure implemented / Go Live date. 

 
3.2 A more detailed outline of the stages and likely timescale 

for a service restructuring are set out in the form of a 
management planning tool at Appendix A. 

 
 
4.0      Measures to reduce compulsory redundancies 
 
4.1 A range of measures will be looked at to minimise the 

potential number of redundancies where there is the 
possibility of a reduction in the number of posts.  
Consideration will be given to the following alternative 
options: 

 
• Redeployment or retraining of affected employees (in 

accordance with the Redeployment Policy) 
• Restricting the use of outside agencies and the 

employment of contractors and temporary employees 
(where this does not adversely affect the efficient 
operation of Council services). 

• Reduction/elimination of overtime working within the 
section. 

• Review of working patterns, rotas and shifts. 
• Exploring other options such as early retirement, 

voluntary redundancy (in accordance with the Council’s 
policies). 

• Restrictions on recruitment to certain posts. 
• The use of temporary employees on short term contracts 

where the future of a service or role is uncertain. 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



 

Page 6 of 18  

 
5.0 Exploring Options  
 
5.1 Having established that a business/service need has 

changed or a restructure is required, managers need to 
consider the option/s open to them to meet the needs of 
their service and how they might be implemented. This will 
include an early consideration of measures to reduce 
compulsory redundancies. 

 
5.2 Managers are asked to arrange a meeting with HR to 

discuss the proposed business case, new structure and 
new job descriptions (where applicable).  The manager 
should bring draft documents to this meeting.   

 
5.3 HR will advise and support managers throughout the 

process.    
 
5.4 If new job descriptions are required, these will need to be 

drafted by managers, with support and advice from HR.  
The new job descriptions will be evaluated in accordance 
with the Job Evaluation Policy and an indicative grade 
given.   

 
 
6.0 Communication and Consultation 
 
6.1 The Council is committed to on-going communication with 

employees and the Trade Union about organisational 
change and its processes.   

 
6.2 The outcomes of change will also require communication 

on an individual basis.  This will be facilitated by the line 
manager or Head of Service. 

 
6.3 Communication will commence as soon as is reasonably 

practical and updated on a regular basis. 
 
6.4 Formal consultation will commence with employees and the 

Trade Union on the business proposals as soon as is 
practical and will include the 30 days statutory consultation 
period required by law. 

 
6.5 Consultation will provide an opportunity for employees and 

the Trade Union representatives to express their views and 

Page 166



 

Page 7 of 18  

have these taken into account when alternatives are being 
considered as part of the decision making process. 

 
6.6 The statutory consultation period where between 20 – 99 

employees are to be dismissed on the grounds of 
redundancy is at least 30 days.  The 30 day consultation 
period must end before the first redundancy notice is 
issued. (NB for 100 employees or more the consultation 
period must be at least 90 days).  

 
6.7 Whilst the statutory requirement to commence formal 

consultation at least 30 days before the first redundancy 
notice is issued only applies if 20 or more employees are to 
be made redundant, there is a statutory requirement on 
employers to act reasonably if fewer than 20 employees 
are to be made redundant. In such cases the Council will 
therefore endeavour to commence formal consultation at 
least 30 days before the first redundancy notice is issued. 

 
6.8 Formal consultation starts with the Trade Union being 

invited to a meeting with the Head of Service and a HR 
representative and being given the following information in 
writing: 

 
• The reason for the proposed redundancies. 
• The number of posts affected and the likely number 

of redundancies. 
• The total number of similar posts within the Authority. 
• The selection criteria for redundancy. 
• The proposed method of carrying out the dismissals 

having regard to the agreed procedure including the 
period over which the dismissals are to take effect. 

 
 Formal consultation with the Trade Union must cover: 
 

•  Avoiding the dismissals 
•  Reducing the numbers of employees to be dismissed 
•  Mitigating the consequences of the dismissals 
• Selection criteria and method (this will include any 

“ring-fence” arrangements). 
 

6.9 Formal consultation with employees will start with 
employees being invited to a team meeting and/or followed 
with individual 121 meetings by the Head of Service and/or 
line manager.  A representative from HR will also be 

Page 167



 

Page 8 of 18  

present.  The business proposals, reasons for change, 
proposed changes including new structure, draft job 
descriptions, process for selection and appointment will be 
discussed (if applicable).   

 
6.10 Employees will have the right to be accompanied by a 

workplace colleague of a trade union representative during 
any of the 121 meetings throughout the consultation 
process.    

 
6.11 Employees will be written to setting out the proposals and 

consultation process.  The letter will confirm that they are at 
potential risk of redundancy and will detail the timescale of 
the process.   

 
6.12 Payroll will be able to provide estimates of likely severance 

benefits for employees who have been told that they are at 
risk of redundancy.  

 
6.13 Employees who are at risk of redundancy will be able to 

join the redeployment register early and take advantage of 
support available on a voluntary basis.  If employees wish 
to explore these options they should contact HR. 

 
6.14 As part of the consultation process employees will be able 

to request voluntary redundancy in accordance with this 
Policy (see 8.0).   

 
6.15 Employees who wish to explore alternative working options 

such as early or flexible retirement; flexible working such as 
reduced hours should discuss this with their line manager 
and/or Head of Service as part of the consultation process 
(in accordance with the Council’s policies). 

 
6.16 Further consultation meetings with employees and Trade 

Union representatives will be held as necessary. 
 
 
7.0 Obtaining Formal Approval for Proposals 
 
7.1 Following the end of the consultation process, a report 

should be submitted for approval in principle by the 
Leadership Team. 

 

Page 168



 

Page 9 of 18  

7.2 A copy of the report will be given to employees and the 
Trade Union at least 5 working days before the submission 
deadline for the report, so that they may comment on its 
proposals. 

 
7.3 The report will include the comments and feedback 

received by employees and the Trade Union during the 
consultation process (if applicable). 

 
7.4 Should the Trade Union wish to submit a written summary 

as an appendix to the report, this must be sent to the Head 
of Service and a copy to HR before the submission report 
deadline. 

 
 
8.0     Voluntary Redundancy 
 
8.1 Part of the consultation process will include deciding if it is 

appropriate to ask employees if they want to volunteer for 
redundancy. When making this decision the points to 
consider are:- 

 
• Is the manager seeking a reduction in the number of 

employees; 
• Retention of skills to deliver services; 
• Organisational priorities (and the skills that are 

needed to deliver these) 
• Cost of redundancy versus redeployment. 

 
8.2 Applications for Voluntary Redundancy can be made at the 

Formal consultation stage and/or formally when employees 
will be asked to respond to the provisional letter sent after 
the formal consultation ends. 

 
8.3 Voluntary redundancy may be available: 
 

• If the employee is part of a ring fence in an area where 
there is significant pressure for available posts such 
that individuals within that ring fence may ultimately be 
declared ‘at risk’ of redundancy; and 

• If the employee’s release presents no specific 
problems for continuity of services;   

• If the employee’s release presents no specific 
problems in relation to the need to retain an 

Page 169



 

Page 10 of 18  

appropriate balance of skills and experience in the new 
structure; 

• In the context of all of the above, your release is 
affordable for the Service and the Council. 

 
8.4 Employees that are interested in exploring voluntary 

redundancy will be provided with an estimate of the 
redundancy payment that will be payable on receipt of a 
written request.  Employees aged 55 or over, will also 
receive an estimate for any retirement benefits if they are a 
member of the local government pension scheme. 

 
8.5 Applications for voluntary redundancy will only be approved 

if it is considered to be in the Council’s interest.  There will 
be no right of appeal against a decision not to grant an 
application for voluntary redundancy.   

 
8.6 Employees whose voluntary redundancy has been 

accepted will be given notice as detailed in section 13.1. 
 
8.5 Employees may submit a request for an early release date 

to their Head of Service. If a leaving date is agreed before 
the end of the contractual notice period, no payment of lieu 
of notice will be made. 

 
 
9.0 Appointing Employees to the New Structure and 

Selection for Redundancy 
 
9.1 Guidelines on the appointment and selection process 

should be followed by Managers in conjunction with this 
Policy (Appendix B: Appointment & Selection Process).   

 
9.2 In cases were selection is required a management 

selection process may be used (Appendix C: Management 
Selection Matrix). 

 
 
10.0 Redundancy Payment Calculation 
 
10.1 Employees must have 2 years continuous service with East 

Herts Council to qualify for a redundancy payment. 
 
10.2 In calculating entitlement to, and the amount of, 

redundancy payment the Council must count all continuous 

Page 170



 

Page 11 of 18  

local government service (and with other specified bodies) 
up to a maximum of 20 years. 

 
10.3 For employees that have two jobs with the Council.  Where 

they are made redundant from both jobs simultaneously 
their redundancy entitlement will be based on local 
government service (as stated in 10.2).  If they are made 
redundant from one job their redundancy entitlement will 
also be based on their local government service (as stated 
in 10.2). If they are subsequently made redundant from 
their second job their redundancy entitlement will be 
calculated on their local government service provided the 
hours in that role have not increased. If they have 
increased their hours since last being made redundant or 
taken on another role within the authority the redundancy 
entitlement for the extra hours/new role will be calculated  
on their length of service in that role, not on their local 
government service.  

 
10.4 The Council uses the Government’s Department for 

Business Innovation and Skills (BIS) statutory redundancy 
pay calculator to determine the number of week’s pay and 
then multiplies this by 2. 

  
10.5 BIS use the following figures in their Statutory Redundancy 

Reckoner table:- 

• 0.5 week’s pay for each full year of service where age 
during year is less than 22  

• 1 week’s pay for each full year of service where age 
during year is 22 or above, but less than 41  

• 1.5 weeks’ pay for each full year of service where age 
during year is 41+. 

• The maximum number of year’s service with one 
employer that can be used to calculate redundancy is 
20. 

• The Government sets out a statutory entitlement for 
weekly pay.  The limit changes annually in line with 
the retail prices index (up or down) as appropriate.  

• The Council uses actual weekly pay for the purposes 
of redundancy payment calculations. 

10.6 A copy of the statutory redundancy reckoner table can be 
found  on the Direct Gov website 
 

Page 171

http://www.direct.gov.uk/prod_consum_dg/groups/dg_digitalassets/@dg/@en/@employ/documents/digitalasset/dg_177260.pdf


 

Page 12 of 18  

10.7 Estimates of possible severance payments should be 
requested from HR. 

 
10.8 Employees over age 55 can apply for immediate payment 

of accrued pension on dismissal for grounds of 
redundancy. 

10.9 Employees who take redundancy will be ineligible to apply 
for or be appointed to any roles within East Herts District 
Council for a minimum of six months from the date of their 
departure. In extenuating circumstances, the Chief 
Executive/Deputy Chief Executive may waver this clause at 
the request of the Head of Service.   

  
 
11.0 Appeals 
 
11.1 Employees will have the right to appeal in accordance with 

the Council’s Appeal Policy on the following grounds: 
• Their post is not redundant 
• They believe they should have been slotted in/ring 

fenced for a post 
• That the selection criteria during interview / management 

selection were unfairly applied 
• The post is not a suitable alternative 

 
11.2 Employees will not be confirmed in post and notices of 

dismissal will not be sent until all appeals on slotted in/ring 
fenced or selection criteria have been heard as they may 
impact other employees. 

 
11.3 Appeals against redundancy will be heard during an 

employee’s notice period. 
 
 
12.0      Suitable Alternative  
 
12.1 The term “suitable alternative” derives from redundancy 

law, which dictates that if an employee is made redundant 
from a job, but an employer offers suitable alternative 
employment, the employee is bound to accept it, or leave 
and forgo any redundancy payment. 

 
12.2 In considering whether employment is suitable, account will 

be taken of the employee’s old job, earnings in the old and 
proposed posts, status of the post and the employee’s 

Page 172



 

Page 13 of 18  

training, qualifications and skills.  It should be noted that 
some difference between the two posts would not 
necessarily make the proposed post unsuitable.  However, 
the extent of the change is what is relevant, and that can 
only be judged in the particular circumstances. 

 
 
13.0 Notice Periods 
 
13.1 Employees who are made compulsorily redundant will be 

given a minimum of 12 weeks notice of termination of 
employment, regardless of their actual statutory or 
contractual entitlement to enable them to make full use of 
the Redeployment Procedure and identify alternative 
employment within the Council. (N.B. If the member of 
employees has a contractual entitlement to more than 12 
weeks notice they will receive their contractual entitlement.) 

 
13.2 Employees whose voluntary redundancy has been 

accepted will be given the same notice period as set out in 
13.1.  

 
  
14.0 Redeployment 
 
14.1   Full details of the application of the Redeployment 

Procedure to employees under notice of redundancy are 
set out in the Redeployment Policy.  

 
 
15.0 Counter Notice 
 
15.1 If an employee finds employment with another employer 

during their notice period they may wish to terminate their 
contract earlier than the date on which their notice will 
expire. To do this they have to give the Council written 
notice to terminate the contract early; this is known as 
“Counter Notice”. 

 
15.2 The Council will, in the majority of cases, agree to such 

requests. There are, however, some specific employment 
law considerations that will need to be taken into account 
and managers who receive a written counter notice must 
contact HR for advice. 

 

Page 173



 

Page 14 of 18  

 
16.0 Trial Period 
 
16.1 Employees under notice of redundancy have a statutory 

entitlement to a four-week trial period in a job offered as 
suitable alternative employment. The trial period allows 
both the employee and the employer to assess the 
suitability of the offer of alternative employment. 

 
16.2 The statutory four-week trial period may be extended only 

for the purpose of training the employee to do the job and 
the length of the trial period must be determined at the 
outset. The Trial Period can only be extended once it has 
been started by mutual consent.   

 
16.3 Where the trial period is successful, the employee will not 

be entitled to receive a statutory redundancy payment, as 
there will have been no termination of employment and 
hence no redundancy.  If, during or at the end of the initial 
agreed trial period, either the employer or the employee 
concludes that the job is not suitable for the employee, the 
position reverts back to that of redundancy and the 
employee's employment will terminate (assuming no other 
suitable alternative job is available). The employee will 
need to demonstrate why they cannot with suitable training, 
undertake the role.  The date of the redundancy for the 
purposes of calculating statutory redundancy pay in these 
circumstances is the date on which the employee's original 
job ended, and not the date of termination of employment 
after the trial period. 

 
16.4 The trial period can last beyond the date of dismissal and, if 

a suitable vacancy is identified very near the dismissal 
date, the trial period can start after the old contract has 
ended. 

 
 
17.0 Time Off to Look for New Work or for Training 
 
17.1 Managers must allow their employees a reasonable 

amount of time off to look for new employment or for 
training during the notice period.  Requests for time off will 
have to be assessed on a case by case basis but some 
latitude should be extended to this group of employees 
during what is a very difficult period. HR will advise. 

Page 174



 

Page 15 of 18  

 
17.2 The sort of activities for which requests for time off will 

receive favourable consideration will include: 
 

• Completing an application form 
• Attending career counselling 
• Registering with employment agencies 
• Conducting internet searches at work 
• Attending interviews. 

 
 This is not an exhaustive list. 
 
17.3 Employees that find new employment with Local 

Government (or an organisation on the modification order) 
within 4 weeks of their termination date will be required to 
return their redundancy pay. 

 
 
18.0 Policy Review and Amendment 
 
18.1 This Policy shall be reviewed after three years or sooner in 

line with legislation and best practice to reflect the best 
possible level of support and management. 
 

Page 175



 

Page 16 of 18  

 
Appendix A  
 
Key Steps in Redundancy 
 
The following table sets out the possible actions in implementing 
organisational change. Not all change initiatives will involve all of the 
steps and larger restructurings will inevitably take longer to take through 
them. A major restructuring could easily take over 6 months to 
implement. Thinking through how your change initiative is likely to 
proceed will allow you to plot the likely time-line. 

 
Key Action Associated Actions Likely 

Timescale 
Need to 
restructure 
identified and 
alternative 
options 
developed. 

• Define business case for changes 
• Identify objectives of new structure. 
• Identify savings and impact on employees. 
• Discuss proposals with HR. 

1 week to 1 
month 
 
 

Notify/consult HR This may have been started at the previous stage 
– but needs to go further. HR will need to: 
• Confirm the extent of any possible 

redundancies and advise on any legal 
requirements. 

• Review draft job descriptions and person 
specifications. 

• Do indicative JE’s to ensure that grades being 
sought reflect duties 

• Outline consultation process. 
• Identify any potential problems with 

consultation (e.g. employees on maternity 
leave) and identify how they will be addressed. 

• Discuss options for selection criteria and 
processes – whilst these will be subject to 
consultation with employees and trade union 
during Formal consultation, it is important for 
management to be clear about their 
preferences and the reasons for those 
preferences early in the process. 

• If management selection is the preferred option 
confirm the availability and quality of 
management information on which to base 
decisions using the Management Selection 
Criteria template. 

2 weeks to 1 
month 

Commence 
Formal 
consultation with 
employees and 
TU. 

Commence formal consultation 
• Set a date for the first meeting – tie in with 1-2-

1 meetings with affected employees and 
general employees meeting immediately 
following TU meeting 

30 days 
minimum 

Page 176



 

Page 17 of 18  

Key Action Associated Actions Likely 
Timescale 

• Send “at risk” letters to employees potentially 
facing redundancy. 

• Send s188 letter to TUs. 
• Invite TU reps to further consultative meetings 

– number of meetings will vary depending on 
the nature and effects of the restructuring. 

• Work out likely timetable for the selection 
process and, if redundancies seem likely, any 
appeals. 

• Consider Voluntary redundancy requests. 
• Ensure that all suggestions from employees 

and TU are responded to with explanations. 
New structure 
finalised and 
approved 

• Write report for Leadership Team identifying 
reasons for change, proposals and costs. 

• Send copy of report to TU and employees 5 
working days before the submission report 
deadline 

• Leadership Team consider and approve. 
• New job descriptions evaluated in accordance 

with Policy. 

3 weeks 

Finalise selection 
criteria and 
method 

• Write to employees and trade Union on the 
conclusion of the consultation process.  
Conforming new structure, job descriptions, 
grades and selection process. 

• Consider Voluntary redundancy requests. 
• Follow appointment and selection process 
• Ensure that all employees are aware of how the 

selection process will operate, what the 
timetable is and if they need to do anything to 
ensure that they are considered 

1 week 

Implement new 
structure 

• Make selection decisions 
• Decide how you will manage the crossover 

period 
• Tell employees in writing 
• Hold meetings with employees and advise 

them of the outcome in writing, including rights 
of appeal 

• If appeals are received, advise HR and CE and 
comply with requirements for exchange of 
documentation before appeal hearing 

• Once all appeals have been heard, confirm 
final decisions in writing, giving notice of 
termination to unsuccessful employees 

• Determine what action is necessary to ensure 
that all employees are aware of their new roles 
in the new organisation. 

• Consider team-building and training initiatives 
necessary to maximise the potential for 
successful change. 

1 to 2 months 

Page 177



 

Page 18 of 18  

 
 

Page 178



East Herts Council Report 

 

Human Resources Committee 

Date of meeting: 05 June 2024 

Report by: HR and Organisational Development Service Manager  

Report title: Volunteering Policy 

Ward(s) affected: None 

 

Summary  

This report outlines the need for a volunteering policy to allow the BEAM 
to run effectively. It updates an old policy and recommends the adoption 
of the new policy. The Local Joint Panel has recommended this policy for 
approval by the Human Resources Committee on 5 June 2024. 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee: 

a) To approve the updated Volunteering Policy 

1.0 Proposal(s) 

1.1 The proposals are set out in the recommendations below. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 The council currently has a Volunteering Policy that covers the 
use of volunteers on a council-wide basis. In practice, the only 
volunteers the council has used for years now have been at 
the old theatre.  
 

3.0 Reason(s) 

3.1 The BEAM’s Hospitality and Operations Manager has worked with 
HR to update the policy to make it specific to BEAM. They need 
to recruit new volunteers for the BEAM’s opening in early June 

Page 179

Agenda Item 15



and use this policy as part of the recruitment pack when 
advertising.  

3.2 The policy has been approved by the Leadership Team and 
Unison. 

4.0 Options 

4.1     N/A 

5.0 Risks 

5.1 None 

6.0 Implications/Consultations 

6.1 This policy was considered by the Local Joint Panel on 21 
May 2024. Unison enquired about minimum age of volunteers 
being reduced to allow for 16+ students to volunteer, but BEAM 
isn’t currently able to accommodate this operationally. We hope in 
the future, once operations are established, we could 
accommodate this.  

Community Safety 

No 

Data Protection 

No 

Equalities 

No 

Environmental Sustainability 

No 

Financial 

No 

Health and Safety 

Page 180



No 

Human Resources 

Yes – as set out in the report 

Human Rights 

No 

Legal 

No 

Specific Wards 

No 

7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material 

7.1 The updated policy can be found at Appendix 1. 

 
Contact Officer 

Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager 

alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk  

Report Author 

Claire Kirby, Human Resources Officer 

claire.kirby@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 181

mailto:alex.wanless@eastherts.gov.uk


1 
 

Volunteering Policy 

Beam Hertford 

Introduction 
This policy has been written to demonstrate BEAM’s commitment to its volunteer programme and 
to individual volunteers. It ensures fairness and consistency in managing volunteers and helps 
volunteers know where they stand and how they can expect to be treated.  The policy does not refer 
to the specific current volunteering role requirements to enable the scope of new volunteering 
opportunities to be included within this policy in the future.   

A volunteer is a person who gives freely of his/her/their time, skills, and experience without 
expectation of financial reward. Volunteering can take many forms. Some tasks require skills 
whereas others require none. Volunteering may be for a limited time to complete a particular 
project or may be on an ongoing basis. 

BEAM recognises the immense benefits that volunteers provide, and the bridges that they build 
between BEAM and the local community. In return BEAM hopes to give its volunteers an 
opportunity to exercise their skills in a different environment and to undertake new experiences. 

BEAM tries to offer a range of volunteering opportunities and, in accordance with East Herts District 
Councils equal opportunities and diversity policies, to ensure that the opportunity to volunteer is 
widely available. 

 
1. The importance of volunteers to BEAM   

 
1.1. Volunteers are invaluable to BEAM as they enable us to deliver our programme of work that 

would not otherwise be possible. Working with volunteers provides an opportunity for 
BEAM to engage on a deeper level with our visitors and community to provide a first-class 
experience for all. 
 

1.2. BEAM welcomes the contribution made by volunteers and is committed to encouraging a 
diverse and inclusive volunteering programme where possible.  

 
1.3. Volunteers will be managed by the Hospitality and Operations Manager, supported by the 

wider BEAM team. 
 

1.4. Our Volunteering Values, are complementary values to help guide us and shape an engaging 
and appropriate volunteering experience.   

 
Inclusive It is welcoming and accessible to all. 

Flexible  It takes into account how people who volunteer can give their time  
and fits around their circumstances. 

 
Impactful  It makes a positive difference. 
 
Connected It gives people a sense of connection to others, a cause and/or an 

organisation. 
 

Page 182



2 
 

Balanced  It doesn’t overburden those who volunteer with unnecessary 
processes and priorities. 

 
Enjoyable It provides enjoyment and people feel good about what they are 

doing. 
 
Voluntary  It is the volunteer who has freely chosen to do it. 
 
Meaningful It resonates with people’s lives and interests. 

 
1.5. This policy will be underpinned by guidance which will provide greater detail on different 

aspects of the volunteer journey and how we will work together to create an inclusive and 
appropriate volunteering experience.   

 
 

2.  Our Volunteering Programme 
 
2.1. All volunteers fall under the management of the Hospitality and Operations Manager 

supported by department heads who will act as the volunteer key contact for their 
respective department. Department heads will be responsible for the overall experience for 
the volunteers which work within their teams. 
 

 
2.2. Our volunteering community comprises of the following groups: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2.3. We will seek to develop and deliver volunteering opportunities for tasks to be undertaken 
in ways which will provide identifiable benefits and motivation for potential volunteers. 
Department Heads will also discuss individual volunteer requirements to ensure that 
volunteers feel adequately supported in their role throughout their time as a volunteer.  
 
 

Hospitality & Operations Manager

VOLUNTEER PROGRAMME & VOLUNTEERS 

Technical & 
Production Manager

Marketing & 
Communications 

Manager

Welcome Team 
Volunteers

Technical Team 
Volunteers

Marketing Team 
Volunteers

Page 183



3 
 

2.4. Department Heads are responsible for the day to day running of the volunteer activity and the 
volunteers within their teams. Department Heads are expected to have a good understanding of 
BEAM policy and practice and work with the Hospitality and Operations Manager to ensure 
these are followed. 
 
The Hospitality and Operations Manager will be available to provide advice and guidance on 
the following areas: 
 

• Role and Activity development 
• Recruitment 
• Selection 
• Training 
• Support and Supervision 
• Dealing with concerns, issues, and problems 
 

2.5. Support for Department Heads 
Department heads play a major role organising and leading teams of volunteers across the 
venue.  We are committed to providing the necessary support to those volunteers in that 
role to ensure they can deliver that role safely. 
  
All Department Heads will be provided with information and guidance about their role 
including a Role Description. 
  
Department Heads will provide advice and guidance on the following areas: 

• Volunteering role and activity delivery  
• Recruiting and welcoming new volunteers into the team 
• Dealing with concerns, issues and problems 
 

The Hospitality and Operations Manager is available to provide support on the following 
areas: 

• BEAM wide policy and practices. 
• Role of the Department Head in relation to managing volunteers 
• Dealing with concerns, issues, and problems 
 
 

3. The relationship between BEAM and our volunteers  
 
A volunteer is not an employee and will not have a contract of employment with BEAM.  
BEAM will agree a role, with the volunteer and there will be an expectation that the volunteer 
will meet the role's requirements and that BEAM will provide work for the volunteer. However, 
the volunteer is free to refuse to fulfil the role and BEAM is not bound to provide the work. 
BEAM and the volunteer will endeavour to give as much notice as possible if unable to meet 
these expectations, however either party can terminate the agreement with or without notice at 
any time. 

 
3.1. The relationship of a volunteer to BEAM is one bound by trust, mutual understanding and 

benefit; it is a ‘gift’ relationship, with time given freely and willingly, without expectation of 

Page 184



4 
 

financial reward by the volunteer. Neither we nor the volunteer regard the relationship as a 
contract of employment.  
 

3.2. No enforceable obligation, contractual or otherwise, can be imposed on the volunteer to 
attend, give or be set a minimum amount of time or carry out the tasks provided. Likewise 
we cannot be compelled to provide regular work or benefit for any activity undertaken.  
 

3.3. The relationship is based on the principle that volunteers add value to our work by 
performing a wide range of roles, and by contributing specialist skills and a flexible 
approach.  

 
Although volunteers offer time freely and willingly and without binding obligation, there is a 
presumption of mutual support and reliability.  
 

3.4. We will provide guidance on expectations.   
 

3.5. BEAM will agree working practices and procedures for all volunteering activity, with Staff 
and Department Heads to ensure all requirements of the volunteer experience and journey 
are completed efficiently and effectively.    

 
4.  Volunteering agreement 

The volunteer will be invited to enter into a volunteering agreement with the BEAM (East Herts 
District). This agreement will identify:  

• the volunteer's role; 
• the training that the volunteer is expected to undertake. 
• the insurance cover that will be provided for the volunteer. 
• who will supervise the volunteer. 
• the notice that will be given to a volunteer if his/her role is to come to an end. 

 
5.0  Dress Code 

Volunteers are requested to present themselves in a smart but casual manner (no trainers or 
logo t-shirts). Branded volunteer t-shirts/polo’s will be provided by the venue. 

 
6.0 Principles for volunteer management  

 
6.1 This policy sets out the broad principles of volunteering at BEAM and forms the foundation 

for good-practice volunteer management across the organisation. 
 
Fundamentally:  

• We will always aim for fair and equal treatment for all volunteers.  
• We aim to match volunteers with suitable projects so that we gain from the 

activities of the volunteers and the volunteers gain from working with us.  
• Each volunteer will be appointed by the Hospitality and Operations Manager 

and Department Heads to guide and advise them in their tasks.  
• We will provide clear, up to date Volunteer role descriptions, so expectations 

are managed appropriately. 
• We will provide and maintain necessary documents (including policies, 

procedures and handbooks) and training relevant to BEAM and the volunteer 
roles, so volunteers can be confident and impactful in their volunteering. 

Page 185



5 
 

• We will include our volunteers in all relevant communications. 
• In return we expect that volunteers will provide their time and help us to keep 

our venue, projects and activities on track.  
 

6.2 This policy is relevant for all current and potential volunteers, as well as every 
department head involved with selecting, supporting, developing volunteers, managing 
volunteer projects or promoting voluntary activity within BEAM. 

 
 
7.0 Recruitment of Volunteers 

7.1 All volunteering roles within BEAM will have a written Role Description - a clear, 
complete and current description of duties and responsibility of the role that they are 
expected to fill.  Prior to any volunteer assignment or recruitment effort, a Role 
Description must be developed.  This will be used as part of our recruitment process. 
Role Descriptions should be reviewed each time recruitment takes place and updated at 
least every two years or whenever the work involved in the role changes substantially. 

 
All Role Descriptions shall include a description of the purpose and duties for the role, a 
designated department head, volunteering location, hours and timing for the volunteering, 
and a list of required skills and experience. 

 
7.2 Opportunities to join the team as a volunteer will be advertised through BEAMS website, 

social media and in the venue. 
 

8.0 Selection of volunteers  
8.1 We have a fair and consistent process for selecting volunteers that is relevant and 

appropriate to each role.  
 

8.2 Our volunteering recruitment communications will use language that is accessible and 
easily understood, using various formats and messages to attract a diverse range of 
applicants.  

 
8.3 We will select volunteers according to the venues needs (detailed in Role Descriptions) 

and aim to match volunteers’ skills, knowledge, experience, motivation and availability 
to suitable projects and activities.  

 
8.4 Anyone being considered for a volunteer role will be invited for an informal interview 

with the Hospitality and Operations Manager or Department Head, who will explore their 
skills, experience, interests and suitability, as well as their motivation, with the aim of 
setting up teams that are best suited for the role.  

 
8.5 Reasonable adjustments may be made to the selection methods to suit the access 

requirements of applicants with disabilities.  
 

9.0 Equal opportunities and diversity  
9.1 BEAM recognises the importance of encouraging diversity and achieving equality among 

volunteers, as well as employees and audiences. Volunteers are actively encouraged 
from a wide cross-section of backgrounds and experiences to help ensure that BEAM’s 
various volunteering opportunities are accessible to an increasingly diverse range of 
people.  

Page 186



6 
 

 
9.2 BEAM values and respects the individual by providing equality of opportunity to all for 

active involvement subject to the scope of the organisation’s needs and resources.  
 
9.3 All staff, volunteers, contractors and partner organisations are expected to actively 

support BEAM’s commitment to diversity and equality.  
 
9.4 Acceptance of volunteer assistance for a particular role will be made on merit, the sole 

selection criterion being an individual’s suitability to carry out the specified task(s) 
subject to the needs and restrictions of the location, along with their availability in line 
with the needs of the volunteering opportunity.  

 
Reasonable adjustments will be considered for a volunteer with a disability in accordance 
with BEAM’s Equal Opportunities Policy. 
  

9.5 Volunteers are required to be over 18 years of age. 
 

9.6 BEAM has no upper age limit for volunteers, recognising the contribution made by older 
volunteers in terms of valuable knowledge and experience. However, BEAM would be 
irresponsible if it permitted volunteers to continue beyond a point where volunteering is 
detrimental to their own or other people’s health and safety.  

 
10.0 Basic Requirements to join as a volunteer  

10.1 All volunteers need to: 
• Show us identity documents (ideally photographic) to confirm their identity. 
• Provide us with their full contact details. 
• Provide us with emergency contact details. 
• Inform us about any access, support or health needs. 
• Agree to our Volunteer Agreement and relevant policies and practices. 
 

10.2 Volunteers will be expected to undertake a venue induction on site at BEAM which 
includes: 
• An introduction to BEAM 
• Our values, mission and strategy 
• Key Security and Health and Safety requirements 
• Venue Orientation  
 

10.3 Volunteers will need to complete the following core training: 
• Relevant Health and Safety 
• Security 
• Safeguarding 
• Role Specific e.g handheld payment and ticket scanning devices  

 
 

10.4 References  
Volunteers are required to provide us with two personal references.  References will 

be taken up after interview via email.  

Page 187



7 
 

 
 

11.0 New starters 
No new volunteers will be allowed to take up their role until the relevant vetting checks 
have been completed.  These would have been detailed in the Role Description.  

 
12.0 Induction, training and development  

12.1 New volunteers will be made to feel welcome and will be provided with an informal 
induction. As part of their induction to BEAM, volunteers will receive a copy of the 
volunteer handbook, containing essential information for all volunteers, together with 
material relevant to the specific role.  
 

12.2 Volunteers will be asked to attend training and undertake annual refresher training 
to meet relevant needs and any other training activities relevant to their specific 
volunteering activity. Training will be provided face to face and in some cases online.  

 

13.0 Support and supervision for volunteers 
13.1 BEAM respects volunteers by both listening to and learning from what they have to 

say, supporting a two-way dialogue between staff and volunteers.  
 

13.2 Department Heads are encouraged to discuss progress with their volunteers on a 
regular basis. This provides an opportunity to monitor their contribution, establish 
whether the volunteer would like to change their current contribution, and ensure that 
they feel valued and satisfied with their volunteering.  

 
13.3 Volunteers are free to end their involvement at any time. Wherever possible, an end 

date should be agreed between volunteer and Hospitality and Operations Manager 
/Department head. Exit interviews may be conducted to find out why a volunteer is leaving, 
share any learning points and establish whether the volunteer may want to be involved 
again in the future.  

 
 

14.0 Health and safety  
14.1 We are committed to ensuring the health, safety and welfare of our volunteers. We 

want to make sure that volunteers are aware of and understand the health and safety 
risks associated with their role. We aim to provide volunteers with the appropriate 
information, instruction, supervision and training required to provide a safe 
environment while volunteering at BEAM.  
 

14.2 Volunteers should at all times follow BEAM’s (East Herts District Councils) health and 
safety policies and procedures. Volunteers have a duty to take care of themselves and 
others who might be affected by their actions. Volunteers should not act outside their 
authorised area or work. Volunteers should report all accidents to their volunteer 
coordinator. 

 
 

Page 188



8 
 

 
15.0 Recognition and Benefits 

15.1  BEAM is committed to recognising the contribution our extensive volunteer 
community make to the venue and will develop a recognition and benefit offering to 
reflect their contribution. 
  

16.0 Insurance  
16.1 All volunteers engaged in BEAM’s activities are indemnified under East Herts District 

Councils public liability insurance.  
 

16.2 We will ensure that volunteers are covered for insurance purposes in respect of 
personal injury. The insurance will not cover unauthorised actions or actions outside the 
volunteering agreement and role guidance.  

 
17.0 Confidentiality and data 

 
17.1 Volunteers are likely to become aware of confidential information about the BEAM, 

East Herts District Council ,its staff, customers and suppliers. Volunteers should not 
disclose this information or use it for their own or another's benefit without the consent 
of the party concerned. This does not prevent disclosure once the information is in the 
public domain (unless it has been made public as a result of the volunteer's breach of 
confidentiality) or where the law permits or requires disclosure. 

 
17.2 Volunteers will be advised of the need for confidentiality and are required to sign a 

confidentiality agreement.  
 

17.3 Personal information recorded about volunteers will be stored electronically by the 
HR team and maintained with appropriate safeguards for confidentiality.  

 
 

18.0 Resolving problems  
18.1 BEAM aims to treat all volunteers fairly, objectively and consistently. The Hospitality 

and Operations Manager and Department Heads are responsible for handling any 
problems regarding volunteer conduct or complaints together and BEAM actively 
supports Staff by providing relevant training. They will seek to ensure that volunteers’ 
views are heard, noted and acted upon promptly and will aim for positive and amicable 
solutions. 

 
19.0 Leaving volunteers 

19.1  Whether a volunteer chooses to leave their volunteering or is asked to leave, BEAM 
will have appropriate procedures in place to ensure a volunteer’s departure is handled 
with care. 

 
20.0 BEAM Policies 

20.1  The following BEAM policies are applicable to volunteers:  
• Equality and Diversity Policy 
• Health and Safety Policy 

Page 189



9 
 

• Volunteering Policy 
 
There may be additional policies which apply to specific roles and these will be identified by 
the Staff Lead and included in any written guidance, induction and training delivered. 

Page 190


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - 6 February 2024
	6 Health and Safety Annual Report 2023/24
	East Herts Council Report
	Human Resources Committee
	Date of Meeting:
	Report by: Head of HR and Organisational Development
	Report title: Annual Health and Safety Report 2023/24
	April 2023 to March 2024
	Ward(s) affected:  N/A
	Summary
	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee:
	1.0	Proposal(s)
	2.0 	Background
	3.0 	Executive Summary (for the year) April 2023 – March 2024
	4.0 Safety Committee
	6.0 Annual Contract Management and Compliance
	6.2	Buntingford Service Centre
	11.0 Contract and Development Support for Leisure   Development Projects / Capital Programmes
	14.0 Options
	15.0 	Risks
	As stated in the report where health and safety risks have been identified appropriate assessment has been made with relevant controls or mitigation put in place.
	16.0 	Implications/Consultations
	Community Safety
	Data Protection
	Equalities
	Environmental Sustainability
	Financial
	Health and Safety
	Human Resources
	Human Rights
	Legal
	Specific Wards

	17.0 Background papers, appendices, and other relevant material
	Report Author		Peter Dickinson – Health and Safety Officer





	7 Employee Health and Wellbeing report 2023/24
	Date of Meeting:   5 June 2024
	Report by: Head of HR and Organisational Development
	Report title: Employee Health and Wellbeing report 2023/24
	Ward(s) affected:  N/A
	Summary
	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee:
	1.0 	Proposal(s)
	2.0 	Background
	3.0	Introduction
	4.0	Sickness Absence Levels
	9.0 Reason(s)
	10.0 Options
	11.0 Risks
	12.0 Implications/Consultations
	Community Safety
	Data Protection
	Equalities
	Environmental Sustainability
	Financial
	Health and Safety
	Human Resources
	Human Rights
	Legal
	Specific Wards

	13.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material
	Contact Officer  	Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager
	Report Authors		Claire Kirby, HR Officer




	8 Annual Turnover Report 23 - 24
	Human Resources Committee
	Date of Meeting:   5 June 2024
	Report by: HR Officer
	Report title: Annual Turnover Report 2023/2024
	Ward(s) affected:  N/A
	Summary
	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR Human Resources Committee:
	1.0 	Proposal(s)
	2.0	Background
	3.0	Summary
	4.0	Reasons for Leaving
	5.0	Stability Rate
	6.0	Voluntary turnover in each service area
	7.0	Exit Questionnaire analysis
	8.0	Vacancy rate
	9.0	Recruitment Costs
	10.0	Actions taken in 2023/24 to improve recruitment and retention
	11.0	Actions planned for 2023/24 to improve recruitment and retention
	12.0 Options
	13.0 Risks
	14.0 Implications/Consultations
	Community Safety
	Data Protection
	Equalities
	Environmental Sustainability
	Financial
	Health and Safety
	Human Resources
	Human Rights
	Legal
	Specific Wards

	15.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material
	Contact Officer
	Report Author




	9 Learning and Development Report 23 -24
	HR Committee
	Date of Meeting:   5 J	une 2024
	Report by:  HR Officer
	Report title: Learning and Development Review 2023/24
	Ward(s) affected:  None
	Summary
	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR:
	1.0 Proposal(s)
	2.0	Background
	5.0 	Risks
	6.0 	Implications/Consultations
	Community Safety
	Data Protection
	Equalities
	Environmental Sustainability
	Financial
	Health and Safety
	Yes as set out in this report and the report has been produced by HR with includes the H&S Officer
	Human Resources
	Human Rights
	Legal
	Specific Wards

	7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant material
	Contact Officer  	Alex Wanless, HR and OD Service Manager
	Alex.Wanless@eastherts.gov.uk
	Report Author		Emily Cordwell, HR Officer




	10 Human Resources Quarter Four Statistics 2023/24
	1.0	Proposal(s)
	2.0	Background
	3.0	Reason(s)
	4.0	Implications/Consultations
	Community Safety
	Data Protection
	Equalities
	Environmental Sustainability
	Financial
	Health and Safety
	Human Resources
	Human Rights
	Legal
	Specific Wards
	5.0	Background papers, appendices, and other relevant material
	Enc. 1 for HR Quarter 4 stats 23/24
	Accidents, Incidents and Near Misses

	Enc. 2 for HR Quarter 4 stats 23/24

	11 Flexible Working Policy Report
	Appendix 1 - Flexible Working Scheme
	1.0	Purpose
	2.0	Eligibility
	3.0	Principles
	4.0	The Business Need
	5.0	Flexible Working Options
	6.0	Process
	6.1	Considering the request
	6.2	Making the Decision
	6.3	Trial Periods
	6.4	Refusing the Request

	8.0	Appeal
	9.0	Policy Review and Amendment
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B


	12 General Leave Policy Report
	Appendix 1 - General Leave Policy
	East Herts Council
	Policy Statement
	Policy Statement No 7 (Issue No 2)
	December 2019 (updated April 2024, April 2019, December 2019, March 2020)


	1.0	Introduction
	2.0	Contractual Relationship during Absence
	3.0	Granting and Recording Leave
	4.0	Public Holidays
	5.0	Annual Leave
	6.0	Bereavement
	7.0	Dependency Leave and Carer's Leave
	8.0	Career Breaks
	9.0	Citizenship duties
	10.0	Union duties
	11.0	Training Courses and Day Release
	12.0	Examination & Study Leave
	13.0	Interviews in other Local Authorities
	14.0	Leave for Medical Reasons
	15.0	Time off for Religious observance
	16.0	Review


	13 Family Friendly Policy Report
	Appendix 1 - Family Friendly Policy
	EAST HERTS COUNCIL
	Policy Statement
	1.0	Introduction
	2.0	Who this policy applies to
	2.1	For Maternity/adoption leave and pay:
	2.2	For paternity leave and pay:

	3.0	Responsibilities
	3.2	Manager Responsibility
	3.2.1	All managers will be responsible for familiarising themselves with the contents of this policy so that they can provide guidance and support to their staff on maternity, paternity, adoption and parental leave and pay as their initial and main point of contact.
	3.2.2	All managers must view all applications with an open mind and follow a fair and justifiable decision-making process for all types of Family Leave including Maternity, Paternity, Adoption and Parental Leave without any undue delay.
	3.2.3	All managers must consider what training or support the employee may require to integrate them back into the workplace after a period of leave.
	3.3	Employee Responsibility

	4.0	Maternity
	4.1	Maternity Leave
	4.1.1	Employees are encouraged to tell their manager about their pregnancy as soon as they feel able to, especially if they are feeling unwell or work in an area that may put them at risk.
	4.2	Condition applying to Maternity Leave

	4.3	Maternity Pay
	4.3.1	The council operates two maternity pay schemes:
	Statutory Maternity Pay, which is a legal entitlement to a set weekly payment (providing employees meet the eligibility criteria set out below)
	Occupational Maternity Pay, which is an enhanced payment made by the council in accordance with their terms and conditions (eligibility for this payment depends on the criteria set out below).   Depending on the employee’s length of service, they may have entitlement under one or both of these schemes.
	Statutory Maternity Pay (SMP)

	4.4	Risk Assessment
	4.4.3	The Council will act to avoid harm to the employee and their child. For example, by considering altering the employee’s working conditions and hours (where operationally possible), offering suitable alternative employment (on existing salary) or placing the employee on special leave with full pay.

	4.5	Sickness Absence
	4.5.1	During pregnancy you will be entitled to sick pay in accordance with your terms and conditions of employment and the Council’s absence management policy.
	4.5.2	Occasional days of pregnancy related illness during this period may be disregarded for this purpose if they wish to continue working until the maternity leave date previously notified to their Manager.
	4.5.3	Sickness absence prior to the last 4 weeks before the expected week of childbirth, supported by a medical certificate of incapacity for work as pregnancy related shall be treated in accordance with the relevant section(s) of the Council’s Absence Management Policy. Pregnancy related absences will not be considered or contribute towards any triggers. Line managers will ensure the absence is clearly recorded as pregnancy related on My View.
	4.5.4	If you are unwell following your maternity leave, you will be entitled to sick pay in accordance with your terms and conditions of employment and the Council’s Absence Management Policy.
	4.6	Keeping in Touch (KIT) days
	4.8	Premature Birth
	4.8.1	Where your baby is born alive prematurely, you will be entitled to the same amount of maternity leave and pay as if your baby was born at full term.
	4.8.2	Where your baby is born before the 11th week before the expected week of childbirth and you have worked during the actual week of childbirth, maternity leave will start on the first day of your absence.
	4.8.3	Where your baby is born before the 11th week before the expected week of childbirth, and you have been absent from work on certified sickness absence during the actual week of childbirth, maternity leave will start the day after the day of birth.
	4.8.4	Where your baby is born before the 11th week before the expected week of childbirth and the baby is in hospital you may split your maternity leave entitlement, taking a minimum period of 2 weeks leave immediately after childbirth and the rest of your leave following your baby’s discharge from hospital.

	5	Paternity
	5.1	Paternity Leave
	5.1.1	Paternity leave is provided to enable employees to support a partner who has had a baby. This applies to the to the father of the child (including adoptive fathers), the mother’s spouse or partner (whether opposite or same sex) or nominated carer. It also applies to employees who:  - Are the secondary carer for an adopted child, at the time of adoption - Are fostering to adopt - Are adopting from abroad
	5.1.2	You may take a maximum of 2 weeks leave. To be eligible you must have continuous employment for 26 weeks ending with the 15th week prior to the EWC or the matching week (either the end of the week they are matched with the child for UK adoptions or the date the child enters the UK or when the employee wants their pay to start for overseas adoptions)
	5.1.3	You may commence your Paternity leave:  - in a block of either one or two weeks - within 52 weeks of the birth / adoption placement
	Statutory Paternity Pay (SSP)
	5.1.4	To qualify for SPP you must:
		Have continuous employment for 26 weeks ending with the 15th week prior to the EWC
	Occupational Paternity Pay (OPP)
	5.1.5	To qualify for OPP you must have 12 months continuous service at the beginning of the EWC.

	6	Adoption
	6.2   Statutory Adoption Pay (SAP)
	6.3	Occupational Adoption Pay (OAP)
	6.5	Placement Disrupted
	6.6	Returning to work after adoption leave
	6.7	Multiple Adoptions
	6.8	Surrogacy
	6.8.1	Surrogacy is when someone else carries and gives birth to a baby for the intended parents. If you use a surrogate, the surrogate will be the child’s legal parent at birth. You must apply to become the legal parent within 6 months of the child’s birth to get surrogacy rights, leave and pay. You must apply for:
	6.9	Fostering to Adopt

	7.0	Shared Parental Leave & Pay
	7.1	Shared Parental Leave Eligibility
	7.1.1	Shared Parental Leave (SPL) enables eligible mothers, fathers, partners and adopters to choose how to share time off work after their child is born or placed for adoption. This could involve returning to work for part of the time and then resuming leave at a later date. Shared parental leave is designed to give parents / adopters more flexibility in how to share the care of their child in the first year following birth or adoption. An eligible employee can share up to 50 weeks leave, and can decide to be off work at the same time and/or take it in turns to have periods of leave to look after the child.
	7.1.2	If you are eligible for statutory maternity leave and pay you may choose to switch part of your entitlement into shared parental leave (SPL) and pay (ShPP). The following section sets out the requirements for eligibility of both of the parents. This applies where both or only one parent is an employee of the Council.
	7.1.3	If you have given birth, you are required to take two-weeks compulsory maternity leave following the birth of your child regardless of if you would like to use Shared parental leave. If you are eligible, you can share the remaining leave and pay. The two-week period of new parent support leave will continue to be available to partners.
	7.1.4	You can choose to opt into shared parental leave at any time so long as there is some untaken maternity leave to share. Both SPL and shared parental pay must be taken before the child’s first birthday or within a year of adoption.
	7.1.5	To be eligible for SPL as the mother you must:
	7.1.7	If you are eligible, you may be entitled to take up to 50 weeks (52 weeks total minus 2 weeks compulsory leave for the mother) SPL during the child’s first year in your family. The number of weeks available is calculated using the mother’s/adopter’s entitlement to maternity/adoption leave, which allows them to take up to 52 weeks’ leave. You may choose how you want to take the leave. This could be taking it in turns or taking time off together, however you must not take more than 50 weeks in total.
	7.1.8	Shared parental leave only becomes available once the mother has given notice to end her entitlement to maternity /adoption leave. Once a mother has ended her right to maternity leave she cannot reinstate that right and will be bound by the decision to take shared parental leave.
	7.1.9	The leave can be taken separately or at the same time, subject to the following requirements:
	7.2.3	The parents may vary the amount of shared parental leave they intend to take by giving written notice to their employers. There is no limit on the number of times the parents may make a variation to a notice of entitlement to shared parental leave, so long as this is done before the 8 weeks notice has been given. If you request one period of continuous shared parental leave, you are entitled to take that period of leave. If you are considering taking your shared parental leave in multiple blocks, a conversation needs to take place with your line manager to agree how this will work.
	7.6	Shared Parental Leave in Touch (SPLIT) Days

	8.0	Fertility Treatment
	9.0	Antenatal and Postnatal Care
	9.1	Antenatal Care
	9.2	Postnatal Care
	9.3	Parental Leave
	9.3.1	There is a right for both parents to take up to 18 weeks unpaid parental leave per parent per child, up until your child’s 18th birthday.  This leave is also available to parents who adopt a baby/child.
	9.3.2	Employees must have more than one year’s continuous service in local government and must either be the parent of the child, named on the child's birth/adoption certificate or have legal parental responsibility for the child.
	9.3.3	The council will endeavour to make parental leave available to those with parental responsibilities but who do not fall under the legal definition.  This might include foster parents, adoptive parents prior to placement, grandparents with a significant parenting role and stepparents. Cases will be considered on an individual basis, employees should contact HR for more information.
	9.3.4	Employees can take parental leave at the end of maternity/adoption/shared parental leave providing they give 21 days’ notice.
	9.3.5	To apply for parental leave employees should write to their Head of Service who will forward the request to Human Resources and take advice.  Employees must give 21 days’ notice before their intended start date.
	9.3.6	The limit on how much parental leave can be taken a year is 4 weeks. Unless the child is disabled, leave should be taken in blocks of one week. A ‘week’ equals the length of time an employee normally works in a week.
	9.3.7	Managers cannot turn down a request for parental leave, but can ask employees to postpone it if it would cause significant disruption to the business, e.g. if leave was requested:

	10.0	General
	10.1	Entitlements
	10.1.1	An employee returning to local government following a break for maternity, paternity or adoption reasons will be entitled to have previous service recognised for the purpose of calculating:
	10.2	Annual leave
	10.2.1	The entitlement to annual leave continues to accrue whilst on maternity /adoption / paternity leave.  Where the leave period straddles two annual leave years, annual leave accrued up to the end of the first leave year should be taken before the commencement of the leave period in order that it is not lost.
	10.2.2	An employee requesting to return to work on a part-time contract will normally take all annual leave accrued on the full-time contract before the new working arrangements commence.
	10.2.3	Employees are entitled to paid leave for each of the bank holidays that fall during their maternity / adoption leave and these should be taken upon their return to work.
	10.3	Pension
	10.3.1	An employee who is a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) will continue to pay contributions; however, this will be based on the employee’s individual contribution rate of their actual earnings during maternity / adoption leave.
	10.3.2	An employee wishing to maintain their contributions or make contribution during the unpaid period of maternity / adoption leave must contact Payroll before their leave commences.
	10.3.3	For further guidance contact Payroll or the London Pensions Fund Authority (LPFA).  An employee with a private pension should contact their pension provider for guidance.
	10.4	Council Vehicles
	10.6	Council Property
	10.6.1	An employee will not be required to return items such as a mobile phone, laptop, security cards or uniforms throughout maternity /adoption/ parental leave.

	11.0	Rights upon return to work
	11.1	An employee has the right to return to the job in which they were employed under their original contract of employment and terms and conditions not less favourable than those, which would have been applicable to them if they had not been absent.  Where this is not practicable by reason of redundancy, an employee will be entitled to be offered suitable alternative employment where one exists.
	11.2	Suitable alternative employment may also be offered in exceptional circumstances other than redundancy (e.g. a general re-organisation), which would have occurred if the employee were not absent.
	11.3	The work to be done should be suitable to the employee and appropriate to the circumstances.  The capacity and place in which the employee is to be employed and the terms and conditions of employment should not be less favourable to the employee if the employee had been able to return to the job in which they were originally employed.




	14 Redundancy Policy Report
	Appendix 1 - Redundancy Policy (6.3)
	East Herts Council
	Policy Statement
	Policy Statement 6 (Issue No 3)
	July 2012 (updated April 2024� Minor updates made to reflect pay and terms and conditions changes agreed through collective bargaining in March 2019, this policy applies to situations which arise from 1 April 2019 onwards.2 Updated in April 2024 to reintroduce 10.9 2)


	1.0	Purpose
	2.0	Principles
	4.0	     Measures to reduce compulsory redundancies
	5.0	Exploring Options
	8.0	    Voluntary Redundancy
	10.0	Redundancy Payment Calculation
	10.1	Employees must have 2 years continuous service with East Herts Council to qualify for a redundancy payment.
	10.2	In calculating entitlement to, and the amount of, redundancy payment the Council must count all continuous local government service (and with other specified bodies) up to a maximum of 20 years.
	10.5	BIS use the following figures in their Statutory Redundancy Reckoner table:-
	12.0	     Suitable Alternative
	18.0	Policy Review and Amendment


	15 Volunteering Policy Report
	Appendix 1 - BEAM Volunteering Policy


